

Copyright Undertaking

This thesis is protected by copyright, with all rights reserved.

By reading and using the thesis, the reader understands and agrees to the following terms:

- 1. The reader will abide by the rules and legal ordinances governing copyright regarding the use of the thesis.
- 2. The reader will use the thesis for the purpose of research or private study only and not for distribution or further reproduction or any other purpose.
- 3. The reader agrees to indemnify and hold the University harmless from and against any loss, damage, cost, liability or expenses arising from copyright infringement or unauthorized usage.

IMPORTANT

If you have reasons to believe that any materials in this thesis are deemed not suitable to be distributed in this form, or a copyright owner having difficulty with the material being included in our database, please contact lbsys@polyu.edu.hk providing details. The Library will look into your claim and consider taking remedial action upon receipt of the written requests.

Pao Yue-kong Library, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hung Hom, Kowloon, Hong Kong

http://www.lib.polyu.edu.hk

MODELING THE EFFECT OF WEIGHT STIGMA ON WEIGHT MANAGEMENT BEHAVIORS AND PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS AMONG YOUNG ADULTS: A PROSPECTIVE STUDY

FUNG CHEUK CHIN

PhD

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

2025

The Hong Kong Polytechnic University

Department of Rehabilitation Sciences

Modeling the effect of weight stigma on weight management behaviors and psychological distress among young adults: A prospective study

FUNG Cheuk Chin

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of

Philosophy

August 2024

CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby declare that this thesis is my own work and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, it reproduces no material previously published or written, nor material that has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma, except where due acknowledgement has been made in the text.

FUNG Cheuk Chin

ABSTRACT

Overweight and obesity are significant global public health concerns. There are various psychosocial factors associated with these weight-related issues and how individuals manage their weight. One crucial factor is weight-related stigma, which refers to the devaluation and discrimination experienced due to body weight and is pervasive. Numerous researchers have raised concerns that weight stigma can lead to adverse health outcomes and exacerbate weight problems in a detrimental cycle. Nevertheless, there is a lack of empirical evidence to support these theories on whether weight stigma perpetuates problems in health and well-being. This thesis proposes that weight stigma, psychological distress, physical activity (PA), eating behaviors, and weight changes are interconnected, and weight stigma and weight changes potentially result in a feedback loop.

This thesis consists of three studies. Applying the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) model, two cross-sectional studies (Studies 1 and 2) investigated how weight-related selfstigma (WRSS) could influence PA and eating behaviors. Additionally, a one-year longitudinal study (Study 3) examined how stigma is linked to changes in body mass index (BMI), with an emphasis on the growth trajectories and the interplay of these trajectories over time. Study 3 further examined how WRSS and BMI can predict changes in each other across time points. All participants were young adults. There were 325 and 348 participants in Studies 1 and 2. Study 3 had 345 participants in Time 1 and was able to retain 232 to 251 participants in the subsequent time points. Participants completed self-reported standardized questionnaires. Structural equation modeling, parallel process latent growth curve modeling, and random intercept cross-lagged panel model were used in this thesis.

Study 1 indicated that WRSS significantly affected perceived behavioral control on PA (PBC-PA), intentions, and PA engagement, especially in overweight individuals. Study 2 showed that WRSS reduced perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors (PBC-

EB) and increased uncontrolled and emotional eating. Study 3 further found that individuals with high WRSS exhibited higher BMI, perceived weight stigma, psychological distress, and eating behaviors compared to the low WRSS group. Furthermore, the high WRSS group had consistently lower PBC-PA and PBC-EB. Temporal relationships were only found in the associations among perceived weight stigma and WRSS, WRSS and psychological distress, PBC-PA and psychological distress, and WRSS and PBC-EB. In sum, the growth trajectories of the variables were not associated with BMI changes, but WRSS was negatively associated with subsequent BMI in another analysis.

This thesis consistently demonstrated the adverse effects of WRSS on individuals' PA and eating behaviors. The proposed models indicated that PBC was the primary variable affected by WRSS, which may hinder engagement in PA and avoiding unhealthy eating practices. Furthermore, the relationship between WRSS and reduced PBC was significant in individuals who were overweight or not. Additionally, the research identified temporal associations between WRSS, perceived behavioral control, and psychological distress. However, the thesis did not find strong evidence to support the hypothesized feedback loop between WRSS and BMI. Further research is required to better understand whether weight stigma can be influenced by weight change.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS DURING THE COURSE OF STUDY

Thesis-Related Publications

- Fung, X. C. C., Pakpour, A. H., Wu, Y.-K., Fan, C.-W., Lin, C.-Y., & Tsang, H. W. H. (2020). Psychosocial variables related to weight-related self-stigma in physical activity among young adults across weight status. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(1), 64. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010064</u>
- Fung, X. C. C., Siu, A. M. H., Lin, C.-Y., Ko, P.-J., Lin, I.-C., Chen, J.-S., & Lau, B. W. M. (2024). Weight stigma and eating behaviors in young adults across weight status. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 48(3), 628–640.

https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6

- Fung, X. C. C., Siu, A. M. H., Potenza, M. N., O'Brien, K. S., Latner, J. D., Chen, C.-Y., Chen, I.-H., & Lin, C.-Y. (2021). Problematic use of internet-related activities and perceived weight stigma in schoolchildren: A longitudinal study across different epidemic periods of COVID-19 in China. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *12*, 675839. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.675839</u>
- Kamolthip, R., <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>, Lin, C.-Y., Latner, J. D., & O'Brien, K. S. (2021).
 Relationships among physical activity, health-related quality of life, and weight stigma in children in Hong Kong. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 45(5), 828–842.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.45.5.3</u>
- Kamolthip, R., Saffari, M., <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>, O'Brien, K. S., Chang, Y.-L., Lin, Y.-C., Lin, C.-Y., Chen, J.-S., & Latner, J. D. (2022). The mediation effect of perceived weight stigma in association between weight status and eating disturbances among university students: Is there any gender difference? *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 10(1), 28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-022-00552-7</u>

- Pakpour, A. H., Tsai, M.-C., Lin, Y.-C., Strong, C., Latner, J. D., Fung, X. C. C., Lin, C.-Y., & Tsang, H. W. H. (2019). Psychometric properties and measurement invariance of the Weight Self-Stigma Questionnaire and Weight Bias Internalization Scale in children and adolescents. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, *19*(2), 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijchp.2019.03.001
- Saffari, M., Chen, J.-S., Wu, H.-C., <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>, Chang, C.-C., Chang, Y.-L., Kamolthip,
 R., Potenza, M. N., Lin, I.-C., & Lin, C.-Y. (2022). Effects of weight-related self-stigma and smartphone addiction on female university students' physical activity levels. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(5), 2631. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19052631
- Wong, P. C., Hsieh, Y.-P., Ng, H. H., Kong, S. F., Chan, K. L., Au, T. Y. A., Lin, C.-Y., & <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u> (2019). Investigating the self-stigma and quality of life for overweight/obese children in Hong Kong: A preliminary study. *Child Indicators Research*, 12(3), 1065–1082. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-018-9573-0

Non-Thesis-Related Publications

- Bevan, N., O'Brien, K. S., Latner, J. D., Lin, C.-Y., Vandenberg, B., Jeanes, R., & <u>Fung, X.</u>
 <u>C. C.</u> (2022). Weight stigma and avoidance of physical activity and sport:
 Development of a scale and establishment of correlates. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(23), Article 23.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192316370</u>
- Chen, C.-Y., Lee, K.-Y., <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>, Chen, J.-K., Lai, Y.-C., Potenza, M., Chang, K.-C., Fang, C.-Y., Pakpour, A., & Lin, C.-Y. (2024). Problematic use of internet associates with poor quality of life via psychological distress in individuals with ADHD.

Psychology Research and Behavior Management, Volume 17, 443–455. https://doi.org/10.2147/PRBM.S449369

- Chen, Y.-J., Kukreti, S., Yang, H.-L., Liu, C.-C., Yeh, Y.-C., Fung, X. C. C., Liu, C.-H., Liu, L.-F., Griffiths, M. D., Yang, Y.-C., & Lin, C.-Y. (2023). Psychometric properties of instruments assessing intrinsic capacity: A systematic review. *Asian Journal of Social Health and Behavior*, 6(4), 141–155. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/shb.shb_343_23</u>
- Cheung, P., & <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>* (2020). A review on the case studies of using the model of human occupation. *Social Health and Behavior*, *3*(1), 3–9.

https://doi.org/10.4103/SHB.SHB_49_19

- Fan, C.-W., Chang, Y.-L., Huang, P.-C., Fung, X. C. C., Chen, J.-K., Bevan, N., O'Brien, K. S., Yeh, Y.-C., Chen, H.-P., Chen, I.-H., Lin, I.-C., Griffiths, M. D., & Lin, C.-Y. (2023). The tendency to avoid physical activity and sport scale (TAPAS): Rasch analysis with differential item functioning testing among a Chinese sample. *BMC Psychology*, *11*(1), 369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-023-01377-y</u>
- Fan, C.-W., Huang, P.-C., Chen, I.-H., Huang, Y.-T., Chen, J.-S., <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>, Chen, J.-K., Yang, Y.-N., O'Brien, K. S., Lin, C.-Y., & Griffiths, M. D. (2023). Differential item functioning for the Tendency of Avoiding Physical Activity and Sport Scale across two subculture samples: Taiwanese and mainland Chinese university students. *Heliyon*, 9(12), e22583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2023.e22583</u>
- Fung, X. C. C., Chang, K.-C., Chang, C.-C., & Lin, C.-Y. (2022). Stigma and quality of life in substance users: Methods and applications. In V. B. Patel & V. R. Preedy (Eds.), *Handbook of Substance Misuse and Addictions* (pp. 1–36). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-67928-6_179-1</u>
- Kwok, C., Leung, P. Y., Poon, K. Y., & <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>* (2021). The effects of internet gaming and social media use on physical activity, sleep, quality of life, and academic

performance among university students in Hong Kong: A preliminary study. *Asian Journal of Social Health and Behavior*, *4*(1), 36–44.

https://doi.org/10.4103/shb.shb_81_20

- Lee, K.-Y., Chen, C.-Y., Chen, J.-K., Liu, C.-C., Chang, K.-C., Fung, X. C. C., Chen, J.-S., Kao, Y.-C., Potenza, M. N., Pakpour, A. H., & Lin, C.-Y. (2023). Exploring mediational roles for self-stigma in associations between types of problematic use of internet and psychological distress in youth with ADHD. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, *133*, 104410. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ridd.2022.104410</u>
- Lin, C.-Y., Imani, V., Broström, A., Nilsen, P., <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>, Griffiths, M. D., & Pakpour,
 A. H. (2019). Smartphone application-based addiction among Iranian adolescents: A psychometric study. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 17(4), 765–780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11469-018-0026-2</u>
- Lin, Y.-C., Chen, J.-S., Bevan, N., O'Brien, K. S., Strong, C., Tsai, M.-C., <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u>, Chen, J.-K., Lin, I.-C., Latner, J. D., & Lin, C.-Y. (2024). Chinese version of the Tendency to Avoid Physical Activity and Sport (TAPAS) scale: Testing unidimensionality, measurement invariance, concurrent validity, and known-group validity among Taiwanese youths. *BMC Psychology*, *12*(1), 381. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-024-01870-y
- Lin, Y.-C., Fung, X. C. C., Tsai, M.-C., Strong, C., Hsieh, Y.-P., & Lin, C.-Y. (2019). Insufficient physical activity and overweight: Does caregiver screen-viewing matter? *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 28(1), 286–297. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1247-5</u>

LIST OF CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS DURING THE COURSE OF STUDY

Thesis-Related Presentation

Fung, X. C. C., Siu, A. M. H., Lin, C.-Y., Yang, Y.-N., Lau, B. W. M. (2023, November). Psychosocial variables related to weight–related self–stigma in eating disturbances among young adults across weight status. 13th Pan-Pacific Conference on Rehabilitation, Chiang Mai, Thailand. (Poster).

Non-Thesis-Related Presentation

- Fung, X. C. C., & Lin, C.-Y. (2019, September). A review on the case studies of using the Model of Human Occupation. *The Sixth International Institute on Kielhofner's Model of Human Occupation*, Chicago, IL (Poster).
- Fung, X. C. C., & Lin, C.-Y. (2018, November). Child-parent agreement on quality of life of overweight children: Discrepancies between raters. 11th Pan-Pacific Conference on Rehabilitation, Hong Kong. (Poster).
- Lin, C.-Y., & <u>Fung, X. C. C.</u> (2018, November). The impact of environmental support on health for children with hearing impairment in Taiwan. *11th Pan-Pacific Conference on Rehabilitation*, Hong Kong, November 17-18, 2018. (Oral).
- Lin Y.-C., <u>Fung X. C. C.</u>, Tsai M.-C., Strong C., Hsieh Y.-P., Lin C.-Y. (2018, November). The link between children undertaking insufficient physical activity and obesity: Do the screen-viewing habits of caregivers matter? *11th Pan-Pacific Conference on Rehabilitation*, Hong Kong (Oral).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to all my supervisors, Dr. Benson Lau, Dr. Andrew Siu, and Dr. Chung-Ying Lin, for their invaluable guidance, support, and feedback throughout the course of my research. I am sincerely thankful for the time and effort you have dedicated to mentoring me.

"It is not easy to study for a PhD... You may feel lonely during the PhD program..." one of my supervisors said when I enrolled in the program. Indeed, there were countless times I felt so, and sometimes, I might unintentionally isolate myself and get into a dead end. However, my supervisors pull me out most of the time. You cared about my progress and sometimes urged me to graduate. I appreciate your patience (which may have already reached the limit) with my stubbornness. I am glad that I had the opportunity to meet with you, and it feels like it is way more important than having a PhD in my life (but still getting the PhD is important...). Once again, I express my gratitude to you all.

I am also profoundly grateful to my wife, Ruby, whose patience, love, and understanding have been a constant source of strength. Your support during the highs and lows of this journey has meant the world to me, and this thesis would not have been possible without your belief in me. My upbringing had its own challenges, but you have helped me discover the joy and fulfillment of creating a loving and supportive family together. Thank you for giving me the experience of what it means to have a real, loving family. By the way, I understand you won't read the entire thesis, so this is where you can stop reading.

xi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTiv
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS DURING THE COURSE OF STUDYvi
Thesis-Related Publicationsvi
Non-Thesis-Related Publications vii
LIST OF CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS DURING THE COURSE OF STUDYx
Thesis-Related Presentationx
Non-Thesis-Related Presentationx
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS xii
LIST OF FIGURESxvi
LIST OF TABLES xvii
LIST OF APPENDICES
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxix
Chapter 1 Introduction
Chapter 2 Literature Review
2.1. Overweight and Obesity as a Health Concern in Young Adults
2.2. Behavioral Weight Management
2.2.1. Physical Activity
2.2.2. Eating
2.3. Weight Stigma and its Consequences
2.3.1. Weight Stigma's Relationship with Physical and Mental Health7
2.3.2. Weight Stigma and Weight Management: A Vicious Cycle
2.3.3. Literature Gap in the Vicious Cycle Model of Weight Stigma9
2.4. Objectives

Chapter 3 Psychosocial Variables Related to Weight-Related Self-Stigma in Physical	
Activity Across Weight Status	13
3.1. Background	13
3.1.1. The TPB and Physical Activity	13
3.1.2. The TPB and WRSS	14
3.2. Methods	15
3.2.1. Participants and Procedures	15
3.2.2. Measures	16
3.2.3. Data Analysis	18
3.3. Results	20
3.3.1. Model Fit of the Physical Activity Model	23
3.3.2. χ^2 Difference Test	24
3.4. Discussion	25
Chapter 4 Weight Stigma and Eating Behaviors in Young Adults Across Weight Status	29
4.1. Background	29
4.1.1. Eating Behaviors	29
4.1.2. The TPB and Eating Behaviors	30
4.1.3. The TPB and WRSS in Understanding Eating Behaviors	32
4.2. Methods	34
4.2.1. Participants and Procedures	34
4.2.2. Measures	35
4.2.3. Data Analysis	38
4.3. Results	39
4.3.1. Model Fit of the Three Eating Behavior Models	44
4.3.2. χ^2 Difference Test	45

4.4. Discussion	49
Chapter 5 The Longitudinal Relationship Between Weight Stigma, Psychological Di	istress,
and Weight Management Behaviors	54
5.1. Background	54
5.2. Methods	56
5.2.1. Participants and Procedures	56
5.2.2. Measures	58
5.2.3. Data analysis	60
5.3. Results	62
5.3.1. Descriptive Statistics	62
5.3.2. Differences between Low and High WRSS groups	74
5.3.3. Model Fit of the PP-LGCM for PA	84
5.3.4. Model Fit of the PP-LGCM for the Three Eating Behaviors	87
5.3.5. Model Fit of the RI-CLPM on the Relationship Between WRSS and BM	I95
5.4. Discussion	96
5.4.1. Temporal Associations Between PWS and WRSS	97
5.4.2. Temporal Associations Between WRSS and Psychological Distress	98
5.4.3. Temporal Associations Between WRSS and PBC	98
5.4.4. Insignificance of the Bidirectional Association Between WRSS and BMI	
5.4.5. Limitations	102
Chapter 6 General Discussion and Conclusion	104
6.1. Key Findings From Chapter 3	104
6.2. Key Findings From Chapter 4	105
6.3. Key Findings From Chapter 5	105
6.4. Implications and Significance	

6.4.1. Theoretical Consideration	106
6.4.2. Situation on Weight Stigma in Hong Kong	
6.4.3. Social Interaction in Daily Life and the Digital Era	
6.4.4. Public Health Policy and Education	
6.4.5. Clinical Practice and Interventions	110
6.5. Future Direction	112
6.6. Conclusion	112
APPENDICES	114
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1 THE PROPOSED MODEL OF WEIGHT STIGMA CYCLE
FIGURE 2 THE THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR MODEL INCORPORATED
WEIGHT-RELATED SELF-STIGMA ON PHYSICAL ACTIVITY WITH THE
RESULTS OF MULTIPLE GROUP ANALYSIS
FIGURE 3 THE CONCEPTUAL MODEL OF THE THEORY OF PLANNED BAHAVIOR
MODEL INCORPORATED WEIGHT-RELATED SELF-STIGMA ON EATING
BEHAVIORS AVOIDANCE
FIGURE 4 MULTIPLE GROUP ANALYSIS OF THE TPB MODEL INCORPORATED
WITH WRSS ON COGNITIVE RESTRAINT46
FIGURE 5 MULTIPLE GROUP ANALYSIS OF THE TPB MODEL INCORPORATED
WITH WRSS ON UNCONTROLLED EATING47
FIGURE 6 MULTIPLE GROUP ANALYSIS OF THE TPB MODEL INCORPORATED
WITH WRSS ON EMOTIONAL EATING
FIGURE 7 THE EXPANDED CONCEPTUAL MODEL OF WEIGHT STIGMA PROCESS 56
FIGURE 8 DIFFERENCES BETWEEN LOW AND HIGH WRSS GROUPS OVER TIME .75
FIGURE 9 THE PP-LGCM FOR PHYSICAL ACTIVITY
FIGURE 10 THE PP-LGCM FOR COGNITIVE RESTRAINT
FIGURE 11 THE PP-LGCM FOR UNCONTROLLED EATING
FIGURE 12 THE PP-LGCM FOR EMOTIONAL EATING
FIGURE 13 THE RI-CLPM ON THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN WRSS AND BMI96
FIGURE 14 THE REVISED CONCEPTUAL MODEL OF WEIGHT STIGMA PROCESS.106

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1 DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AMONG PARTICIPANTS
TABLE 2 CORRELATION MATRIX AMONG THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR
FACTORS, WEIGHT-RELATED SELF-STIGMA, AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY .23
TABLE 3 PATH INVARIANCE OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY MODEL ACROSS WEIGHT
GROUPS (NON-OVERWEIGHT VS. OVERWEIGHT)25
TABLE 4 DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AMONG PARTICIPANTS41
TABLE 5 CORRELATION MATRIX AMONG WEIGHT-RELATED SELF-STIGMA AND
THE THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR FACTORS ON EATING BEHAVIORS
TABLE 6 DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION AND DESCRIPTIVE STATISTICS OF THE
QUESTIONNAIRES OF THE PARTICIPANTS ACROSS THE TIME64
TABLE 7 CORRELATION BETWEEN PERCEIVED WEIGHT STIGMA, WEIGHT-
RELATED SELF-STIGMA, PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS, PERCEIVED
BEHAVIORAL CONTROL FOR PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, AND PHYSICAL
<i>ACTIVITY</i>
TABLE 8 CORRELATION BETWEEN PERCEIVED WEIGHT STIGMA, WEIGHT-
RELATED SELF-STIGMA, PSYCHOLOGICAL DISTRESS, PERCEIVED
BEHAVIORAL CONTROL FOR AVOIDING EATING BEHAVIORS, AND THE
THREE EATING BEHAVIORS70
TABLE 9 RESULTS OF THE RM-ANCOVA ON THE STUDIED VARIABLES BETWEEN
LOW AND HIGH WRSS GROUPS76

LIST OF APPENDICES

APPENDIX A. THE ETHICAL APPROVAL DOCUMENTS
APPENDIX B. CHINESE VERSION OF THE WEIGHT BIAS INTERNALIZATION
SCALE (WBIS)116
APPENDIX C. CHINESE VERSION OF PERCEIVED WEIGHT STIGMA SCALE
(PWSS)117
APPENDIX D. THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR MEASURES FOR PHYSICAL
ACTIVITY IN CHINESE118
APPENDIX E. THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR MEASURES FOR AVOIDING
EATING BEHAVIORS IN CHINESE119

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- BMI = body mass index
- CFI = comparative fit index
- FIML = full information maximum likelihood
- HADS = Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale
- IPAQ = International Physical Activity Questionnaire
- MLR = maximum likelihood estimation with robust standard errors
- PA = physical activity
- PBC-EB = perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors
- PBC-PA = perceived behavioral control for physical activity
- PP-LGCM = parallel-process latent growth curve model
- PWS = perceived weight stigma
- PWSS = Perceived Weight Stigma Scale
- RI-CLPM = random intercept cross-lagged panel model
- RM-ANCOVA = repeated measures analysis of covariance
- RMSEA = root mean square error of approximation
- SEM = structural equation modeling
- SRMR = standardized root mean square residual
- TFEQ-R18 = Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire-R18
- TLI = Tucker-Lewis index
- TPB = Theory of Planned Behaviors
- WBIS = Weight Bias Internalization Scale
- WRSS = weight-related self-stigma

Chapter 1 Introduction

Over the past few decades, overweight or obesity (hereafter overweight and obesity indicate the same meaning of having excess weight) has become a global public health issue. When the general public considers weight issues, they often focus on the physiological and physical health aspect (Stewart, 2018). However, there are a number of psychosocial variables that are linked to obesity and how people manage their weight. One important variable is weight stigma. Stigma is the "spoiled social identity," indicating social disapproval (Bos et al., 2013; Goffman, 1963). Weight stigma, which refers to the devaluation and discrimination based on body weight, is one of the most pervasive stigmas in society (Tomiyama et al., 2018). Weight stigma is prevalent, including in employment settings and even clinical settings (Puhl et al., 2021; Tomiyama et al., 2018). Some perspectives regarded weight stigma as a way to remind people to control weight, and it could be used as an approach to promote public health (Callahan, 2013a, 2013b). However, many other researchers raised concerns that weight stigma caused adverse health outcomes and subsequently exacerbated the weight problem in a vicious cycle (Major et al., 2018; Tomiyama, 2014). Nevertheless, there is a lack of empirical data to examine whether weight stigma would lead to perpetual problems in health and well-being. This thesis theorizes that weight stigma, psychological distress, weight management behaviors, and weight changes are linked, and a vicious cycle exists among these variables.

This thesis contains several studies to examine the following objectives:

- 1. To examine how weight-related self-stigma is associated with physical activity.
- 2. To examine how weight-related self-stigma is associated with eating behaviors.
- 3. To examine the interplay between perceived weight stigma, weight-related selfstigma, psychological distress, physical activity, and eating behaviors in a longitudinal study

1

4. To examine the bidirectional relationship between weight-related self-stigma and weight change in a longitudinal study.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

2.1. Overweight and Obesity as a Health Concern in Young Adults

The issue of overweight and obesity is a significant global health concern. Research covering 188 countries revealed that more than one-third of adults were overweight or obese (Ng et al., 2014). According to the findings of the latest Population Health Survey carried out by the Government between 2020 and 2022, 32.6% of Hong Kong's adult population were categorized as obese, with an additional 22.0% classified as overweight. (Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health, 2023b). This represents a noteworthy increase in the prevalence of overweight and obesity compared to 2004, when the obesity rate stood at 21.0% and the overweight rate was 17.8% among Hong Kong's adult residents. (Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health & Department of Community Medicine, University of Hong Kong, 2005). These statistics reveal a significant public health challenge related to overweight and obesity among Hong Kong's adult population. Studies indicated that individuals who are obese or overweight have a higher chance of developing cardiovascular disease and have a lower quality of life (Reilly et al., 2003; P. C. Wong et al., 2019). Being overweight in young adulthood was associated with increased blood pressure and mortality in middle age (Carslake et al., 2016; Xie et al., 2016). Young adulthood is an important stage for people to consolidate their self-concept and to develop health maintenance behavior and a healthy lifestyle. Primary health care often seeks to raise awareness among young adults about the importance of weight management behaviors that tackle weight-related health issues.

2.2. Behavioral Weight Management

There are two major approaches to behavioral weight management - physical activity and eating. A review suggested that interventions targeting physical activity and diet were effective for the short-term, however, weight gain usually occurred in long-term follow-up (Turk et al., 2009). For instance, participants in lifestyle modification programs, i.e., modified diet and physical activity, usually show successful weight loss. Regrettably, participants regained approximately one-third of their lost weight within one year, and fifty percent of the participants returned to their baseline weight after five years (Wadden et al., 2004). When compared to older adults, young adults maintained their weight loss for a shorter period (LaRose et al., 2013). Furthermore, better appearance and social relationships were the motivations for young adults to lose weight (LaRose et al., 2013). Stewart (2018) indicated that weight management behaviors based on these motivations were difficult to sustain. Indeed, the appearance and social concerns of young adults imply the problem of weight stigma. Hence, investigation from the psychosocial perspective is valuable for weight-related health (Stewart, 2018).

2.2.1. Physical Activity

Physical activity is an essential behavioral factor in healthy weight management (World Health Organization, 2020a). For adults, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommends at least 150 min of moderately intense aerobic physical activity per week to maintain health, including a healthier body mass (World Health Organization, 2011). Moreover, low levels of physical activity lead to weight gain (Y.-C. Lin et al., 2019). About 30% of people worldwide do not get adequate physical activity, and this incidence is higher in high-income countries (Guthold et al., 2018). A significant portion of Hong Kong's adult population falls short in meeting recommended physical activity levels. According to a survey, 34% of adults in Hong Kong reported that they had seldom or never exercised over the past six months. (Hong Kong Institute of Asia-Pacific Studies at CUHK, 2016). According to the Government's latest Population Health Survey 2020-22, a quarter of adults did not meet the recommended physical activity level (Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health, 2023a). Furthermore, another study conducted in 2021 showed that more than 70% of Hong Kong young adults (aged from 18 to 29) participated in physical activity leves than 2.5 hours per week, which is an

inadequate level (Hung et al., 2024). In addition, a survey indicated that only 16.79% of individuals in the obesity group had active physical activity, while those in the non-overweight group had 29.01% (M. Chen et al., 2022). Taken together, addressing the problem of insufficient physical activity is essential for the people in Hong Kong to improve their weight management.

2.2.2. Eating

Eating is another crucial behavioral factor in healthy weight management (World Health Organization, 2020a). According to the World Health Organization, healthy eating consists of eating enough fruit and vegetables (at least 400 g per day), low intake of fats (less than 30% per day), sugars (less than 10% per day), and salt (less than 5 g per day) (World Health Organization, 2020b). Eating unhealthy foods, such as foods that are energy-dense or high-fat, leads to weight gain (Wu et al., 2019). Moreover, eating disinhibition positively associated with weight gain and reduced weight loss effort (Bryant et al., 2010, 2012). As for the diet, Imamura et al. (2015) found that although the diet quality was improved worldwide, the increment of unhealthy eating behaviors was more than the healthy behaviors. Similar phenomena can be observed in Hong Kong. For example, nearly 40% of Hong Kong people do not have daily fruit consumption, and 46.5% eat processed meat (which has high amount of salt) weekly (Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health, 2017). A survey indicated that 16.09% of individuals in obesity group had unhealthy high-fat food consumption, while non-overweight had 8.09% only (M. Chen et al., 2022). Eating behaviors (EB), conceptualized as the behaviors of cognitive restraint, emotional eating, and uncontrolled eating (Halali et al., 2020), are linked to weight gain and diminished efforts in weight loss (Bryant et al., 2019; Halali et al., 2020). Particularly, concerns have been raised regarding eating behaviors in Hong Kong young adults (Cheng et al., 2018; Sheffield et al., 2005). For example, a study revealed that emotional eating was prevalent among 14.8% of female and 4.5% of male university

students in Hong Kong (Sze et al., 2021). Furthermore, 26.5% of Hong Kong young adults had the tendency to have eating behaviors (C. Y. Chan & Chiu, 2022).

It is crucial to address challenges in eating behaviors in better weight management.

2.3. Weight Stigma and its Consequences

Stigma originally refers to the physical signs or taboos imprinted on the skin of immoral people, such as criminals or slaves (Goffman, 1963). Today, stigma is used to describe the "spoiled social identity" indicating social disapproval (Bos et al., 2013; Goffman, 1963). When people are stigmatized, it means the public is holding a negative stereotype or prejudice on them due to their specific conditions, e.g. race, sexual orientation, mental illness, HIV/AIDS, and weight. Pryor and Reeder (2011) suggested that public stigma is the core of stigmatization. *Perceived stigma* results from the direct experience or observation of discrimination and negative judgment. When people react negatively to someone who has stigmatized individuals realize that others always treat them badly because of their specific conditions. Apart from that, stigmatized individuals internalized the stigma to become *self-stigma*, which was revealed in a longitudinal study on mental illness stigma (Vogel et al., 2013). Self-stigma is a kind of self-devaluation, in which individuals believe they are not worthy and they expect others should treat them negatively.

Weight stigma refers to the devaluation and discrimination based on body weight, causing individuals who are overweight and obese to face a high risk of stigma (Puhl & Heuer, 2009). Weight stigma is pervasive and widely acceptable in society, even in healthcare settings (Tomiyama et al., 2018). Puhl et al. (2020) indicated concern about young adults experiencing weight stigma. It is alarming to find that more than half of Asian American young adults reported their past experiences of weight stigma (Puhl et al., 2020). People may develop weight stigma due to the cultural preference for thinness and the negative representation of overweight

and obesity in media, such as TV shows and fitness advertisements (Frederick et al., 2016). The weight issue is usually regarded as controllable by oneself, and they are solely responsible for it. Thus, weight-stigmatized individuals usually are viewed as lazy, self-indulgent, or lack of self-control. Meanwhile, society and some scholars argued that weight stigma could serve as social pressure and motivation (Callahan, 2013a, 2013b). They believed public health could be achieved by imposing stigma, the public awareness would rise, and people would exert effort to manage weight. However, studies on the effects of weight stigma supported the opposite (Major et al., 2018; Pearl & Puhl, 2018). Instead of promoting health, weight stigma causes detrimental consequences on both physical and mental health, as discussed in the following sections.

2.3.1. Weight Stigma's Relationship with Physical and Mental Health

Weight stigma is commonly regarded as having a negative impact on health and weight management, but the evidence is not consistent (Pearl et al., 2021). Perceived stigma was associated with mood disorders (Hatzenbuehler et al., 2009). Exposure to video clips from television and movies, which had scenarios of weight bias and teasing, such as laziness and clumsy, was associated with increased calorie-dense snack intake and a higher level of negative emotion in participants who were overweight (Schvey et al., 2011). Further, Schvey et al. (2014) found that people had greater cortisol reactivity following videos with weight bias and teasing, which could be due to stress induced by videos. The cortisol plays a role in motivating food consumption (Adam & Epel, 2007). Moreover, negative and direct life experiences or attitudes can lead individuals to develop weight-related self-stigma, which refers to the internalization of these biases that foster self-devaluation (Durso & Latner, 2008). Weight-related self-stigma was associated with more psychological distress, eating disturbance, and physical activity avoidance (Durso & Latner, 2008; Fan et al., 2023; Mensinger & Meadows, 2017; O'Brien et al., 2016). However, a review study indicated that while most studies found

a negative relationship between weight stigma and physical activity level, one study found the opposite (Pearl et al., 2021). Furthermore, Lee et al. (2021) reported that weight stigma was not associated with lower levels of physical activity. On the other hand, findings from studies on the relationship between self-stigma and psychological distress were also inconsistent. For instance, O'Brien et al. (2016) found that self-stigma was associated with psychological distress and emotional eating. However, another study found that self-stigma was not associated with anxiety in adolescents who are overweight (C.-Y. Lin et al., 2019). Thus, there is a need to further examine how weight stigma is linked to weight management behaviors and psychological distress.

2.3.2. Weight Stigma and Weight Management: A Vicious Cycle

From the above discussion, it is possible that weight stigma creates a vicious cycle of stigma and health. Some models have been proposed to indicate this risk. Tomiyama (2014) proposed a cyclic obesity/weight-based stigma (COBWEBS) model, which illustrates a vicious cycle of weight stigma and weight gain based on a physiological pathway. In the COBWEBS model, weight stigma is the first step and a source of stress. The stress brought about by weight stigma, then, induces cortisol secretion and maladaptive eating behavior. Consequently, people who are overweight or obese are highly likely to gain more weight or at least hinder their weight loss efforts. However, weight gain is not the conclusion of the process. It may, in turn, reinforce the weight stigma, and another round of this vicious cycle could occur, i.e. a positive feedback loop (Tomiyama, 2014).

Using a macro perspective, the model of weight stigma presented by Major et al. (2018) illustrated how socioeconomic and healthcare factors influence weight stigma and health. For example, discrimination can lead to social isolation, poorer healthcare management from providers, and lower socioeconomic status due to limited opportunities. The model also includes an individual's perspective, such as physiological stress reactivity and psychological

and behavioral perspectives. For example, stigma-induced stress could lead to comfort eating and stigma avoidance behaviors. It also indicated that the possibility of stigma leads to more weight gain and, therefore, more adverse effects.

As people, including overweight and obese individuals, usually consider weight to be controllable by oneself, one would be blamed for weight problems (Puhl & Heuer, 2009). For example, people may think that a person is overweight because he/she did not control his/her diet or participate in physical activity. However, the idea of a vicious cycle can let people realize that weight problems are not merely due to the individual's motivation and behavior, but also the impact of weight stigma. Thus, it can be a model for people to better understand individuals who are overweight or obese and stop blaming or teasing them.

2.3.3. Literature Gap in the Vicious Cycle Model of Weight Stigma

The two models mentioned above provide insights for people to understand the crucial problem of weight stigma. However, the claim of being a vicious cycle in both models needs empirical evidence to support it. Currently, these models have been proposed by gathering results from different studies. Using the physiological pathway in the COBWEBS model as an example, studies have supported that weight stigma induces stress and cortisol secretion (Himmelstein et al., 2015; Schvey et al., 2014). The relationship among cortisol, eating, and weight gain proposed in the COBWEBS model is also supported in another study (Adam & Epel, 2007). Nevertheless, no empirical studies evaluate the entire COBWEBS model to support its claim of a vicious cycle. For example, the effect of weight gain on the level of stigma is unclear. Thus, the cycle is yet to be fully confirmed.

Moreover, although the model proposed by Major et al. (2018) seems comprehensive, it is a model that included almost every possible variable to introduce the entire potential picture to people. Therefore, it is difficult to investigate all pathways at a time, and each single cyclic pathway should be investigated first. On the other hand, although findings from different studies indicated relationships between weight stigma and adverse health outcomes, more evidence is needed to explain how stigma leads to those outcomes. For example, as mentioned above, there was an argument that weight stigma could motivate people to lose weight. However, evidence indicated weight stigma was associated with poor weight management behaviors, e.g. inappropriate eating behaviors and avoidance behaviors (Mensinger & Meadows, 2017; O'Brien et al., 2016). However, apart from the behavioral outcomes, it is still meaningful to investigate whether weight stigma influences people's willingness to perform such behaviors.

It is also necessary to examine both self-stigma and perceived stigma in weight management. Some individuals may have perceived stigma but not self-stigma, while others may have both. In a qualitative study, individuals who were overweight or obese who internalized the weight bias reported more eating behaviors and higher perceived weight stigma compared to those who did not internalize the bias (Puhl et al., 2007). There are a few studies that examine the relationship between perceived stigma and self-stigma, and how they impact on health outcomes (Major et al., 2018).

The COBWEBS model proposed by Tomiyama (2014) suggested the importance of examining how weight gain impacts stigma, specifically whether weight gain maintains or exacerbates weight stigma. It is also not known if weight gain contributes to the level of weightstigma as a feedback loop. The main study of this thesis is a longitudinal study that assesses the relationship between weight gain and the level of weight and whether a feedback loop (vicious cycle) exists between weight stigma, weight management, and physical and mental health. The potential significance of this study is to provide a better understanding of the interplay between weight gain, weight stigma, weight management behaviors, and psychological health. By identifying the potential factors and relationships, findings could lead to more effective approaches in both clinical practice and public health policy, hopefully aiming to break the vicious cycle, if any, that currently undermines weight management efforts and overall well-being.

2.4. Objectives

Based on the reviewed literature, this study proposes a cyclic model of weight stigma (Figure 1). This thesis focused on psychological and behavioral perspectives, which included weight stigma, psychological distress, weight management behaviors, and weight changes. The proposed model would become the foundation of the study and be elaborated throughout the study period. In the beginning, the researcher would like to conduct multiple studies to understand different parts of the relationships in the model (Figure 1). Based on these studies, some literature gaps could be studied. Accordingly, the proposed model could be expanded or modified based on the results. Finally, this thesis aims to investigate the elaborated cyclic model through a longitudinal study.

In Chapter 3, the first study examined the association between weight-related selfstigma and physical activity (Objective 1) with the incorporation of a health behavior model (i.e., Theory of Planned Behavior; TPB). In Chapter 4, the second study examined the association between weight-related self-stigma and eating behaviors (Objective 2) with the incorporation of TPB. After the researcher ensured the several relationships in the model, a longitudinal approach was used in Chapter 5 to investigate the association between weight stigma, psychological distress, eating behaviors, physical activity, weight changes, and other additional variables based on the results from the previous two studies (Objective 3). Further, the bidirectional relationship between weight stigma and weight change was examined in the same longitudinal study (Objective 4).

Figure 1

The Proposed Model of Weight Stigma Cycle



Note. This is a model illustrating the weight stigma vicious cycle. First, weight stigma would induce psychological distress. Then, psychological distress would affect weight management behaviors, physical activity and eating. The poor management would lead to weight gain, and finally, the stigma would be intensified due to the weight gain.

Chapter 3 Psychosocial Variables Related to Weight-Related Self-Stigma in Physical Activity Across Weight Status

3.1. Background

This study aimed to investigate if potential factors, which are not mentioned in the Proposed Model of the Weight Stigma Cycle, are related to weight management behaviors. The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) was considered and used to incorporate with weight-related self-stigma (WRSS) to explain the physical activity of young adults in Hong Kong. As mentioned, individuals who are overweight may have different feelings and perceptions regarding their self-concept and body image, compared to those who are not overweight (Carr & Friedman, 2005; Mustillo et al., 2012). Thus, this study examined the model fit of a TPB theory, which proposed how weight-related self-stigma is linked to physical activity (i.e., Objective 1), and if this model applies to people with different weight statuses (non-overweight vs. overweight). The findings of this study have been published in the International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health (https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010064).

3.1.1. The TPB and Physical Activity

The TPB provides a framework for understanding and predicting specific behaviors (Ajzen, 1991), such as help-seeking, medication adherence, physical activity, and food intake (Beville et al., 2014; Guillaumie et al., 2010; C.-Y. Lin et al., 2016, 2017). The TPB consists of five important constructs: attitudes, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, behavioral intentions, and behavior. An attitude represents how a person values and appraises the specific behavior and its outcomes. A subjective norm refers to perceived social pressure or approval/disapproval regarding the behavior within one's social context. Perceived behavioral control is defined as an individual's perception of their ability or control to be able to perform a specific behavior. Behavioral intention reflects the motivational and planning process, including when and how the behavior will be carried out (Ajzen, 1991).

According to Ajzen (1991), TPB suggests that attitude, subjective norm, and perceived behavioral control together determine behavioral intention, and the actual behavior is determined by behavioral intention and perceived behavioral control. Though TPB is used extensively in a broad range of studies to measure physical activity, the research outcomes are not always consistent. For example, a study with Canadian adolescents found that TPB accounted for physical activity behavior (Plotnikoff et al., 2011). In contrast, another study on U.S. women in a weight-loss treatment found that physical activity level was not associated with the TPB constructs of perceived behavioral control and intention (Gardner & Hausenblas, 2004). Furthermore, TPB factors, except subjective norm for males, successfully predicted engagement in leisure-time physical activity (Beville et al., 2014). Other evidence showed that TPB factors better explained the variance of behaviors based on volition (e.g., dancing) as opposed to activities that required daily trainings (e.g., running, swimming, and team sports) (Scott et al., 2010).

3.1.2. *The TPB and WRSS*

The TPB has been widely used as a generic model in theorizing health behavior, but was criticized for not being able to account for specific factors that may impact on some health behavior (Ajzen, 2015; Conner & Armitage, 1998). Thus, there were suggestions to incorporate of additional potentially relevant factors to expand the model's explanatory power was suggested (Ajzen, 2015; Conner & Armitage, 1998). In studying weight management, for example, the TPB did not account for the potential effect of WRSS on physical activity. Research indicates that weight stigma can contribute to adverse health outcomes. Major et al. (2012) have shown that weight-based stigma can heighten stress and diminish self-control among individuals who experience stigma. Additionally, WRSS may impact perceived behavioral control, as it is linked to negative self-concept (the perception about oneself, such as traits and abilities) (Tomiyama et al., 2018). For instance, a study found that girls with

obesity exhibited poorer self-perceptions of their capability and behavioral conduct compared to their non-overweight peers (Mustillo et al., 2012). Furthermore, the self-concept of girls who were previously overweight failed to recover, likely due to the lingering effects of self-stigma (Mustillo et al., 2012). Another study revealed that individuals with obesity frequently reported diminished self-concept when they faced weight-based stigmatization (Carr & Friedman, 2005). Consequently, WRSS may potentially influence perceived behavioral control, though there is currently no direct empirical evidence supporting this relationship. Moreover, the stress and psychological burden induced by experiencing weight stigma may subsequently decrease an individual's levels of physical activity (Cheng et al., 2018; Mouchacca et al., 2013). Accordingly, this thesis proposed incorporating WRSS as a potential influential factor into the TPB model in order to create an extended TPB framework for more comprehensively examining weight-related behaviors and outcomes.

3.2. Methods

3.2.1. Participants and Procedures

Through convenience sampling, participants from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University were recruited. Among 450 university students who were invited, 325 of them completed the study. In the final 20 minutes of a lecture, the study information was described to the students. Students were invited to complete a series of questionnaires in Google Form via a QR code provided. Ethical approval was obtained from the Ethics Review Board in the university before data collection (HSEARS20171212002). In the Google Form, electronic inform consent was requested before the part of the questionnaires. After participants select "agree" in the Google Form, it directs participants to the part of the questionnaire.

The participants provided their current height and weight, which were used to classify them as either non-overweight or overweight based on their body mass index (BMI). According to the Asian BMI cut-off defined by the World Health Organization, participants with a BMI between 18.5 and 22.9 kg/m² were categorized as non-overweight, while those with a BMI of 23 kg/m² or higher were considered overweight (World Health Organization, 2000). The study included participants aged 18 to 30 years old who were proficient in Traditional Chinese and consented to take part. Individuals were excluded if they self-reported having a neurological condition, functional impairment, or any psychotic disorder or intellectual disability that would make it difficult to complete the online surveys.

3.2.2. Measures

3.2.2.1. Physical Activity

The Chinese version of International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) was utilized in this study (Macfarlane et al., 2007). The IPAQ is a self-reported measure that evaluates the level of physical activity undertaken by participants over the past week (Craig et al., 2003). A sample item is "During the last seven days, on how many days did you do vigorous physical activities?" (Craig et al., 2003). The responses on the questionnaire were then converted into the metabolic equivalent of task (MET) values, which correspond to the time spent on different intensity levels of physical activity (MET = 3.3 for walking, 4 for moderate physical activity, 8 for vigorous physical activity) (Craig et al., 2003). For instance, if a participant reported walking for 40 minutes each day, their physical activity level would be calculated as 3.3×40 minutes $\times 7$ days = 924 METs. A higher MET value indicates a greater level of physical activity. The IPAQ has demonstrated satisfactory test-retest reliability, with an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.79 (Macfarlane et al., 2007).

3.2.2.2. TPB Measures

3.2.2.2.1. Attitude towards physical activity

The study utilized an 8-item semantic differential scale to assess attitudes towards physical activity (C.-Y. Lin et al., 2016). Participants rated the statement "For me to exercise at least 30 minutes, three days per week is _____" on a 7-point scale using bipolar adjective
pairs. A higher score reflected a more favorable attitude towards the target behavior, i.e., physical activity (C.-Y. Lin et al., 2016). The internal consistency of this attitude measure was excellent in the current study, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.90.

3.2.2.2.2. Subjective Norm towards physical activity

The study utilized three 7-point items to measure subjective norms regarding physical activity. An example item was "People who are important to me would approve of me [exercising/exercising at least 30 minutes, at least three days per week]." Higher scores on this scale reflected stronger perceived social norms to engage in physical activity. The internal consistency of the subjective norm measure was satisfactory in the current study, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.82.

3.2.2.3. Perceived Behavioral Control Towards Physical Activity

The study utilized a 4-item scale with 7-point response options to assess perceived behavioral control towards physical activity (Latimer & Martin Ginis, 2005). A sample item was "How much personal control do you feel you have over whether you [exercise/exercise at least 30 minutes, at least three days per week] in the next week?" Higher scores on this measure indicated greater levels of perceived behavioral control. The internal consistency of the perceived behavioral control scale in the current study was excellent, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.95.

3.2.2.2.4. Behavioral Intention towards physical activity

The study employed a 3-item, 7-point scale to evaluate participants' behavioral intentions for physical activity (Kothe et al., 2012). For instance, a sample item was "I plan to [exercise at least 30 minutes, at least three days per week] from now on." Higher scores on this measure reflected greater levels of behavioral intention. The internal consistency of this intention towards physical activity scale was excellent, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.97.

3.2.2.3. Weight-Related Self-Stigma

The Weight Bias Internalization Scale (WBIS) was utilized to assess participants' WRSS (Durso & Latner, 2008), and it was later modified to a version appropriate for individuals with any type of weight status, including non-overweight and overweight (Pearl & Puhl, 2014). This 11-item measure employed a 5-point rating scale, where higher scores reflected greater internalization of weight-related stigma. The Chinese version of the WBIS, which also adapted its item descriptions appropriate for any type of weight status, has demonstrated satisfactory psychometric properties in both individuals who are overweight and non-overweight (Pakpour et al., 2019). The internal consistency of the WBIS in the current study was excellent, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.91.

3.2.3. Data Analysis

Considering that the model comprises six observed variables (attitude, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, behavioral intention, WRSS, physical activity) and requires the estimation of eight path coefficients, the model would have 13 degrees of freedom, based on the formula: $\frac{1}{2} \times$ number of parameters \times (number of parameters + 1) – free parameters. (Bollen, 1989). The necessary sample size to achieve adequate statistical power was estimated to be approximately 216 participants, given the parameters of 13 degrees of freedom, a Type I error of 0.05, a desired power of 0.8, a null root mean square error of approximation of 0.08, and an alternative root mean square error of approximation of 0. (Preacher & Coffman, 2006). Therefore, the sample size of 325 participants in the current study was adequate to ensure sufficient statistical power for the analysis.

Pearson's correlation was performed to examine the relationships among the TPB factors, WRSS, and physical activity. Furthermore, structural equation modeling (SEM) with multiple group analyses was conducted to assess the fit of the proposed physical activity model

and to examine the invariance of path coefficients between the groups of overweight and nonoverweight.

The study employed maximum likelihood estimation to analyze the hypothesized model and to handle any missing data. The proposed model, illustrated in Figure 2, treated all factors as observed variables, with summated scores used to represent each component of the extended TPB framework. The fitness of the multiple-group SEM was evaluated using various fit indices, including the comparative fit index (CFI), Tucker-Lewis index (TLI), root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), and standardized root mean square residual (SRMR). Additionally, the chi-square test was utilized to determine the overall model fit. Models demonstrating a nonsignificant chi-square statistic, along with CFI and TLI values exceeding 0.9, and RMSEA and SRMR values below 0.08, were considered to have acceptable fit, indicating that the data supported the proposed model (Hu & Bentler, 1998).

After verified the fitness of the physical activity model was supported, the researcher performed the χ^2 difference test to examine path invariance across the two groups. A nonsignificant χ^2 difference test result indicated that the path coefficients were invariant across the two groups. Initially, the researcher constrained all path coefficients to be equal between the two groups, and then evaluated whether the model with these constrained paths differed significantly from the unconstrained model. If the two models did not exhibit a significant difference, it would support the invariance of the paths across all the model parameters. Conversely, if a significant difference was found, the researcher would have proceeded to assess the invariance of each path coefficient.

All the analyses were conducted using SPSS 25.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA), except for the SEM analyses, which were performed using the R software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) with the latent variable analysis (lavaan) package (Rosseel, 2012).

The Theory of Planned Behavior Model Incorporated Weight-Related Self-Stigma on

Physical Activity with the Results of Multiple Group Analysis



Note. PA = physical activity; CFI = comparative fit index; TLI = Tucker-Lewis index; SRMR = root mean square residual; RMSEA = root mean square error of approximation. Path coefficients are presented for the non-overweight group before the slash and for the overweight group after the slash. Likewise, R-squared are presented for the two groups. A lower value on physical activity indicates less physical activity engagement. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p <0.001. From "Psychosocial variables related to weight-related self-stigma in physical activity among young adults across weight status." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(1), p.5. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010064

3.3. Results

The demographics and instrument scores for all participants are summarized in Table 1. Briefly, the sample had a mean age of 21.6 (standard deviation [SD] = 2.95) and a mean BMI of 22.39 (SD = 4.03), with more than half of the participants being female (61.2%). Additionally, Table 2 presents the correlations among the TPB factors, WRSS, and physical activity.

Table 1

	Participants ($N = 325$)		
Gender, n (%)			
Male	126 (38.8%)		
Female	199 (61.2%)		
Age (years), M (SD)	21.6 (2.95)		
Body Mass Index, M (SD)	22.39 (4.03)		
Weight status, n (%)			
Non-overweight	221 (68%)		
Overweight	104 (32%)		
International Physical Activity Questionnaire, M (SD)	2008.17 (2144.41)		
Weight Bias Internalization Scale, M (SD)	28.92 (9.58)		
Theory of Planned Behavior factors, M (SD)			
Attitude toward PA	82.69 (13.94)		
Subjective norm toward PA	47.28 (26.17)		
Perceived behavioral control toward PA	59.28 (27.00)		
Behavioral intention toward PA	62.21 (27.29)		

Demographic Information Among Participants

Note. PA = physical activity. From "Psychosocial variables related to weight-related selfstigma in physical activity among young adults across weight status." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(1), p.6. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010064

Table 2

Correlation Matrix Among Theory of Planned Behavior Factors, Weight-Related Self-Stigma, and Physical Activity

	r					
Variables	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	
1. PA	0.20 ***	-0.02	0.30 ***	0.22 ***	-0.13 *	
2. Attitude toward PA		0.13 *	0.50 ***	0.46 ***	-0.08	
3. Subjective norm toward PA			0.20 ***	0.34 ***	0.31 ***	
4. PBC-PA				0.68 ***	0.05	
5. Intention toward PA					0.15 **	
6. Weight-related self-stigma						

Note. PA = physical activity; PBC = perceived behavioral control toward physical activity. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001. From "Psychosocial variables related to weight-related self-stigma in physical activity among young adults across weight status." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(1), p.6. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010064

3.3.1. Model Fit of the Physical Activity Model

The proposed physical activity model (Figure 2) demonstrated excellent model fit, as evidenced by the non-significant chi-square statistic ($\chi^2 = 2.68$ [4], p = 0.613), a CFI of 1.000, a TLI of 1.022, a SRMR of 0.015, and a RMSEA of 0.000. Although the CFI = 1 and RMSEA = 0, it happens when the degree of freedom is greater than the value of χ^2 according to their equations (Kenny & McCoach, 2003). Furthermore, as the model had a non-zero χ^2 and SRMR, the model is not a perfect fit.

The path coefficient significance differed between the non-overweight and overweight groups. For the non-overweight group, attitude, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, and WRSS were significantly associated with behavioral intention, while only perceived behavioral control was significantly associated with actual physical activity. Attitude, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, and WRSS collectively accounted for 59.2% of the variance in behavioral intention, and WRSS, perceived behavioral control, and behavioral intention together explained 13.9% of the variance in physical activity. In the overweight group, only subjective norm and perceived behavioral control were significantly associated with behavioral intention, and WRSS was negatively associated with physical activity, while behavioral intention was positively associated with physical activity. Additionally, WRSS was negatively associated for 46.3% of the variance in behavioral intention. Furthermore, 14.1% of the variance in physical activity was explained by WRSS, perceived behavioral control, and behavioral control, and behavioral intention. Additionally, WRSS explained 3.6% of the variance in perceived behavioral control, and behavioral control.

3.3.2. χ^2 Difference Test

The χ^2 difference test indicated a significant discrepancy between the constrained and unconstrained physical activity models ($\Delta \chi^2 = 22.56$, df = 8; p = 0.004; Table 3). Further path invariance analyses were conducted by constraining one path at a time and comparing the results to the unconstrained model. These tests revealed that the relationships between perceived behavioral control and physical activity ($\Delta \chi^2 = 9.21$, df = 1; p = 0.002), between attitude and intention ($\Delta \chi^2 = 4.91$, df = 1; p = 0.027), and between WRSS and perceived behavioral control ($\Delta \chi^2 = 5.57$, df = 1; p = 0.018) were significantly different across the overweight and non-overweight groups (Table 3).

Table 3

Path Invariance of Physical Activity Model Across Weight Groups (Non-overweight vs.

0	• •	. `
Overw	$\Delta 1 \alpha h$	۱t ۱
U V CI W	CIVI	ιι

Model	χ^2	df	$\Delta\chi^2$	Δdf	р
Unconstrained model	2.68	4			
All path coefficients constrained	25.23	12	22.56	8	0.004
Path coefficient constrained: Att \rightarrow Int	7.59	5	4.91	1	0.027
Path coefficient constrained: SN \rightarrow Int	4.46	5	1.78	1	0.182
Path coefficient constrained: PBC \rightarrow Int	3.22	5	0.54	1	0.464
Path coefficient constrained: PBC \rightarrow PA	11.89	5	9.21	1	0.002
Path coefficient constrained: Int \rightarrow PA	5.98	5	3.30	1	0.069
Path coefficient constrained: WRSS \rightarrow PBC	8.25	5	5.57	1	0.018
Path coefficient constrained: WRSS \rightarrow Int	2.69	5	0.01	1	0.930
Path coefficient constrained: WRSS \rightarrow PA	6.18	5	3.50	1	0.061

Note. Att = attitude; Int = intention; SN = subjective norm; PBC = perceived behavioral

control; PA = physical activity; WRSS = weight-related self-stigma.

Unconstrained model is that path coefficients are freely estimated across weight groups.

Constrained path coefficient is that it constrained to be equal across weight groups.

3.4. Discussion

To achieve Objective 1 of this thesis, the study presented in this chapter investigated physical activity, a weight management behavior, by incorporating the TPB and WRSS into a model (Figure 2). The proposed physical activity model exhibited excellent model fit. However, the relationships within the model differed between the overweight and nonoverweight groups, and the path coefficients were not invariant across the groups. Specifically, the associations of perceived behavioral control with physical activity, attitude with behavioral intention, and WRSS with perceived behavioral control were significantly different between the two weight status groups.

In the physical activity model, attitude was significantly associated with behavioral intention for the overweight group but not for the non-overweight group. Additionally, PBC was significantly associated with physical activity engagement for the non-overweight group, but not for the overweight group. These findings suggest that attitude and PBC may not be the key determinants of behavioral intention and physical activity participation for individuals with overweight status in the current sample. A potential explanation could be the perceived barriers faced by those who were overweight. Previous research has indicated that overweight individuals tend to be more concerned about body image and experience greater social anxiety, which can lead to unwillingness to engage in physical activity (Fernández et al., 2017). Similarly, prior studies have found that as individuals who are overweight face more criticism regarding physical activity due to their weight status, they report lower enjoyment and demonstrate avoidance of physical activity (Faith et al., 2002).

Regarding the relationship between perceived behavioral control and intention to engage in physical activity, external factors such as peer victimization may serve as barriers (Gray et al., 2008). Individuals with overweight or obesity status may perceive fewer opportunities and less support, and may feel unwelcomed by others, which could negatively impact their intention to be physically active (Gray et al., 2008). Prior research suggested that individuals who are overweight reported more barriers related to perceived physical activity competence compared to those of non-overweight (Deforche et al., 2006). Additionally, studies have found that adults who are overweight often lack confidence in their ability to perform physical activity (Rech et al., 2016). Consequently, social environmental factors may interfere with the associations between attitude, perceived behavioral control, and physical activity intention. Moreover, the results of the current study also indicated that WRSS was significantly associated with perceived behavioral control, behavioral intention, and physical activity engagement. This aligns with prior research demonstrating a negative relationship between life stressors and perceived behavioral control (Louis et al., 2009). In the context of this study, WRSS can be viewed as a form of life stress; individuals experiencing self-stigma, particularly those who have faced self-devaluation from societal labels, may feel a diminished sense of competence and power (Durso & Latner, 2008; Tomiyama et al., 2018). These factors help explain the negative association between WRSS and perceived behavioral control, but only among the group of overweight. Additionally, WRSS was negatively associated with physical activity, potentially due to reduced self-esteem and self-efficacy (Corrigan et al., 2009). Those who internalize weight-related stigma may have lower motivation for weight management behaviors, a phenomenon known as the "why try" effect, which can undermine their initial behavioral intentions (Corrigan et al., 2009).

This study had several limitations. Firstly, the cross-sectional design limited the ability to establish causal relationships, highlighting the need for future longitudinal studies to validate the findings across the model. Secondly, the exclusive use of self-reported data may have led to social desirability bias, potentially affecting the accuracy of the results. Thirdly, the homogeneity of the sample, which included only university students, compromised the generalizability of the findings. Finally, the focus on young adults in this study may restrict the applicability of the results, as previous research indicates that older adults might have different perceptions of the controllability of stigmatized conditions and experience lower levels of stigma compared to younger individuals (Emlet et al., 2015; Krendl & Wolford, 2013).

This study explored the expanded TPB model for PA. The model was enriched by highlighting the important impact of WRSS, giving better insights into one of the weight

27

management behaviors: PA. The next chapter investigated another weight management behavior: eating behaviors.

Chapter 4 Weight Stigma and Eating Behaviors in Young Adults Across Weight Status

The study was an extension of Chapter 3 to examine another weight management behavior, eating behaviors, in related to WRSS (i.e., Objective 2). It aimed to investigate whether adding weight-related self-stigma (WRSS) to the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) model of eating behaviors could explain the avoidance of maladaptive eating behaviors by young adults in Hong Kong. The findings of this study were published in the American Journal of Health Behavior (https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6).

As mentioned in the beginning, eating is also critical for weight management (World Health Organization, 2020a). Callahan (2013a, 2013b) asserted weight stigma motivates people to maintain a healthy weight. Although the weight stigma was strong among weight loss treatment-seeking individuals, the weight stigma was associated with binge eating (Carels et al., 2010). Also, weight stigma was associated with increased calorie intake (Araiza & Wellman, 2017; Meadows & Higgs, 2019). It appears that weight stigma plays a negative role in terms of behavioral outcomes. Yet, the literature still knows little about the effect of weight stigma on avoiding eating behaviors that are maladaptive. From the results of Chapter 3, WRSS was associated with intention towards physical activity. Thus, an association between WRSS and the intention to avoid eating behaviors might possibly exist as well. The incorporation of WRSS in the TPB could provide additional knowledge on how weight stigma affects eating behaviors.

4.1. Background

4.1.1. Eating Behaviors

Eating behaviors are crucial components of effective weight management (World Health Organization, 2020a). Research has identified several eating behaviors that are deemed unfavorable or maladaptive, including emotional eating, uncontrolled eating, and cognitive dietary restraint (Bryant et al., 2019; Kamolthip et al., 2022). The tendency to consume food

in response to emotional distress rather than physiological hunger is referred to as emotional eating. People with a stronger tendency toward emotional eating consumed more sweet energydense foods. This tendency was also associated with more non-sweet and energy-dense food consumption. However, it was not associated with vegetable or fruit intake (Konttinen et al., 2010). Uncontrolled eating is characterized by a diminished capacity to cease or regulate food intake. For example, people with a stronger tendency to uncontrolled eating were associated with increased food intake, including energy-dense foods (de Lauzon et al., 2004). Cognitive restraint involves the conscious restriction of food consumption. For instance, a study has shown that female participants possessing a higher cognitive restraint score reported a decreased energy intake compared to those with a lower cognitive restraint score (de Lauzon et al., 2004). Although cognitive restraint may not inherently be detrimental, an excessive or inflexible form of it can contribute to cycles of dietary restriction and subsequent overeating (de Lauzon et al., 2004). These patterns are linked to weight increases and diminished weight loss effort (Bryant et al., 2019; Kamolthip et al., 2022). Eating behaviors and its related problems have been highlighted as a growing concern in the Asian region (Ahorsu et al., 2020; I.-H. Chen et al., 2022; Huang et al., 2022; Kamolthip et al., 2022; C.-Y. Lin et al., 2021; Saffari et al., 2022). Specifically, studies have found that eating behaviors represent an issue among young adults in Hong Kong (Cheng et al., 2018; Sheffield et al., 2005). For instance, prior research has reported a 14.8% and 4.5% prevalence of emotional eating behaviors among female and male university students in Hong Kong respectively (Sze et al., 2021). It is necessary to further investigate the psychosocial mechanisms underlying eating behaviors.

4.1.2. The TPB and Eating Behaviors

The TPB has been widely applied to investigate various eating behaviors. For instance, researchers have used TPB to examine factors influencing dietary choices, such as fruit and vegetable consumption and adherence to low-fat diets (Guillaumie et al., 2010), avoidance of

sugary snacks and beverages (Masalu & Åstrøm, 2001), and reduced intake of foods with additives (M.-F. Chen, 2017). Moreover, TPB has been employed to understand the intention to binge eat among female university students as well as motivation for recovery in anorexia nervosa (Dawson et al., 2015; Kane et al., 2015). These examples demonstrate the versatility of TPB in elucidating the psychosocial processes underlying diverse eating-related behaviors.

The majority of existing TPB research on eating behaviors has been conducted in Western countries, with a focus on dieting or healthy eating practices such as fruit and vegetable consumption (Guillaumie et al., 2010). These studies have primarily examined specific food choices, whereas eating behaviors, such as emotional eating and uncontrolled eating, extend beyond just food selection. Eating behaviors also encompass the quantity and frequency of food intake. The TPB framework could offer a valuable analytical approach for investigating factors influencing eating behaviors in East Asian contexts. This study thus applied the TPB model to specifically understand the underlying intentions behind the avoidance of these inappropriate eating behaviors among young adults in Hong Kong.

Existing research has largely focused on understanding and supporting individuals with eating behavior issues (Neumark-Sztainer et al., 2006). However, there is less investigation into the factors that influence people's attitudes, perceived behavioral control, subjective norms, and intentions to avoid such behaviors. Previous studies have applied the TPB to assess motivations for weight gain in anorexia nervosa and intentions to reduce binge eating among those with gastric banding surgery (Dawson et al., 2015; Wood & Ogden, 2014). Yet, few studies have examined the use of TPB in understanding the avoidance of inappropriate eating behaviors (i.e., to avoid performing eating behaviors, including cognitive restraint, emotional eating, and uncontrolled eating). Additionally, the relationship between cognitive restraint and outcomes is mixed, as it may facilitate weight regulation or contribute to increased food cravings and further weight gain (Bryant et al., 2019). Therefore, further investigation is

warranted to determine whether TPB can provide additional insights into the factors influencing the avoidance of eating behaviors.

4.1.3. The TPB and WRSS in Understanding Eating Behaviors

In addition to the factors proposed by the TPB, WRSS may also influence eating behaviors. Individuals who are overweight or obese often face a heightened risk of stigmatization from others due to their body weight (Puhl & Heuer, 2009). These individuals may develop WRSS, which involves the internalization of weight-related beliefs associated with self-devaluation. This internalization process is not merely a product of direct life experiences but can also emerge under the influence of cultural values and stigmatizing media content (Durso & Latner, 2008). Several studies have linked WRSS to poor health outcomes (Alimoradi et al., 2020; Huang et al., 2022; Kamolthip et al., 2021; Liu et al., 2022). Regarding its influence on eating behaviors, it has been found that WRSS was associated with emotional and uncontrolled eating (O'Brien et al., 2016). Furthermore, individuals who experienced higher levels of weight stigma were likely to engage in inappropriate eating behaviors, regardless of their weight. This indicates that stigma can affect both those who are overweight and those who are not (C.-Y. Lin et al., 2020). According to Major et al. (2012), concerns about weight stigma can increase stress and impair self-control in stigmatized individuals. Furthermore, those with WRSS tend to have a lower self-concept, suggesting it may be a risk factor for perceived behavioral control. For instance, a study (i.e., the finding from Chapter 3) found that WRSS was negatively associated with perceived behavioral control and the level of physical activity (Fung et al., 2020). Similarly, WRSS may also impact perceived behavioral control and intentions related to avoidance of eating behaviors. Moreover, individuals with self-stigma may be more prone to engage in uncontrolled eating, emotional eating, and cognitive restraint, potentially leading to further weight gain (Cheng et al., 2018; Tomiyama, 2014).

It has been suggested that the TPB should be expanded to encompass potentially related variables in specific scenarios (Ajzen, 2015; Conner & Armitage, 1998). This study sought to extend the TPB by incorporating WRSS as a potentially influential factor in eating behaviors. The rationale was that WRSS could interact with perceived behavioral control and behavioral intention, thereby impacting eating behaviors. This extended TPB model was proposed as potentially useful for healthcare providers in developing appropriate weight management interventions. The proposed conceptual model is shown in Figure 3. The primary objective of this research was to examine whether the extended TPB, which integrates WRSS with the traditional TPB constructs, could explain the avoidance of various eating behaviors among young adults in Hong Kong. Specifically, the researcher utilized three models to examine three types of eating behaviors: uncontrolled eating, emotional eating, and cognitive restraints (Kamolthip et al., 2022). Additionally, the researcher would also explore whether the extended TPB model could be used for two groups of participants, those who are overweight and those who are not.

This study hypothesized that (1) attitude, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, and WRSS would be associated with the intention to avoid eating behaviors; (2) that perceived behavioral control and intention to avoid eating behaviors would be negatively associated with eating behaviors; (3) that WRSS would be negatively associated with perceived behavioral control and positively associated with eating behaviors; and (4) that there would be significant differences in the hypothesized relationships between participants of different weight statuses (i.e., overweight and non-overweight).

The Conceptual Model of the Theory of Planned Bahavior Model Incorporated Weight-

Related Self-Stigma on Eating Behaviors Avoidance



Note. EB= Eating Behaviors. EB refers to the three types of eating behaviors assessed by the Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire-Revised 18-item version (TFEQ-R18): cognitive restraint, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating. Higher scores on each subscale reflect greater levels of the respective eating behaviors. From "Weight stigma and eating behaviors in young adults across weight status." American Journal of Health Behavior, 48(3), p.630 (https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6).

4.2. Methods

4.2.1. Participants and Procedures

Prior to commencing the data collection process, ethical approval was obtained from the university's Ethics Review Board (HSEARS20201120002). Participants were recruited to complete the questionnaires by scanning a QR code that directed them to the university's online survey platform. Before accessing the questionnaire, they were required to provide electronic informed consent by clicking the "Agree" icon, indicating their willingness to participate in the study after being informed about the study details and their rights as participants. Those who selected "Agree" were then directed to the questionnaire.

The inclusion criteria were: age between 18 and 30 years; proficiency in traditional Chinese; and a willingness to participate. Exclusion criteria consisted of self-reported neurological conditions, such as stroke, functional disabilities, including blindness, or any form of psychosis or intellectual disability that would prevent them from completing the online survey. Recruitment was carried out through the distribution of flyers and posters on the Hong Kong Polytechnic University campus between March and June 2021, resulting in a sample size of 348 young adults.

4.2.2. Measures

4.2.2.1. Background Information

Participant data on self-reported gender, age, height, and weight was collected. Participants were then categorized as either "non-overweight" or "overweight" based on their body mass index. The classification followed the Asian BMI cutoff specified by the World Health Organization, with a BMI below 23 kg/m² considered non-overweight and a BMI of 23 kg/m² or above considered as overweight. Additionally, a single yes-no question was included to assess whether the participants perceived their eating behaviors as being affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.

4.2.2.2. Eating Behaviors

The Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire-R18 (TFEQ-R18) assesses eating behaviors across three distinct dimensions: cognitive restraint, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating. Six items on cognitive restraint evaluate the extent to which an individual consciously manages their weight by restricting food intake. Nine items on uncontrolled eating measure the degree to which an individual tends to consume more than usual, due to a loss of control over intake accompanied by subjective feelings of hunger. Three items on emotional eating examine whether a person eats in response to their inability to resist emotional cues. All items were scored on a 4-point Likert scale. Each subscale score was then converted to a scale ranging from 0 to 100. While there are no cutoff values for diagnostic purposes, higher scores indicate a stronger tendency towards the corresponding aspects of eating behaviors (de Lauzon et al., 2004). The TFEQ-R18 has demonstrated good internal consistency, ranging from 0.83-0.87 Cronbach's alpha (de Lauzon et al., 2004). The Chinese version of the TFEQ-R18 used in the current study has been applied to Asian populations in Hong Kong (Cheng et al., 2018). The internal reliability coefficients were 0.80 for cognitive restraint, 0.84 for uncontrolled eating, and 0.82 for emotional eating in the current study.

4.2.2.3. Weight-Related Self-Stigma

The Weight Bias Internalization Scale (WBIS) was used to evaluate participants' WRSS (Durso & Latner, 2008). This measure was subsequently adapted to be suitable for individuals across various weight statuses, including non-overweight and overweight populations (Pearl & Puhl, 2014). This 11-item measure employed a 5-point rating scale, where higher scores reflected greater internalization of weight-related stigma. Additionally, the Chinese version of the WBIS, which tailored its item descriptions to accommodate different weight statuses, has exhibited satisfactory psychometric properties among both overweight and non-overweight individuals. (Pakpour et al., 2019). In the current study, the internal consistency (Cronbach's α) of the WBIS was 0.91.

4.2.2.4. TPB Measures

Based on the guidance provided for constructing the TPB questionnaire (Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011), the researcher constructed a measure to assess the TPB factors to avoid eating behaviors, including attitudes, subjective norms, perceived behavioral control, and behavioral intentions. A pilot study was conducted with 15 male and 5 female participants to evaluate their understanding and responses to the questionnaire (N=20, mean age of 25.15 years (*SD* = 3.13). Feedback from the pilot sample indicated a consistent comprehension of what constitutes inappropriate eating behaviors, such as consuming unusually large quantities of food, eating in response to emotional cues, or intentionally restricting food intake, all of which can have detrimental health implications. Additionally, the researcher positioned the TFEQ-R18 prior to the TPB scale. This allowed participants to contextualize their responses to the attitude, perceived behavioral control, subjective norms, and intention items in relation to the eating behaviors described in the TFEQ-R18. This approach was confirmed to be effective based on feedback from the pilot study participants.

For the assessment of attitudes toward avoiding inappropriate eating behaviors, a scale with eight 7-point semantic differential items was employed (Cheng et al., 2018; Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011). The items utilized pairs of bipolar adjectives (e.g., good-bad, wise-foolish, correct-incorrect) with the stem "For me to avoid inappropriate eating behaviors is..." A higher score on this scale indicated a more favorable attitude. The internal consistency of the attitude measure was 0.92 in this study.

To evaluate subjective norms regarding the avoidance of inappropriate eating behaviors, three 7-point items were used (Cheng et al., 2018; Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011). A sample item was: "People who are important to me would think that I should avoid inappropriate eating behaviors every day". Higher scores on this scale suggested greater

37

perceived social norms to avoid such behaviors. The internal consistency was 0.72 for the subjective norm measure in the current study.

Four 7-point items were employed to evaluate participants' perceived behavioral control toward avoiding inappropriate eating behaviors (Cheng et al., 2018; Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011). An example item was: "How much personal control do you feel you have over whether you avoid inappropriate eating behaviors in the next week?". Higher scores denoted greater levels of perceived behavioral control. The internal consistency of the perceived behavioral control measure was 0.86 in the current study.

Three 7-point items were used to assess the behavioral intention to avoid inappropriate eating behaviors (Cheng et al., 2018; Fishbein & Ajzen, 2011). For instance, one item stated: "I plan to from now on avoid inappropriate eating behaviors". Higher scores indicated stronger behavioral intention. The internal consistency of the intention measure was 0.95 in the current study.

4.2.3. Data Analysis

Pearson's correlation was used to investigate the associations among TPB factors, WRSS, and the three components of eating behaviors. Structural equation modeling, incorporating a multiple-group analysis, was conducted to evaluate the fit of the three proposed models and assess the path invariance across participants categorized as overweight and those who were not overweight. Furthermore, the models controlled for the potential influences of age, gender, and participants' perceptions of COVID-19's impact on their eating habits.

Structural equation modeling (SEM) was used, with all the factors entered as observed variables. For the behavioral components in the Theory of Planned Behavior, the researcher examined uncontrolled eating, emotional eating, and cognitive restraints separately, thereby testing three separate models (Figures 4 to 6). The maximum likelihood estimation was applied. The fitness of the proposed models was evaluated using several fit indices, including the

comparative fit index (CFI), root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), and standardized root mean square residual (SRMR). Additionally, the χ^2 test was employed to determine the overall fit of the models. Models that demonstrated a non-significant chi-square statistic, a CFI greater than 0.9, and RMSEA and SRMR values less than 0.08 were considered acceptable, indicating that the proposed models were supported by the data. After verified the fitness of the three models was supported, the researcher performed the χ^2 difference test to examine path invariance across the two groups. A non-significant χ^2 difference test result indicated that the path coefficients were invariant across the two groups. Initially, the researcher constrained all path coefficients to be equal between the two groups, and then evaluated whether the model with these constrained paths differed significantly from the unconstrained model. If the two models did not exhibit a significant difference, it would support the invariance of the paths across all the model parameters. Conversely, if a significant difference was found, the researcher would have proceeded to assess the invariance of each path coefficient.

All the analyses were conducted using SPSS 28.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA), except for the SEM analyses, which were performed using the R software (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) with the latent variable analysis (lavaan) package (Rosseel, 2012).

4.3. Results

The demographic data and instrument scores were presented in Table 4. The participants had a mean age of 22.97 years (SD = 3.37) and a mean BMI of 21.24 (SD = 3.64), with a predominance of female participants (63.5%). The mean score for emotional eating was 42.40 (SD = 25.0); for uncontrolled eating, it was 37.37 (SD = 17.9); and for cognitive restraint, it was 43.69 (SD = 19.2). Furthermore, a significant difference was found in cognitive restraint, t(137.28) = -2.90, p = 0.004, which showed that participants classified as overweight (M =

48.83, SD = 16.83) had a stronger tendency than those who were non-overweight (M = 42.26, SD = 19.62). A significant difference was also found in emotional eating, t(346) = -2.61, p = 0.009, with higher scores among participants who were overweight (M = 48.98, SD = 25.15) in comparison to those who were non-overweight (M = 40.56, SD = 24.72). No significant difference was found in uncontrolled eating between the two groups, t(346) = -1.89, p = 0.059.

The correlation matrix in Table 5 showed that WRSS was significantly associated with all TPB factors, except for behavioral intention, and that the TPB factors were significantly correlated with each other. Additionally, WRSS was significantly correlated with cognitive restraint, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating. The subsequent paragraphs present the results of the SEMs.

Table 4

Demographic Information Among Participants

Variables	Participants ($N = 348$)
Gender	
Male, <i>n</i> (%)	127 (36.5)
Female, n (%)	221 (63.5)
Age (years), M (SD)	22.97 (3.37)
Body Mass Index (kg/m2), M (SD)	21.29 (3.58)
Weight group	
Non-overweight, n (%)	272 (78.2)
Overweight, n (%)	76 (21.8)
Eating Behaviors	
Cognitive restraint, M (SD)	43.69 (19.2)
Uncontrolled eating, $M(SD)$	37.37 (17.9)
Emotional eating, M (SD)	42.40 (25.0)
Weight-related self-stigma, $M(SD)$	27.16 (8.48)
TPB factors toward avoiding eating behaviors	
Attitude, M (SD)	5.41 (1.27)
Subjective norm, M (SD)	4.45 (1.34)
Perceived behavioral control, M (SD)	5.17 (1.21)
Behavioral intention, M (SD)	4.74 (1.50)
Perceived impact of COVID-19 on eating	
Yes, <i>n</i> (%)	191 (54.9)
No, <i>n</i> (%)	157 (45.1)

Note. TPB = Theory of Planned Behavior. From "Weight stigma and eating behaviors in young adults across weight status." American Journal of Health Behavior, 48(3), p.633 (https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6).

Table 5

Correlation Matrix Among Weight-Related Self-Stigma and the Theory of Planned Behavior Factors on Eating Behaviors

		r					
Variables	2.	3.	4.	5.	6.	7.	8.
1. Weight-related self-stigma	-0.13*	0.11*	-0.25***	0.06	0.27***	0.30***	0.31***
2. Attitude toward avoiding EB		0.30***	0.45***	0.34***	0.05	-0.23***	-0.16**
3. Subjective norm toward avoiding EB			0.29***	0.48***	0.30***	-0.04	0.11*
4. Perceived behavioral control toward				0.57***	0.12*	-0.38***	-0.32***
avoiding EB							
5. Behavioral intention toward avoiding EB	3				0.31***	-0.15**	-0.04
6. Cognitive Restraint						0.01	0.03
7. Uncontrolled eating							0.60***
8. Emotional eating							

Note. EB = eating behaviors. * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001. From "Weight stigma and eating behaviors in young adults across weight

status." American Journal of Health Behavior, 48(3), p.633 (https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6).

4.3.1. Model Fit of the Three Eating Behavior Models

The cognitive restraint model (Figure 4) demonstrated excellent model fit, as evidenced by the following indices: CFI = 0.97, SRMR = 0.043, and RMSEA = 0.066. However, the association between perceived behavioral control and cognitive restraint was not significant across both study groups. Furthermore, in the overweight group, neither behavioral intention nor WRSS was linked to cognitive restraint. This suggests that the relationship between cognitive restraint, perceived control, and stigma-related factors may not be as robust or direct as in other conceptual models.

The uncontrolled eating model (Figure 5) had an excellent model fit with a nonsignificant chi-square ($\chi^2 [df] = 27.53 [20]$; p = 0.121), a CFI of 0.98, an SRMR of 0.040, and an RMSEA of 0.047. For the non-overweight group, perceived behavioral control and WRSS were both significantly associated with behavioral intention and uncontrolled eating, while WRSS was negatively associated with perceived behavioral control. Conversely, for the overweight group, only subjective norm and perceived behavioral control were significantly associated with behavioral intention; WRSS was negatively related to perceived behavioral control; and perceived behavioral control was significantly associated with uncontrolled eating. This model highlights the distinct dynamics underlying uncontrolled eating behaviors between individuals who are overweight and those who are non-overweight, emphasizing the roles of WRSS and perceived control in these processes.

The emotional eating model (Figure 6) demonstrated excellent fit indices: CFI = 0.97, SRMR = 0.043, and RMSEA = 0.064. For the non-overweight group, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, and WRSS were significantly associated with behavioral intention; perceived behavioral control and WRSS were significantly associated with emotional eating behaviors. Among the overweight group, only subjective norm and perceived behavioral control were significantly associated with behavioral intention and

perceived behavioral control were significantly associated with emotional eating. Furthermore, WRSS was negatively associated with perceived behavioral control. The model indicates that, although comparable factors contribute to emotional eating across weight groups, their specific interactions and effects vary, highlighting the complex nature underlying emotional eating behaviors.

4.3.2. χ^2 Difference Test

The χ^2 difference test results indicated significant differences between the constrained and unconstrained models for cognitive restraint ($\Delta\chi^2 = 29.76$, df = 17; p = 0.028), uncontrolled eating ($\Delta\chi^2 = 29.29$, df = 17; p = 0.032), and emotional eating ($\Delta\chi^2 = 29.76$, df = 17; p = 0.028). Additional path invariance analyses, each constraining a single path and comparing it to the unconstrained model, revealed that the relationships between perceived behavioral control and intention ($\Delta\chi^2 = 4.52$, df = 1; p = 0.033), subjective norm and intention ($\Delta\chi^2 = 8.47$, df = 1; p =0.004), and WRSS and perceived behavioral control ($\Delta\chi^2 = 5.33$, df = 1; p = 0.021) differed significantly across weight groups. Specifically, the associations of perceived behavioral control with intention, as well as WRSS with perceived behavioral control, were notably stronger for the overweight group. Conversely, the relationship between subjective norms and intention was significantly stronger in the non-overweight group. See Figures 4 to 6 for details.

Multiple Group Analysis of the TPB Model Incorporated with WRSS on Cognitive Restraint



Note. TPB = Theory of Planned Behavior; WRSS = weight-related self-stigma; CFI = comparative fit index; SRMR = root mean square residual; RMSEA = root mean square error of approximation. The path coefficients for the non-overweight participants are shown before the slash, while those for the overweight participants are displayed after the slash. Additionally, the R-squared values for both groups are provided. The p-value beneath each set of path coefficients indicates the statistical significance of the differences between the two groups' path coefficients. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001. From "Weight stigma and eating behaviors in young adults across weight status." American Journal of Health Behavior, 48(3), p.634 (https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6).





Note. TPB = Theory of Planned Behavior; WRSS = weight-related self-stigma; CFI = comparative fit index; SRMR = root mean square residual; RMSEA = root mean square error of approximation. The path coefficients for the non-overweight participants are shown before the slash, while those for the overweight participants are displayed after the slash. Additionally, the R-squared values for both groups are provided. The p-value beneath each set of path coefficients indicates the statistical significance of the differences between the two groups' path coefficients. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001. From "Weight stigma and eating behaviors in young adults across weight status." American Journal of Health Behavior, 48(3), p.634 (https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6).

Multiple Group Analysis of the TPB Model Incorporated With WRSS on Emotional Eating



Note. TPB = Theory of Planned Behavior; WRSS = weight-related self-stigma; CFI = comparative fit index; SRMR = root mean square residual; RMSEA = root mean square error of approximation. The path coefficients for the non-overweight participants are shown before the slash, while those for the overweight participants are displayed after the slash. Additionally, the R-squared values for both groups are provided. The p-value beneath each set of path coefficients indicates the statistical significance of the differences between the two groups' path coefficients. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001. From "Weight stigma and eating behaviors in young adults across weight status." American Journal of Health Behavior, 48(3), p.635 (https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6).

4.4. Discussion

To fulfill Objective 2 of this thesis, the TPB, combined with WRSS, was utilized to examine three types of eating behaviors: cognitive restraint, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating. These models demonstrated an excellent fit. While the significance of the path coefficients varied among the models, the overall findings suggested that subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, and WRSS were positively associated with the intention to avoid eating behaviors. Furthermore, perceived behavioral control showed a negative association, whereas intention and WRSS showed positive associations with eating behaviors. Moreover, path invariance was not supported for certain path coefficients, such as the relationships between subjective norm and intention, perceived behavioral control and intention, and WRSS and perceived behavioral control. These findings imply that different models might be more applicable to different weight groups.

The study incorporated WRSS as an extension of the TPB model. This construct demonstrated significant associations with perceived behavioral control, behavioral intention, and eating behaviors. Notably, the relationship between perceived behavioral control and WRSS was significantly stronger for the overweight group compared to the non-overweight group. These findings align with my previous TPB-based study on physical activity (Chapter 3), which similarly found that WRSS was linked to perceived behavioral control within the overweight sample (Fung et al., 2020). The current study found that WRSS can lead to self-devaluation and diminish individuals' perceived behavioral control over eating behavior avoidance. Additionally, while weight-related stigma was linked to stronger intentions to avoid eating behaviors, it was also associated with eating behaviors increment at the time of data collection. This latter finding may be attributed to participants' recognition of their elevated eating behaviors and an attempt to address them. Existing research similarly suggests that weight stigma can contribute to inappropriate eating behaviors (Kamolthip et al., 2022; C.-Y.

Lin et al., 2020; O'Brien et al., 2016), and results of the current study further support this association.

The findings of this study suggest that while participants expressed an intention to regulate their eating behaviors, WRSS undermined their perceived ability to do so effectively. Prior research by Major et al. (2020) has similarly shown that weight stigma can heighten motivation to lose weight, yet simultaneously diminish perceived capability, leading to an increased likelihood of engaging in unhealthy weight-loss practices. That is, stigma may undermine self-control and perceived capability, making it challenging for individuals to restrain their eating impulses (Araiza & Wellman, 2017; Major et al., 2020). The findings suggest that weight stigma functions as a stressor, with experiences of weight-related stigma inducing psychological distress that may contribute to the adoption of emotional eating as a maladaptive coping strategy (Adam & Epel, 2007; Himmelstein et al., 2015, 2018). Additionally, the distress provoked by weight stigma appears to directly influence eating behaviors (Huang et al., 2022; O'Brien et al., 2016). Notably, the current study highlights the detrimental role of WRSS in inhibiting the perceived ability to avoid inappropriate eating behaviors. Researchers should be particularly attentive to the adverse impact of self-stigma on perceived behavioral control. Overall, this study provides valuable insights into eating behaviors and weight management, underscoring the need for healthcare practitioners to address both WRSS and perceived behavioral control, rather than solely focusing on modifying eating behaviors.

Contrary to the findings of several TPB studies (K. Chan et al., 2016; Dunn et al., 2011; Fan et al., 2021; Pickett et al., 2012), the SEM results in the present investigation revealed that attitude did not show a significant association with behavioral intention. Nevertheless, the correlation analysis indicated a positive relationship between them, which aligns with the fundamental premise of TPB. Similar patterns have been reported in previous research. For instance, studies on smoking cessation (H. Lee et al., 2006), healthy eating among university students (Plows et al., 2017), and weight loss programs have all found that attitude failed to predict intention (Gardner & Hausenblas, 2004). This suggests that the participants in the current study may not have been primarily motivated to avoid eating behaviors by their attitudes toward doing so. Instead, other factors, such as subjective norms and perceived behavioral control, appear to have played a more significant role in their intention.

Findings on the eating behaviors model from the current study aligned with previous research, demonstrating that subjective norm and perceived behavioral control were associated with behavioral intention (Lash et al., 2016; Leske et al., 2017; Nejad et al., 2004), and that higher levels of perceived behavioral control to avoid eating behaviors were negatively associated with the behaviors themselves. However, perceived behavioral control was not associated with cognitive restraint. One potential explanation is that cognitive restraint may necessitate additional knowledge or strategies beyond the participants' expectations. For instance, a study by Masterson et al. (2019) found that a high level of cognitive restraint was positively associated with health perception and faster decision-making compared to those with low cognitive restraint. Additionally, cognitive restraint could be counteracted by environmental distractions such as entertainment or social interaction (Bellisle & Dalix, 2001; Salvy et al., 2009).

Notably, the intention to avoid eating behaviors in this study did not translate to a reduction in eating behaviors. Specifically, the researcher did not observe a significant association between intention and uncontrolled eating (Figure 5); and surprisingly, the intention to avoid eating behaviors was found to be positively associated with increased engagement in eating behaviors (Figures 4 and 6). The discrepancy between intended and actual eating behaviors may be attributed to the "intention-behavior gap" phenomenon reported in prior research. Multiple studies have highlighted the existence of this gap in the context of

eating behaviors (Monds et al., 2016; Mullan et al., 2014; Reichenberger et al., 2019). Research has indicated a lack of significant association between one's intentions and their actual food consumption frequency (Lash et al., 2016). Reichenberger et al. (2019) proposed that the discrepancy between intention and behavior may be attributed to individuals' tendency to overestimate their own capabilities due to optimistic thoughts. Additionally, they noted that people often underestimate the daily obstacles they face, and identified factors such as stress, emotions, and personal traits like disinhibition as potential barriers that can exacerbate this intention-behavior gap (Reichenberger et al., 2019). Accordingly, further examination of any underlying factors could provide valuable insights into this intention-behavior discrepancy. On the other hand, research has indicated that fluctuations in one's intention over time may be associated with subsequent engagement in unhealthy snacking (Inauen et al., 2016). Therefore, the variability in the strength of intentions over time may represent an additional factor contributing to the well-documented discrepancy between intentions and actual behaviors. Moreover, these issues may be associated with WRSS, as individuals experiencing self-stigma have demonstrated diminished self-control (Araiza & Wellman, 2017). The detrimental impact of WRSS has been explored in more detail in the previous paragraph.

This study has several limitations. First, the cross-sectional design prevents the determination of causal relationships. Longitudinal investigations would be needed to confirm the temporal association of the proposed models. Second, the convenience sampling of young adults from university may limit the representativeness and generalizability of the findings. Future research should explore more diverse populations and cultural contexts. Third, the sole reliance on self-reported data raises the possibility of social desirability bias, which could compromise the accuracy of the results.

Two cross-sectional studies presented in the preceding and this chapter have indicated the influence of WRSS on PBC. In Chapter 5, a longitudinal study was undertaken to assess
their temporal relationships. Additionally, the relationships between PWS, WRSS, psychological distress, the two weight management behaviors, and BMI were also assessed.

Chapter 5 The Longitudinal Relationship Between Weight Stigma, Psychological Distress, and Weight Management Behaviors

5.1. Background

As shown in Chapters 3 and 4, the researcher conducted two cross-sectional studies to understand part of the relationships in my proposed model (Figure 1), that is, the relationship between weight stigma and weight management behaviors, and the researcher further identified an important variable, perceived behavioral control, interplay with the stigma and behaviors. The results from the studies above shed some light on the relationships (1) WRSS associated with perceived control, behavioral intention, and actual behavior on physical activity, and (2) WRSS associated with perceived control and behavioral intention on eating behaviors. In this Chapter, in order to achieve objectives 3 and 4, a longitudinal study was presented with a revised proposed model for this thesis based on the two completed studies and existing literature.

The findings in the previous two studies suggested that weight stigma might diminish perceived behavioral control on weight management behaviors. In addition, perceived weight stigma is another important variable that could be added to my model to have a better understanding of the whole process, from stigma formation to health-related behaviors. The perceived weight stigma refers to the experiences and perception of discrimination due to weight. Most importantly, it is considered a source of self-stigma (Tomiyama, 2019). The stage model of self-stigma on mental illness proposed by Corrigan and Rao (2012) could be applied to understand weight stigma. There are four stages included in their model, which are awareness, agreement, application, and harm. Awareness refers to people being aware of the negative beliefs, stereotypes, or stigmas that exist in public. Then, people may start to consider those thoughts as correct and apply them to themselves, which is the stage of agreement and application. After that, the application to themselves could harm them by reducing self-esteem

or self-efficacy. As a result of these stages, a "why try effect" could be elicited from the formation of self-stigma (Corrigan & Rao, 2012). Namely, this harm from self-stigma might become a barrier to people's performance. Therefore, this study adopted this stage model to understand the weight stigma process. Specifically, the model includes perceived weight stigma to represent awareness, weight-related self-stigma as agreement and application, and perceived behavioral control to represent harm. Building upon this model, the researcher incorporated it with the model that was originally proposed in the literature review (Chapter 2), i.e., adding psychological distress, weight management behaviors (physical activity and eating behaviors), and BMI (Figure 7). The current study employed different analyses for this conceptual model to model the process from stigma formation to BMI change and the potential bidirectional relationship between weight-related self-stigma and BMI. Specifically, the parallel-process latent growth curve model (PP-LGCM) was used to investigate the process from stigma formation to BMI change, focusing on the growth trajectories and how these trajectories interact over time; a random intercept cross-lagged panel model (RI-CLPM) was used to examine how changes in WRSS and BMI within an individual can predict changes in each other across different time points.

In this study, a one-year longitudinal study was conducted. It is hypothesized that perceived stigma is associated with self-stigma; self-stigma is associated with perceived behavioral control, psychological distress, and physical activity/eating behaviors; perceived behavioral control is associated with psychological distress and physical activity/eating behaviors; psychological distress is associated with physical activity/eating behaviors; WRSS and physical activity/eating behaviors are associated with the BMI. Further, it is hypothesized that WRSS and BMI are associated with each other at subsequent time points.

Figure 7

The Expanded Conceptual Model of Weight Stigma Process



5.2. Methods

5.2.1. Participants and Procedures

This is a longitudinal study conducted from March 2021 to June 2022. Ethical approval was obtained from the university's Ethics Review Board (HSEARS20201120002). It investigated perceived weight stigma, weight-related self-stigma, perceived behavioral control, psychological distress, and physical activity among young adults. Participants were initially recruited from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University using snowball sampling, where current participants were asked to share research information with others. Subsequent waves of online surveys were sent to participants via email and text messages to their mobile phones. Data collection occurred every four months. The baseline survey was conducted between March and June 2021. Wave 2 occurred between July and October 2021, Wave 3 from November 2021 to

February 2022, and Wave 4 from March to June 2022. For example, if a participant enrolled in March 2021, subsequent waves occurred in July 2021, November 2021, and March 2022. If a participant enrolled in June 2021, subsequent waves occurred in October 2021, February 2022, and June 2022. To maintain participation in this longitudinal study, HK\$50 incentives were given to participants who completed at least two of the waves; an additional HK\$200 was given to those who completed all.

In the initial wave, 350 individuals consented to join the first wave study. The study included participants aged 18 to 30 years old who were proficient in Traditional Chinese and consented to take part. Individuals were excluded if they self-reported having a neurological condition, functional impairment, or any psychotic disorder or intellectual disability that would make it difficult to complete the online surveys. Two of them were excluded because their age did not meet the inclusion criteria; another three participants were excluded as they provided invalid responses on physical activity, such as the time reported exceeding 16 hours per day, reported no activity but provided time, or reported having activity but zero minutes (Craig et al., 2003; International Physical Activity Questionnaire, 2005). Therefore, 345 valid participants were recruited in the first wave. In the second wave, 251 of these participants (72.8% follow-up rate) engaged in the follow-up study. The third wave had 232 of the original 345 (67.2% follow-up rate) completed, and in the fourth wave, 234 participants (67.8% followup rate) completed. Participants were prompted to complete several questionnaires via a QR code on the university's online survey platform. Before they could access the survey questions, electronic informed consent was secured by having participants select an "agree" icon, which was shown after the study details and participants' rights were presented. After clicking "Agree," they were taken to the questionnaire.

5.2.2. Measures

5.2.2.1. Demographic Data

Participants were asked to provide their demographic data, such as age and gender. Height and weight provided were subsequently used to calculate the BMI. Furthermore, with the consideration of the COVID-19 impacts on PA and eating, such as decreased level of PA, increased total food intake, and dietary change (C. Y. Chan & Chiu, 2022; Chew & Lopez, 2021; Wang et al., 2021), participants were asked whether they think COVID-19 impacted their level of PA and eating (i.e., more, same, or less) in the past months to serve as a covariate in the analysis (see 5.2.3. Data analysis).

5.2.2.2. Perceived Weight Stigma (PWS)

The Perceived Weight Stigma Scale (PWSS) is a self-report measure that evaluates the perceived experiences of weight-based stigmatization. It consists of ten dichotomous items, where a score of 0 denotes the absence and 1 denotes the presence of perceived stigmatized situation. An example item is "People treat you less politely than others because of your weight status." The total scores are calculated by summing all item responses, with higher scores indicating greater PWS. The Chinese version of the PWSS demonstrated adequate internal consistency, with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.84 (C.-Y. Lin et al., 2020). Additionally, the psychometric properties of the scale were further validated through confirmatory factor analysis, which demonstrated a unidimensional factor structure with satisfactory fit indices in a sample of participants from Hong Kong (C.-Y. Lin et al., 2020). In the current study, Cronbach's α for the PWS ranged from 0.82 – 0.88 from Time 1 to 4.

5.2.2.3. Weight-Related Self-Stigma (WRSS)

The Weight Bias Internalization Scale (WBIS) was utilized to assess participants' WRSS (Durso & Latner, 2008). This measure was subsequently adapted to be suitable for individuals across various weight statuses, including non-overweight and overweight

populations (Pearl & Puhl, 2014). This 11-item measure employed a 5-point rating scale, where higher scores reflected greater internalization of weight-related stigma. The Chinese version of the WBIS, which tailored its item descriptions to accommodate different weight statuses, has demonstrated satisfactory psychometric properties among both overweight and non-overweight individuals (Pakpour et al., 2019). As measured by Cronbach's α , the internal consistency for the WBIS ranged from 0.90 - 0.91 from Time 1 to 4 in this study, demonstrating excellent reliability in evaluating weight-related self-stigma. In addition, using the scores in Time 1, participants were categorized into low and high WRSS groups based on the suggested cutoff, i.e., the midpoint of the scale (Pearl et al., 2019).

5.2.2.4. Physical activity (PA)

The IPAQ used in Chapter 3 was also utilized in this study (Macfarlane et al., 2007). The IPAQ is a self-reported measure that evaluates the level of physical activity undertaken by participants over the past week (Craig et al., 2003). The IPAQ has demonstrated satisfactory test-retest reliability, with an intraclass correlation coefficient of 0.79 (Macfarlane et al., 2007).

5.2.2.5. Eating Behaviors

The TFEQ-R18 used in Chapter 4 was used again to assesses eating behaviors across three distinct dimensions: cognitive restraint, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating. The total scale and subscale's reliability in Cronbach's alpha ranged from 0.76 to 0.88 from Time 1 to 4, denoting high internal consistency for TFEQ-R18.

5.2.2.6. Perceived Behavioral Control of Physical Activity (PBC-PA)

The perceived behavioral control of physical activity was the same in Chapter 3. The scale's reliability in Cronbach's alpha ranged from 0.83 to 0.84 from Time 1 to 4, denoting high internal consistency for PBC-PA.

5.2.2.7. Perceived Behavioral Control of Avoiding Eating Behaviors (PBC-EB)

59

The perceived behavioral control of physical activity was the same in Chapter 4. The scale's reliability in Cronbach's alpha ranged from 0.86 to 0.90 from Time 1 to 4, denoting high internal consistency for PBC-EB.

5.2.2.8. Psychological Distress

The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) is a 14-item instrument developed to assess psychological distress, particularly anxiety and depression (Zigmond & Snaith, 1983). It comprises two subscales, each with seven items, and the cumulative scores indicate the level of distress, with higher scores reflecting greater psychological distress. The HADS has demonstrated satisfactory psychometric properties. A Chinese version of the HADS was utilized in this research to assess psychological distress among Chinese-speaking populations (Jiang et al., 2020). In the current study, Cronbach's α for the HADS ranged from 0.82 – 0.87 from Time 1 to 4.

5.2.3. Data analysis

Participant characteristics were analyzed using descriptive statistics. Scores of the questionnaires were calculated for the baseline and at each follow-up. Pearson correlations between PWS, WBIS, PBC-PA, PBC-EB, HADS, IPAQ, and TFEQ-R18 scores were computed across all four time points. Repeated measures analysis of covariance (RM-ANCOVA) was used to investigate whether there were significant differences in BMI, PWS, psychological distress, PA, three eating behaviors, PBC-PA, and PBC-EB, between low and high WRSS group, and between times, with the Greenhouse-Geisser corrections applied. The analysis included age and gender as covariates. Little's Missing Completed at Random (MCAR) test was used, and it was identified that the attrition did not have a pattern (Little, 1988): $\chi^2(df) = 216.62$ (197); p = 0.161 for the physical activity dataset; $\chi^2(df) = 250.83$ (234); p = 0.215 for the eating behaviors dataset.

To assess the longitudinal relationships between the variables, the parallel-process latent growth curve model (PP-LGCM) was used. The purpose of the analyses is to understand the trajectories between the variables over time. By fitting latent growth curves for each variable, initial status and growth rates (i.e., intercept and slope) could be estimated and the covariation between these processes can be examined.

5.2.3.1. PP-LGCM for Physical Activity

The model used four repeated measures of each variable to estimate the latent intercept (the estimated initial level) and latent slope (the estimated growth). Therefore, the model included latent intercepts and slopes for PWS, WRSS, PBC-PA, psychological distress, PA, and BMI (Figure 9). Specifically, the model estimated the effects of the latent intercept of PWS on the latent intercept of WRSS; the latent intercept of WRSS on the latent intercepts of PBC-PA, psychological distress, PA, and BMI; the latent intercept of PBC-PA on the latent intercepts of psychological distress and PA; the latent intercept of psychological distress on the latent intercept of PA; and the latent intercept of PA on the latent slope of WRSS on the latent slope of PBC-PA, psychological distress of the latent slope of PBC-PA, psychological distress, PA, and BMI; the latent slope of WRSS; the latent slope of PBC-PA on the latent slope of PBC-PA, on the latent slope of PBC-PA, psychological distress, PA, and BMI; the latent slope of WRSS on the latent slope of PBC-PA, psychological distress, PA, and BMI; the latent slope of PBC-PA on the latent slope of PBC-PA on the latent slope of PBC-PA, on the latent slope of PBC-PA, psychological distress and PA; the latent slope of PBC-PA on the latent slope of PBC-PA, on the latent slope of PBC-PA, and the latent slope of PA on the latent slope of PBC-PA on the latent slope of PBC-PA on the latent slope of PBC-PA in the latent slope of PA; and the latent slope of PA on the latent slope on BMI were estimated. In addition, age and gender were used as the time-invariant covariates, and the perceived impact of COVID-19 on PA in each wave was used as time-varying covariates for PA and PBC-PA in the model.

5.2.3.2. PP-LGCM for Avoiding Eating Behaviors

Another three models were proposed for the eating behaviors, i.e., cognitive restraints (Figure 10), emotional eating (Figure 11), and uncontrolled eating (Figure 12). Similarly, these models used four repeated measures of each variable to estimate the latent intercept and latent

slope. The relationships in the models were similar to the PA model, whereas the PBC-PA was replaced with PBC-EB, and the PA was replaced with the three eating behaviors. Age and gender were used as the time-invariant covariates, and the perceived impact of COVID-19 on eating in each wave was used as time-varying covariates for eating behaviors and PBC-EB in the models.

5.2.3.3. RI-CLPM for the Temporal Association Between WRSS and BMI

Moreover, since there is speculation on whether WRSS and weight form a positive feedback loop, a random intercept cross-lagged panel model (RI-CLPM) was conducted to investigate if preceding WRSS was associated with subsequent measures of BMI, and preceding BMI associated with subsequent measures of WRSS. The model accessed the temporal associations between WRSS and BMI from Time 1 to Time 4 (Figure 13).

The following indices were used to examine whether the PP-LGCMs and RI-CLPM were supported: CFI and TLI greater than 0.9, SRMR less than 0.08, and RMSEA less than 0.10 (Browne & Cudeck, 1992; Hu & Bentler, 1999; Kenny et al., 2015). Descriptive statistics, Pearson's correlation of demographic data and questionnaire scores, RM-ANCOVA were analyzed using SPSS 29.0.2 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). The PP-LGCM and RI-CLPM model was analyzed using R with the lavaan package (Rosseel, 2012). Maximum likelihood estimation with robust standard errors (MLR) was employed for the model, along with the use of full information maximum likelihood (FIML) imputation for missing data.

5.3. Results

5.3.1. *Descriptive Statistics*

At baseline, the participants' mean age was 22.94 years (SD = 3.33), and the BMI was 21.15 (SD = 3.22). There were 21.2% of participants who were overweight. Nearly two-thirds of the participants were females (n = 218; 63.2%). According to the WBIS score at Time 1, there were 101 participants categorized as high WRSS. Regarding the perceived impact of

COVID-19 on the level of PA, 62.6% of the participants reported performing less PA than before, 17.7% were performing more, and 19.7% reported the same. On the other hand, due to COVID-19, 28.4% of the participants reported they ate less than before, 26.4% were ate more, and 45.2% reported the same. For the follow-ups, ratios of male and female were similar at Time 2, Time 3, and Time 4, where the percentage of females were 63.6, 63.9, 65.0; the BMI at Time 2, Time 3, and Time 4 were M = 21.13, SD = 3.44; M = 21.32, SD = 3.34; and M =21.16, SD = 3.25 respectively. The detailed information is presented in Table 6.

Table 6

Demographic Information and Descriptive Statistics of the Questionnaires of the Participants Across the Time

	Time 1	Time 2	Time 3	Time 4
	(<i>N</i> = 345)	(n = 247-253)	(n = 228-233)	(<i>n</i> = 234-235)
Gender, <i>n</i> (%)				
Male	127 (36.8)	92 (36.4)	84 (36.1)	82 (35.0)
Female	218 (63.2)	161 (63.6)	149 (63.9)	152 (65.0)
Age (years), M (SD)	22.94 (3.33)	23.07 (3.34)	23.45 (3.35)	23.87 (3.40)
Weight (kg), M (SD)	57.93 (11.61)	57.67 (11.61)	58.06 (11.68)	57.47 (11.35)
Body Mass Index, M (SD)	21.15 (3.22)	21.13 (3.44)	21.32 (3.34)	21.16 (3.25)
Weight group, n (%)				
Non-overweight	272 (78.8)	197 (77.9)	176 (75.9)	182 (77.8)
Overweight	73 (21.2)	56 (22.1)	56 (24.1)	52 (22.2)
Perceived Weight Stigma, M (SD)	1.24 (2.00)	1.29 (2.07)	1.13 (2.07)	1.06 (2.12)

Weight Bias Internalization Scale, M (SD)	27.07 (8.45)	26.84 (8.11)	26.60 (8.25)	26.64 (8.00)
Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS), M (SD)	13.14 (6.03)	12.53 (5.94)	12.26 (6.52)	12.94 (6.74)
Perceived behavioral control toward PA, M (SD)	4.64 (1.31)	4.48 (1.26)	4.54 (1.21)	4.47 (1.21)
International Physical Activity Questionnaire, M (SD)	1955.49 (2442.70)	2495.21 (2600.13)	2250.01 (3137.30)	2205.66 (2882.06)
Perceived behavioral control toward avoiding EB, M (SD)	5.17 (1.21)	5.09 (1.28)	5.23 (1.13)	5.24 (1.23)
Three–Factor Eating Questionnaire–Revised 18–item				
version, M (SD)				
Cognitive restraint	43.67 (19.28)	44.02 (18.93)	44.37 (16.72)	43.40 (17.13)
Uncontrolled eating	37.21 (17.86)	35.76 (17.95)	34.83 (18.58)	33.54 (18.01)
Emotional eating	42.25 (25.07)	40.74 (24.11)	41.30 (25.46)	40.22 (24.61)
Perceived impact of COVID-19 on PA, n (%)				
More PA	61 (17.7)	44 (17.8)	22 (9.6)	37 (15.8)
Same	68 (19.7)	121 (49.0)	107 (46.9)	52 (22.2)

	Less PA	216 (62.6)	82 (33.2)	99 (43.4)	145 (62.0)
Percei	ved impact of COVID-19 on Eating, <i>n</i> (%)				
	More eating	91 (26.4)	36 (14.6)	44 (19.3)	67 (28.6)
	Same	156 (45.2)	170 (68.8)	154 (67.5)	111 (47.4)
	Less eating	98 (28.4)	41 (16.6)	30 (13.2)	56 (23.9)

Note. PA = physical activity; EB = eating behaviors.

Figures 7 and 8 show the correlation between variables. In general, both PWS and WRSS positively correlated with psychological distress; WRSS negatively correlated with both the PBC-PA and PBC-EB. PBC-PA was positively correlated with psychological distress and the level of physical activity. PBC-EB was negatively correlated with uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating, and positively correlated with cognitive restraint.

Table 7

Correlation Between Perceived Weight Stigma, Weight-Related Self-Stigma, Psychological Distress, Perceived Behavioral Control for Physical

Activity, and Physical Activity

							r					
Variables	PWS1	PWS2	PWS3	PWS4	WRSS1	WRSS2	WRSS3	WRSS4	HADS1	HADS2	HADS3	HADS4
PWS1												
PWS2	0.53***											
PWS3	0.50***	0.73***										
PWS4	0.59***	0.70***	0.69***									
WRSS1	0.48***	0.36***	0.35***	0.39***								
WRSS2	0.44***	0.43***	0.43***	0.44***	0.80***							
WRSS3	0.44***	0.41***	0.46***	0.49***	0.78***	0.82***						
WRSS4	0.43***	0.44***	0.43***	0.50***	0.76***	0.79***	0.82***					
HADS1	0.33***	0.34***	0.34***	0.36***	0.28***	0.25***	0.37***	0.37***				
HADS2	0.29***	0.39***	0.34***	0.36***	0.24***	0.27***	0.36***	0.35***	0.68***			
HADS3	0.26***	0.37***	0.39***	0.39***	0.31***	0.32***	0.47***	0.41***	0.70***	0.76***		

HADS4	0.31***	0.34***	0.34***	0.40***	0.23***	0.19**	0.31***	0.36***	0.69***	0.72***	0.77***	
PBC-PA1	-0.01	-0.09	-0.04	-0.02	-0.17**	-0.15*	-0.10	-0.12	-0.20***	-0.21***	-0.17**	-0.07
PBC-PA2	-0.05	-0.12	-0.11	-0.13	-0.18**	-0.18**	-0.17*	-0.14*	-0.25***	-0.22***	-0.21**	-0.13
PBC-PA3	-0.03	-0.06	-0.09	-0.14*	-0.24**	* -0.25***	-0.23***	-0.20**	-0.20**	-0.17**	-0.23***	-0.15*
PBC-PA4	0.001	-0.19**	-0.19**	-0.16*	-0.17*	-0.21**	-0.20**	-0.18**	-0.24***	-0.26***	-0.23***	-0.25***
PA1	0.17**	0.06	0.03	0.07	0.05	0.003	0.06	0.03	-0.05	-0.04	0.02	0.05
PA2	0.07	0.09	-0.02	-0.08	0.03	-0.01	0.03	-0.05	-0.09	-0.09	-0.09	-0.11
PA3	0.02	0.04	-0.09	-0.09	0.05	-0.01	0.03	-0.02	0.004	-0.05	-0.08	-0.03
PA4	-0.03	0.12	0.06	-0.04	0.02	-0.02	0.02	0.01	-0.01	-0.05	0.03	-0.06
Cont'd												
							r					
Variables	PBC-P	PA1 P	BC-PA2	PBC-PA	A3 I	PBC-PA4	PA1	PA	2	PA3	PA4	Ļ
PBC-PA1												
PBC-PA2	0.63**	*										
PBC-PA3	0.63**	* 0	.61***									

PBC-PA4	0.50***	0.62***	0.66***					
PA1	0.33***	0.34***	0.29***	0.20**				
PA2	0.13*	0.13*	0.16*	0.09	0.39***			
PA3	0.25***	0.23***	0.31***	0.26***	0.30***	0.36***		
PA4	0.08	0.11	0.08	0.16*	0.26***	0.52***	0.28***	

Note. PWS = perceived weight stigma; WRSS = weight-related self-stigma; HADS = psychological distress; PA = physical activity; PBC-PA = perceived behavioral control for physical activity. The numbers (1 to 4) that follow the variable name indicate the variable at Time 1 to 4. * p <

0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001.

Table 8

Correlation Between Perceived Weight Stigma, Weight-Related Self-Stigma, Psychological Distress, Perceived Behavioral Control for Avoiding

Eating Behaviors, and The Three Eating Behaviors

							r					
Variables	PWS1	PWS2	PWS3	PWS4	WRSS1	WRSS2	WRSS3	WRSS4	HADS1	HADS2	HADS3	HADS4
PBC-EB1	-0.16**	-0.06	-0.11	-0.16*	-0.25***	-0.17**	-0.29***	-0.29***	-0.27***	-0.21***	-0.25***	-0.32***
PBC-EB2	-0.07	-0.13*	-0.04	-0.12	-0.26***	-0.23***	-0.26***	-0.26***	-0.23***	-0.25***	-0.21**	-0.23***
PBC-EB3	-0.07	-0.12	-0.12	-0.18**	-0.26***	-0.22**	-0.28***	-0.25***	-0.17**	-0.18**	-0.24***	-0.27***
PBC-EB4	-0.13*	-0.15*	-0.15*	-0.25***	-0.26***	-0.19**	-0.27***	-0.31***	-0.29***	-0.27***	-0.24***	-0.34***
CR1	0.17**	0.06	0.02	0.007	0.27***	0.19**	0.20**	0.16*	0.06	-0.02	0.02	0.03
CR2	0.07	0.14*	0.09	0.06	0.22***	0.28***	0.23***	0.18**	-0.07	-0.003	0.03	-0.008
CR3	0.05	0.06	0.02	-0.04	0.20**	0.17*	0.21**	0.14*	-0.03	-0.02	-0.009	-0.05
CR4	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.02	0.23***	0.26***	0.22**	0.25***	0.02	0.02	0.08	0.06
UE1	0.21***	0.16*	0.20**	0.17*	0.30***	0.24***	0.29***	0.28***	0.25***	0.26***	0.25***	0.32***
UE2	0.26***	0.23***	0.23***	0.28***	0.30***	0.31***	0.38***	0.34***	0.24***	0.30***	0.25***	0.27***
UE3	0.28***	0.20**	0.21**	0.26***	0.39***	0.34***	0.43***	0.39***	0.24***	0.25***	0.30***	0.31***

70

Cont [°] d								
					r			
Variables	PBC-EB1	PBC-EB2	PBC-EB3	PBC-EB4	CR1	CR2	CR3	CR4
PBC-EB1								
PBC-EB2	0.54***							
PBC-EB3	0.53***	0.57***						
PBC-EB4	0.58***	0.62***	0.62***					
CR1	0.12*	0.10	0.03	0.12				
CR2	0.19**	0.16*	0.03	0.20**	0.76***			
CR3	0.17**	0.19**	0.08	0.14*	0.72***	0.73***		

Cont'd

UE4	0.25***	0.14*	0.18**	0.19**	0.38***	0.34***	0.40***	0.42***	0.25***	0.26***	0.25***	0.34***
EE1	0.21***	0.19**	0.26***	0.16*	0.31***	0.28***	0.29***	0.28***	0.19***	0.15*	0.19**	0.22***
EE2	0.21***	0.20**	0.20**	0.20**	0.25***	0.32***	0.28***	0.27***	0.15*	0.20**	0.19**	0.14*
EE3	0.17*	0.18**	0.20**	0.17*	0.41***	0.34***	0.39***	0.36***	0.15*	0.11	0.21**	0.16*
EE4	0.17*	0.17*	0.23***	0.16*	0.26***	0.27***	0.32***	0.33***	0.21**	0.15*	0.20**	0.28***

CR4	0.07	0.11	0.009	0.10	0.64***	0.70***	0.69***	
UE1	-0.38***	-0.27***	-0.34***	-0.42***	0.006	-0.06	0.002	0.05
UE2	-0.30***	-0.28***	-0.29***	-0.37***	0.03	-0.006	-0.02	-0.04
UE3	-0.40***	-0.31***	-0.45***	-0.40***	0.001	-0.01	-0.002	-0.01
UE4	-0.37***	-0.32***	-0.36***	-0.44***	0.05	-0.002	0.03	0.09
EE1	-0.32***	-0.21**	-0.30***	-0.36***	0.03	-0.06	-0.07	0.02
EE2	-0.26***	-0.21***	-0.25***	-0.27***	0.08	0.04	0.01	-0.05
EE3	-0.33***	-0.20**	-0.34***	-0.28***	0.07	0.03	0.05	0.04
EE4	-0.30***	-0.21**	-0.22**	-0.39***	0.03	-0.01	-0.02	0.11
Cont'd								
				r				
Variables UE	l UE	2 UE	U3 U1	E4 E	E1	EE2	EE3	EE4
CR1								
CR2								
CR3								

UE1								
UE2	0.71***							
UE3	0.71***	0.76***						
UE4	0.71***	0.73***	0.77***					
EE1	0.60***	0.50***	0.51***	0.58***				
EE2	0.48***	0.67***	0.55***	0.51***	0.68***			
EE3	0.46***	0.54***	0.68***	0.54***	0.69***	0.70***		
EE4	0.40***	0.44***	0.47***	0.66***	0.68***	0.60***	0.68***	

CR4

Note. PWS = perceived weight stigma; WRSS = weight-related self-stigma; HADS = psychological distress; PBC-EB = perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors; CR = cognitive restraint; UE = uncontrolled eating; EE = emotional eating. The numbers (1 to 4) that follow the variable name indicate the variable at Time 1 to 4. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001.

5.3.2. Differences between Low and High WRSS groups

The results from the RM-ANCOVA were presented in Figure 8 and Table 9. The main effect of time was not significant on all variables, indicating that variables including BMI, PWS, psychological distress, PBC-PA, PBC-EB, PA, cognitive restraint, emotional eating, and uncontrolled eating did not change significantly across the four time points.

The main effect of the WRSS group was significant on BMI, F(1, 204) = 31.58, p < 0.001; PWS, F(1, 204) = 29.48, p < 0.001; psychological distress, F(1, 204) = 13.55, p < 0.001; PBC-PA, F(1, 204) = 5.51, p = 0.020; PBC-EB, F(1, 204) = 10.09, p = 0.002; emotional eating, F(1, 204) = 12.84, p < 0.001; and uncontrolled eating, F(1, 204) = 17.09, p < 0.001.

Emotional eating showed a significant interaction between the WRSS group and time, F(2.90, 590.77) = 3.04, p = 0.030. This interaction suggests that the change in emotional eating over time differed between the low and high WRSS groups. However, post hoc analysis with the Bonferroni adjustment revealed no significant difference between any pair of the time points.

The results suggest that while the studied variables were stable over time, BMI, PWS, psychological distress, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating in the high WRSS group were consistently higher than the low WRSS group, and PBC-PA and PBC-EB were consistently lower than the low WRSS group.

Figure 8



Differences Between Low and High WRSS Groups over Time

Note. BMI = Body Mass Index; PWS = perceived weight stigma; WRSS = weight-related selfstigma; HADS = psychological distress; IPAQ = physical activity; PBC-PA = perceived behavioral control for physical activity; PBC-EB = perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors; CR = cognitive restraint; UE = uncontrolled eating; EE = emotional eating.

Table 9

Parameter	Factor	SS	df	MS	F	р
BMI	Between-subjects	a				
	WRSS	988.29	1	988.29	31.58	< 0.001
	Gender	511.09	1	511.09	16.33	< 0.001
	Age	416.77	1	416.77	13.32	< 0.001
	Error	6384.12	204	31.30		
	Within-subjects					
	Time	2.00	2.62	0.76	1.15	0.325
	Time*WRSS	6.87	2.62	2.62	3.96	0.011
	Time*Gender	0.39	2.62	0.15	0.23	0.854
	Time*Age	1.90	2.62	0.72	1.09	0.347
	Error	354.02	535.39	0.66		

Results of the RM-ANCOVA on the Studied Variables Between Low and High WRSS Groups

Between-subjects ^a PWS

WRSS	299.79	1	299.79	29.48	< 0.001
Gender	0.12	1	0.12	0.01	0.915
Age	37.40	1	37.40	3.68	0.057
Error	2074.74	204	10.17		
Within-subjects					
Time	2.06	2.77	0.74	0.45	0.701
Time*WRSS	4.11	2.77	1.48	0.90	0.434
Time*Gender	1.73	2.77	0.63	0.38	0.752
Time*Age	2.49	2.77	0.90	0.55	0.637
Error	930.73	565.00	1.65		
Between-subjects ^a					
WRSS	1652.42	1	1652.42	13.55	< 0.001
Gender	313.52	1	313.52	2.57	0.110
Age	9.22	1	9.22	0.08	0.784
Error	24883.87	204	121.98	24883.87	

HADS

Within-subjects

Time	2.28	2.94	0.78	0.07	0.975
Time*WRSS	73.89	2.94	25.15	2.23	0.085
Time*Gender	26.71	2.94	9.09	0.80	0.489
Time*Age	1.78	2.94	0.61	0.05	0.982
Error	6769.10	599.29	11.30		

Between-subjects ^a

WRSS	26208.34	1	26208.34	0.002	0.965
Gender	2800994.34	1	2800994.34	0.21	0.651
Age	27058851.23	1	27058851.23	1.99	0.160
Error	2739547818.18	201	13629591.14		
Within-subjects					
Time	19153420.16	2.66	7196538.90	1.32	0.267
Time*WRSS	6424896.08	2.66	2414034.37	0.44	0.698
Time*Gender	10285419.22	2.66	3864553.64	0.71	0.529

	Time*Age	21151797.86	2.66	7947391.90	1.46	0.227
	Error	2905928467.89	534.96	5432080.58		
PBC-PA	Between-subjects ^a					
	WRSS	23.02	1	23.02	5.51	0.020
	Gender	20.07	1	20.07	4.80	0.030
	Age	8.72	1	8.72	2.08	0.150
	Error	852.94	204	4.18		
	Within-subjects					
	Time	0.75	2.88	0.26	0.40	0.743
	Time*WRSS	0.16	2.88	0.05	0.08	0.965
	Time*Gender	5.11	2.88	1.78	2.76	0.044
	Time*Age	1.29	2.88	0.45	0.70	0.549
	Error	378.47	586.79	0.64		

Cognitive

Between-subjects ^a

restraint

	WRSS	1212.88	1	1212.88	1.26	0.264
	Gender	485.49	1	485.49	0.50	0.479
	Age	63.55	1	63.55	0.07	0.798
	Error	196825.48	204	964.83		
	Within-subjects					
	Time	15.31	2.89	5.29	0.05	0.982
	Time*WRSS	126.23	2.89	43.64	0.44	0.718
	Time*Gender	92.11	2.89	31.84	0.32	0.803
	Time*Age	28.40	2.89	9.82	0.10	0.957
	Error	58569.86	590.14	99.25		
Emotional eating	Between-subjects ^a					
	WRSS	21568.66	1	21568.66	12.84	< 0.001
	Gender	12640.89	1	12640.89	7.53	0.007

Age	731.50	1	731.50	0.44	0.510
Error	342667.64	204	1679.74		
Within-subjects					
Time	225.45	2.90	77.85	0.36	0.772
Time*WRSS	1883.87	2.90	650.53	3.04	0.030
Time*Gender	94.00	2.90	32.46	0.15	0.923
Time*Age	352.75	2.90	121.81	0.57	0.629
Error	126345.01	590.77	213.87		
Between-subjects ^a					
WRSS	16739.90	1	16739.90	17.09	< 0.001
Gender	571.58	1	571.58	0.58	0.446
Age	1770.13	1	1770.13	1.81	0.180
Error	199844.63	204	979.63		

Within-subjects

Uncontrolled

eating

	Time	105.09	2.92	36.01	0.38	0.760
	Time*WRSS	76.70	2.92	26.28	0.28	0.835
	Time*Gender	218.75	2.92	74.95	0.80	0.493
	Time*Age	100.31	2.92	34.37	0.37	0.772
	Error	55958.43	595.41	93.98		
PBC-EB	Between-subjects ^a					
	WRSS	37.72	1	37.72	10.09	0.002
	Gender	0.49	1	0.49	0.13	0.719
	Age	3.99	1	3.99	1.07	0.303
	Error	762.55	204	3.74		
	Within-subjects					
	Time	0.68	2.96	0.23	0.36	0.781
	Time*WRSS	2.70	2.96	0.91	1.42	0.237
	Time*Gender	0.03	2.96	0.01	0.02	0.996
	Time*Age	0.49	2.96	0.16	0.26	0.854

Note. BMI = Body Mass Index; PWS = perceived weight stigma; WRSS = weight-related self-stigma; HADS = psychological distress; PA = physical activity; PBC-PA = perceived behavioral control for physical activity; PBC-EB = perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors. ^a Greenhouse-Geisser corrections applied.

5.3.3. Model Fit of the PP-LGCM for PA

The parallel process latent growth curve model for the physical activity showed an acceptable fit to the data (Figure 9). The χ^2 was 478.94 (df = 367, p < .001), the RMSEA was 0.038, the CFI and TLI were 0.97, and the SRMR was 0.068, which indicated an acceptable fit.

For the path coefficients, the intercept (i.e., the initial level) of perceived stigma was significantly associated with the intercept of WRSS (standardized coefficient = 0.57; p < 0.001); the intercept of WRSS was significantly associated with the intercept of PBC-PA (standardized coefficient = -0.22; p = 0.001), psychological distress (standardized coefficient = 0.40; p < 0.001), PA (standardized coefficient = 0.21; p = 0.040), and BMI (standardized coefficient = 0.47; p < 0.001); the intercept of PBC-PA was significantly associated with the intercept of psychological distress (standardized coefficient = -0.28; p = 0.001), PA (standardized coefficient = -0.28; p = 0.001), PA (standardized coefficient = -0.28; p = 0.001), PA (standardized coefficient = 0.63; p < 0.001); the intercept of PA was not significantly associated with the intercept of BMI (p = 0.122).

Furthermore, the slope (i.e., the growth) of PWS was associated with the slope of the WRSS (standardized coefficient = 0.60; p = 0.021). The slope of WRSS (standardized coefficient = 0.68; p = 0.005) and the PBC-PA (standardized coefficient = -0.57; p = 0.005) were significantly associated with the slope of psychological distress. In other words, the temporal associations were only found in the relationship between PWS and WRSS, between WRSS and psychological distress, and between PBC-PA and psychological distress. There was no rate of change in any variables associated with the rate of change in BMI.

Figure 9





Note. BMI = Body Mass Index; PWS = perceived weight stigma; WRSS = weight-related selfstigma; HADS = psychological distress; PA = physical activity; PBC = perceived behavioral control for physical activity; T1 = Time 1; T2 = Time 2; T3 = Time; T4 = Time 4. The upper

part of the figure illustrates each pair of the latent intercept (I) and latent slope (S) of the variables, the lower part illustrates the parallel process between latent variables. All path coefficients presented are standardized coefficients. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001.

5.3.4. Model Fit of the PP-LGCM for the Three Eating Behaviors

All of the three eating models (Figure 10, Figure 11, and Figure 12) had acceptable fit with the RMSEA ranged from 0.042 to 0.047, CFI ranged from 0.96 to 0.97, TLI ranged from 0.95 to 0.96, SRMR ranged from 0.075 to 0.076. However, a Heywood case occurred in the model of cognitive restraint where a standardized coefficient was greater than 1 in the latent intercept of cognitive restraint. Therefore, only the models of uncontrolled eating and emotional eating should be considered as supported.

For the path coefficients of uncontrolled eating model, the intercept of perceived stigma was significantly associated with the intercept of self-stigma (standardized coefficient = 0.58; p < 0.001); the intercept of self-stigma was significantly associated with the intercept of PBC (standardized coefficient = -0.35; p < 0.001), psychological distress (standardized coefficient = 0.39; p < 0.001), uncontrolled eating (standardized coefficient = 0.19; p = 0.016), and BMI (standardized coefficient = 0.51; p < 0.001); the intercept of PBC was significantly associated with the intercept of psychological distress (standardized coefficient = -0.25; p = 0.010) and uncontrolled eating (standardized coefficient = -0.39; p < 0.001). Furthermore, the growth rate of perceived stigma was significantly associated with the growth rate of self-stigma (standardized coefficient = 0.57; p = 0.017); the growth of self-stigma was significantly associated with the growth of psychological distress (standardized coefficient = 0.90; p = 0.003).

For the path coefficients of emotional eating model, the intercept of perceived stigma was significantly associated with the intercept of self-stigma (standardized coefficient = 0.57; p < 0.001); the intercept of self-stigma was significantly associated with the intercept of PBC (standardized coefficient = -0.34; p < 0.001), psychological distress (standardized coefficient = 0.37; p < 0.001), emotional eating (standardized coefficient = 0.23; p = 0.005), and BMI (standardized coefficient = 0.47; p < 0.001); the intercept of PBC was significantly associated

with the intercept of psychological distress (standardized coefficient = -0.25; p = 0.009) and emotional eating (standardized coefficient = -0.36; p < 0.001). Furthermore, the growth of perceived stigma was significantly associated with the growth of self-stigma (standardized coefficient = 0.56; p = 0.021); the growth of self-stigma was significantly associated with the growth of psychological distress (standardized coefficient = 0.92; p = 0.009).
Figure 10





Note. BMI = Body Mass Index; PWS = perceived weight stigma; WRSS = weight-related selfstigma; HADS = psychological distress; PBC = perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors; CR = cognitive restraint; T1 = Time 1; T2 = Time 2; T3 = Time; T4 = Time

4. The upper part of the figure illustrates each pair of the latent intercept (I) and latent slope (S) of the variables, the lower part illustrates the parallel process between latent variables. All path coefficients presented are standardized coefficients. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001.

Figure 11





Note. BMI = Body Mass Index; PWS = perceived weight stigma; WRSS = weight-related selfstigma; HADS = psychological distress; PBC = perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors; UE = uncontrolled eating; T1 = Time 1; T2 = Time 2; T3 = Time; T4 = Time

4. The upper part of the figure illustrates each pair of the latent intercept (I) and latent slope (S) of the variables, the lower part illustrates the parallel process between latent variables. All path coefficients presented are standardized coefficients. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001.

Figure 12





Note. BMI = Body Mass Index; PWS = perceived weight stigma; WRSS = weight-related selfstigma; HADS = psychological distress; PBC = perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors; EE = emotional eating; T1 = Time 1; T2 = Time 2; T3 = Time; T4 = Time 4.

The upper part of the figure illustrates each pair of the latent intercept (I) and latent slope (S) of the variables, the lower part illustrates the parallel process between latent variables. All path coefficients presented are standardized coefficients. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01. *** p < 0.001.

5.3.5. Model Fit of the RI-CLPM on the Relationship Between WRSS and BMI

The proposed RI-CLPM (Figure 13) had acceptable fits (CFI = 0.97, TLI = 0.96, RMSEA = 0.083, and SRMR = 0.024). There were significant associations between preceding WRSS and subsequent BMI from Time 1 to Time 2 (standardized coefficient = -0.14; p = 0.032), Time 2 to Time 3 (standardized coefficient = -0.11; p = 0.032), and Time 3 to Time 4 (standardized coefficient = -0.11; p = 0.032). However, no significant associations were found between preceding BMI and subsequent WRSS, from Time 1 to Time 2 (standardized coefficient = -0.01; p = 0.806), Time 2 to Time 3 (standardized coefficient = -0.02; p = 0.806), and Time 3 to Time 4 (standardized coefficient = -0.02; p = 0.806). In other words, the model suggested that while higher WRSS contributed to a lower subsequent BMI, the BMI did not affect the subsequent WRSS.

Figure 13





Note. WRSS = weight-related self-stigma; BMI = Body Mass Index; T1 = Time 1; T2 = Time 2; T3 = Time; T4 = Time 4. * p < 0.05. ** p < 0.01.

5.4. Discussion

The present study attempted to investigate the temporal associations between perceived stigma, self-stigma, PBC, psychological distress, PA, and BMI, by using the one-year longitudinal data collected (i.e., Objective 3 of this thesis). RM-ANCOVA suggested that there

were no significant differences between time points. However, the high WRSS group consistently suffered from more significant issues with BMI, PWS, psychological distress, PBC for PA, PBC for avoiding eating behaviors, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating. With the analysis of PP-LGCM, this study significantly identified most of the proposed relationships between the initial level of the variables; however, for the growth rate of the variables, only the relationships between perceived stigma, self-stigma, PBC, and psychological distress were found. In this regard, the study contributes to understanding the relationships between the changes in perceived stigma and self-stigma, between the changes in PBC (avoiding eating behavior) and self-stigma, and between the changes in self-stigma and psychological distress among young adults. Furthermore, to achieve Objective 4 of this thesis, RI-CLPM was performed. The results from RI-CLPM indicated that WRSS was negatively associated with future BMI, but BMI was not associated with future WRSS. In this regard, no feedback loop was found in the current study.

5.4.1. Temporal Associations Between PWS and WRSS

Regarding the temporal associations between perceived stigma and self-stigma, the results found in the current study are consistent with the existing literature. For instance, a three-month longitudinal study in Taiwan found that the changes in perceived weight stigma was associated with the changes in internalized weight stigma among university students (Y.-C. Lin et al., 2023). The significant association in the current one-year study from a Hong Kong adult sample continues to indicate that as people are aware they are being stigmatized, they are very likely to agree and turn their thoughts into their own, hence producing self-stigma (Corrigan & Rao, 2012; Puhl & Heuer, 2009). In other words, the results are consistent with the speculation that perceived stigma modifies people's point of view and justifies the discrimination (Major et al., 2018). This finding underscores the importance of addressing attitudes and stereotypes from society to prevent this internalization process.

5.4.2. Temporal Associations Between WRSS and Psychological Distress

Furthermore, there is also a significant longitudinal relationship between weight selfstigma and psychological distress, which includes depression and anxiety in the measure. Existing literature has suggested that people who experience weight self-stigma often suffer from psychological issues such as depression and anxiety (Huang et al., 2022). A meta-analysis indicated that there were not many longitudinal studies on weight self-stigma and psychological distress (Alimoradi et al., 2020). The current study adds further support to this relationship. This relationship can be explained by the fact that weight self-stigma leads to a negative self-perception and feelings of worthlessness, which may lead to or worsen mental health issues. However, future studies should investigate any factor that contributes to the nonsignificant temporal association between perceived behavioral control and psychological distress in this study.

5.4.3. Temporal Associations Between WRSS and PBC

Another significant longitudinal association is the relationship between weight selfstigma and perceived behavioral control. Results in the current study suggested that a higher weight self-stigma leads to a lower sense of being capable of controlling their behavior. This relationship is not only evident cross-sectionally but also longitudinally, where persistent weight self-stigma over time is associated with continued low perceived behavioral control. This relationship suggests that weight self-stigma influences one's confidence in making positive health-related behavioral changes. It is in accordance with a cross-sectional study in the US, where weight self-stigma was associated with self-efficacy in managing eating (Pearl et al., 2020). Furthermore, weight self-stigma can undermine self-control through the elevation of perceived threats and uncertainty (Duckworth et al., 2013). This impairment affects a range of different dimensions of self-control, such as attentional, behavioral, and emotional impulses. In particular, the perception of devaluation from self-stigma is uncontrollable, which might further worsen these effects, leading to a decrease in perceived behavioral control (Duckworth et al., 2013). Results of the current study further support this association where weight selfstigma is consistently linked to decreased perceived behavioral control. In addition, national research with a 20-year follow-up from the United States indicated that there were significant decreases in overall and general perceived control among young adults compared to middle age (Cerino et al., 2024). Further, the perceived daily control (i.e., dealing with specific daily life activities and stressors) suffered from more significant declines than the overall perceived control (Cerino et al., 2024). Therefore, along with my study results, evidence illustrates that there is a need to address the problem of declined perceived behavioral control caused by self-stigma among young adults. Future studies could investigate, for example, whether weight stigma reduction programs can help resume the perceived control of weight management behaviors.

5.4.4. Insignificance of the Bidirectional Association Between WRSS and BMI

Recently, some studies published within a year have also attempted to investigate the longitudinal relationship between weight stigma and weight changes, e.g., two observational studies (K. M. Lee et al., 2024; Y.-C. Lin et al., 2023) and one intervention study (Sheynblyum et al., 2024).

For instance, a study by Lin et al. (2023) focuses on college students in Taiwan, revealing a significant association between WRSS and BMI. Their longitudinal data showed that an increase in WRSS was associated with an increase in BMI, suggesting that stigma not only affects psychological well-being but also has a physiological impact. However, the authors also noted that one of the study's limitations was the three-month study period, and they suggested that longitudinal effects should be examined over longer time frames in future studies (Y.-C. Lin et al., 2023). The current study with a 1-year time frame, instead, found the opposite result. The result from RI-CLPM suggested a negative association between WRSS

and BMI in the subsequent measures. Namely, a higher level of WRSS results in a lower BMI, or a lower level of WRSS results in a higher BMI. This result challenges the commonly held belief that a higher level of weight stigma contributes to higher weight. The results of the current may not capture the full picture, as there could be other factors not examined that potentially influence or elucidate the negative association between weight-related stigma and weight changes. Future studies should explore the underlying factors that may have contributed to this situation.

Lee et al. (2024) investigate how weight stigma functions as a stressor, contributing to a cycle of adverse health outcomes. Their one-year longitudinal study involved 348 individuals with higher weight in the United States. The findings revealed that weight stigma was significantly associated with increased perceived stress and comfort eating behaviors. Although comfort eating did not predict weight changes over the subsequent four-month periods, they found that weight was associated with greater daily experience of weight stigma over the subsequent four-month periods (K. M. Lee et al., 2024). Consistent with their study, results from PP-LGCM in the current study did not find significant longitudinal relationships between eating behaviors (including emotional eating and uncontrolled eating) and BMI. This might be due to the fact that a one-year study with four time points is still not long enough to observe the weight changes. On the other hand, a significant association between weight and subsequent weight stigma, though it was a relatively weak association, was found by Lee et al. (2024). However, the current study failed to find a significant relationship, which may be due to the measure of different types of weight stigma. Lee et al. (2024) studied the daily experienced weight stigma, whereas my study measured WRSS, which is the internalization of stigma. Again, the time could be matters. It is possible that WRSS requires additional time for the process of internalization. Hence, the changes are difficult to detect in the current study time frame, suggesting the need for longer-term longitudinal research to better understand the relationship between weight stigma internalization and its consequences. On the other hand, it might also be possible that the level of WRSS might not increase further, indicating a static relationship.

Sheynblyum et al. (2024) examined the longitudinal effects of WRSS on physical activity and weight changes in a 72-week behavioral weight loss intervention. Their findings indicated that a greater reduction in WRSS was associated with greater weight loss in the future. Furthermore, they found that physical activity did not mediate the relationship between WRSS and weight changes (Sheynblyum et al., 2024), which is similar to the current study regarding the non-significant longitudinal relationship between physical activity and BMI. This suggested that other factors may influence the relationship between weight stigma, weight management behaviors, and weight changes. The lack of a significant relationship may also stem from various external influences, such as environmental and social factors that potentially exert a more substantial impact on individuals' motivation, social support, access to resources, and time allocation towards daily commitments, all of which could influence their willingness and opportunity to engage in physical activity (Herazo-Beltrán et al., 2017; Koh et al., 2022). The study by Sheynblyum et al. (2024) did not examine the relationship between weight change and subsequent weight stigma. Nevertheless, research on weight or stigma reduction programs appears to be a suitable approach for investigating this bidirectional relationship. Since both weight and stigma changes can be gradual, reduction programs might facilitate the study of these dynamics over time.

One of the potential factors that might have contributed to the insignificant results of the longitudinal relationships could be the local situation of COVID-19 in Hong Kong during the data collection period because of the changes in eating habits and physical activities (Wang et al., 2021). Notably, in that one year, Hong Kong had gone through the fourth to fifth wave (the most severe wave) of the epidemic (S.-C. Wong et al., 2022). Due to the situation, Hong

Kong has faced numerous rapid changes in terms of the seriousness of the epidemic, accompanied by preventive measures, including social distancing measures, quarantine, Vaccine Pass (limited access to public places), restricted dine-in service hours, closure of sports premises (indoor and outdoor venues) and fitness centers (The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, 2021, 2022a, 2022b). Furthermore, the government implemented a timely and flexible approach, i.e., restricting or relaxing measures based on the situation of COVID-19, meaning that these preventive measures were frequently adjusted back and forth within a few months (The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, 2022b, 2022c). Therefore, apart from the infection and quarantine, the closure of sports venues and the limited access based on the Vaccine Pass could significantly affect the level of PA and their PBC in that year and affect their habit or consistency in performing physical activity. Although the questionnaire asked for the perceived impact of COVID-19 on PA, it might not be that simple to use it to adjust for the changes. Similarly, since the dine-in service hours were restricted (The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, 2022d), in addition to wearing masks and being concerned about being infected, it might reduce people's eating behaviors outside. Eating at home and/or eating alone during COVID-19 might also have an impact on the eating pattern (McCormack & Peng, 2024; Mensah & Tuomainen, 2024) and be associated with more maladaptive eating behaviors (Freizinger et al., 2022).

5.4.5. *Limitations*

There were some limitations in the current study. First, all measures of the variables were self-reported. The self-reported nature of the measures may lead to potential biases, such as recall bias in estimating physical activity duration and the influence of social desirability or approval in responding to questions about weight stigma and weight. Additionally, the study sample might not be generalized to the general young adults, as the snowball sampling was started from universities and potentially lacked diversity, such as occupations with different

lifestyles. This study did not ask for participants' employment status, so the ratio of students to workers remains unclear. However, based on the school attendance rate from the Census and Statistics Department (2023), 55.8% of individuals aged 18 to 24 were attending school, while only 0.8% of those aged 25 or older were attending. Therefore, although this may not be entirely accurate, it can be roughly inferred that 64.9% were students and 35.1% were workers in my study according to their age. Furthermore, as discussed in the previous section, the study time frame of the current longitudinal study might still fall short when considering the stigma internalization and weight changes. Future studies should explore longitudinal effects over extended periods.

Chapter 6 General Discussion and Conclusion

The focus of this thesis was to investigate how weight stigma influences people's weight management behaviors. The objectives included (1) examine how weight-related selfstigma (WRSS) is associated with physical activity (PA), (2) examine how WRSS is associated with eating behaviors, (3) examine the interplay between perceived weight stigma (PWS), WRSS, psychological distress, perceived behavioral control, PA, and eating behaviors in a longitudinal study, and (4) examine the bidirectional relationship between WRSS and weight change in a longitudinal study. To achieve these objectives, three studies were conducted, including two cross-sectional studies and one longitudinal study. The first cross-sectional study (Chapter 3) corresponds to the first objective, which investigated whether WRSS can be added to the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) model as an extension and to understand how WRSS influences PA. The second cross-sectional study (Chapter 4) corresponds to the second objective, which investigated whether WRSS can be added to the TPB model as an extension and to understand how WRSS influences eating behaviors. The one-year longitudinal study (Chapter 5) corresponds to the third and fourth objectives, which investigated the process from stigma formation to body mass index (BMI) change, focusing on the growth trajectories and how these trajectories interact over time. The researcher also examined how changes in WRSS and BMI within an individual can predict changes in each other across different time points.

6.1. Key Findings From Chapter 3

Chapter 3 used an extended TPB model, which added WRSS to better understand the motivations behind PA in individuals with varying weight statuses. The study's methodology involved a survey of 325 university students, examining their PA levels, TPB factors (attitude, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control [PBC-PA], and behavioral intention), and levels of WRSS. The key findings indicate that WRSS significantly impacts PBC-PA, behavioral intentions, and, most importantly, PA engagement, especially among individuals who are

overweight. The extended TPB model showed a good fit in the structural equation modeling (SEM). However, significant differences were noted between the overweight and nonoverweight groups in the paths associated with these psychosocial variables to PA.

6.2. Key Findings From Chapter 4

In a similar vein, the study in Chapter 4 used a TPB model extended by WRSS to understand better the motivations behind avoiding eating behaviors in individuals with varying weight statuses. The study recruited 348 adults aged 18-30 to assess their eating behaviors, WRSS, and TPB factors using validated questionnaires. Notably, the intention to avoid eating behaviors did not consistently lead to a reduction in such behaviors, and in some instances, it was associated with an increase, shedding light on the intention-behavior gap. Further, WRSS significantly reduced perceived behavioral control for avoiding eating behaviors (PBC-EB). The study also highlighted the significant role of WRSS, which, despite strengthening the intention to avoid eating behaviors, might increase uncontrolled eating and emotional eating due to the emotional impact of WRSS.

6.3. Key Findings From Chapter 5

As the two cross-sectional studies consistently found significant relationships between WRSS and perceived behavioral control, the PBC-PA and the PBC-EB were also adopted to the longitudinal models. In Chapter 5, the researcher presented the one-year longitudinal study on PWS, WRSS, PBC-PA, PBC-EB, psychological distress, and BMI. The initial sample size was 345 participants, and the study was able to retain 251 participants in Time 2, 232 participants of the original 345 in Time 3, and 234 participants of the original 345 in Time 4. The findings indicated that despite the stability of the examined variables over time, individuals in the high WRSS group consistently exhibited higher levels of BMI, PWS, psychological distress, uncontrolled eating, and emotional eating compared to the low WRSS group. In addition, the high WRSS group demonstrated consistently lower PBC-PA and PBC-EB relative

to the low WRSS group. Results from the parallel-process latent growth curve models indicated that the temporal associations were limited to the relationships between PWS and WRSS, WRSS and psychological distress, PBC-PA and psychological distress, and WRSS and PBC-EB. Namely, the growth trajectories of the studied variables were not associated with the growth trajectories in BMI. On the other hand, results from the random intercept cross-lagged panel model showed that WRSS was negatively associated with subsequent BMI, but BMI was not associated with subsequent WRSS. Taken together, the conceptual model was revised (Figure 14). Specifically, this longitudinal study found no evidence that a change in weight management behaviors was related to a change in BMI; furthermore, BMI would neither increase nor decrease the level of WRSS at a later time.

Figure 14





Note. The solid lines represent significant temporal associations, while the dashed lines represent insignificant associations based on the findings of this thesis.

6.4. Implications and Significance

6.4.1. Theoretical Consideration

To the best of my knowledge, the longitudinal study in this thesis is not the first to investigate the temporal association between weight stigma and weight change, but it is one of the few that further examined the associations with perceived behavioral control, psychological distress, physical activity, and eating behaviors.

Studies in Chapters 3 and 4 of this thesis also successfully extended the TPB by adding WRSS to explain physical activity and eating behaviors. However, results from these studies also indicated that factors in TPB, such as behavioral intention, may not be capable of accounting for the two studied behaviors. Namely, the intention-behavior gap was found, which is consistent with existing literature (Conner & Norman, 2022). Instead, WRSS played a more influential role in explaining the two behaviors in this thesis. Further, the researcher decided to adopt only PBC in the conceptual model of the third study due to the observed relationship between WRSS and PBC. Moreover, the TPB might lack consideration of other influences, such as the emotional aspect. For instance, a recent study on purchasing organic food in biodegradable and compostable packaging suggested that the TPB, when extended with both positive and negative emotions, explained more variance in intention compared to the TPB used alone (Lombardi et al., 2024). Furthermore, using the rational-emotional model, which included both rational factors (e.g., cognitive benefits and concerns) and emotion, was even better in explaining the intention (Lombardi et al., 2024). On the other hand, traditional theories like the TPB are unable to take care of contemporary issues, e.g., misinformation from the internet. The spread of health misinformation online and through social media has been a major issue in recent years (Kbaier et al., 2024). Misinformation about diet is one example (Suarez-Lledo & Alvarez-Galvez, 2021). Incorrect information from the internet and social media can shape inappropriate attitudes and subjective norms about health behaviors, leading to potentially inaccurate predictions by the TPB. Therefore, the original TPB might not always be suitable for every study context. Yet, TPB provides a theoretical basis for consideration.

Researchers should be aware of the flexibility to expand it or adopt some of the factors from it to fit with their study context.

Although the current longitudinal study did not find a significant relationship between BMI and subsequent WRSS, one interesting situation was found, which is the negative relationship between WRSS and subsequent BMI. The direction of this relationship may indicate a new situation that could happen, yet the relationship between the two variables is still understudied and inconclusive. Implications from the findings mentioned above include a better understanding of weight management, which emphasizes the detrimental role of WRSS.

6.4.2. Situation on Weight Stigma in Hong Kong

Research studies on weight stigma or weight discrimination in Hong Kong are relatively few. A survey by the Hong Kong Obesity Society reported that people in Hong Kong generally hold negative views towards individuals with obesity (Hong Kong Obesity Society, 2022). Among 559 respondents, 67% considered individuals with obesity are lazy for exercising, 62% think they often binge eat, and over 50% feel they lack willpower (Hong Kong Obesity Society, 2022). The findings from this thesis provide a further understanding of Hong Kong's situation. For example, using results from Chapter 5, more than half of the participants (56.2%) reported at least one perceived weight stigma situation. Furthermore, 29.3% of the participants were in the high WRSS group, and results showed that they have worse conditions in terms of higher BMI, higher level of psychological distress, lower level of PBC, and higher tendency to uncontrolled eating and emotional eating. These results indicated notable concerns about weight stigma in Hong Kong that need to be addressed in several aspects, such as education for the public and stigma reduction programs.

6.4.3. Social Interaction in Daily Life and the Digital Era

In our daily lives, urging people to lose weight, criticizing their inaction, or even teasing them produces no advantage for them to perform weight management behaviors. Instead, there is a higher likelihood of imposing weight stigma, which, in turn, increases their WRSS and reduces their perceived behavioral control to engage in physical activity and avoid inappropriate eating behaviors. The results alerted the general public on how to communicate and interact with people who are overweight or obese. To better practice weight management, caring, and peer support are essential, rather than providing insensitive comments or attributing to the individual ability and willpower.

In recent decades, technological advancements have made the internet, along with social media, a significant platform for social interaction. Individuals can freely access a wealth of information and express their attitudes. Social media has influenced people's attitudes and perceptions of body and beauty standards (Holland & Tiggemann, 2016). Engagements on social media and interaction, such as comments and likes, significantly impact one's confidence level (Syaifussalam et al., 2024). Furthermore, frequent use of social media leads to body image dissatisfaction and experience of weight stigma (Fung et al., 2021; Malloy et al., 2024). Thus, the internet and social media could be turned into a battlefield for addressing the issue of weight stigma. People should consider ways to present an appropriate and fair manner towards the spectrum of weight status. For example, there was a hashtag movement (#bodypositivity) to promote a positive attitude toward diverse body images. On one hand, it raised public awareness; on the other hand, it also faced challenges as people used the hashtag in connection with weight loss and ideal images (Khonach & Kurz, 2024). Incorporating social media companies might help the situation of the distorted culture, e.g., how to refine algorithms to provide neutral content to the public appropriately.

6.4.4. Public Health Policy and Education

The findings could offer evidence to support policy reforms addressing weight stigma as a public health issue. To minimize potential stigmatization, public health campaigns could emphasize overall health and well-being rather than solely focusing on weight loss. Schools and public seminars should provide education not only on overweight and obesity but also on weight stigma to raise public awareness. Additional training or education on weight stigma for healthcare providers and educators could also be beneficial. For example, promoting the integration of stigma-reduction techniques and sensitivity training in medical education and continuing professional development programs. There were studies on mental illness stigma reduction in Hong Kong, e.g., a mental health course at university that changed attitudes towards mental illness (P. W. C. Wong et al., 2019). Similar education on weight stigma is worth developing and investigating.

6.4.5. Clinical Practice and Interventions

Gaining a deeper understanding of the connection between weight stigma and psychological distress can improve mental health services, leading to more compassionate and effective support for individuals dealing with issues related to being overweight, weight stigma, and associated psychological challenges. It is also suggested that weight management programs or interventions should address the detrimental effects of WRSS and focus on enhancing PBC-PA and PBC-EB in order to promote PA and reduce inappropriate eating behaviors. For instance, programs targeted at healthy behaviors, such as PA, should be tailored according to weight status, with particular attention to reducing WRSS and resuming PBC-PA to enhance PA engagement in overweight individuals.

Understanding how weight stigma can undermine traditional weight management strategies may lead to improved approaches that address both the physical and psychological aspects of weight concerns. The study also emphasizes the need for psychosocial approaches to weight management that address both the psychological and social barriers to physical activity and control eating behaviors, as people may suffer from psychological distress due to stigma, which hinders their efforts in interventions. For example, there has been a recent development in cognitive-behavioral intervention for WRSS (Pearl et al., 2023). Preliminary evidence from pilot studies suggests that the program can effectively reduce WRSS and improve psychological outcomes, though some effects may only last for a short period at the current stage, and its long-term effects are still being investigated (Pearl et al., 2023). Furthermore, a review article suggested that psychological interventions for WRSS were effective (D'Adamo et al., 2024). Effective interventions for WRSS consist of cognitive-behavioral modules aimed at WRSS for behavioral weight reduction treatment or acceptance and commitment strategies (D'Adamo et al., 2024). The content of such interventions could be periodically updated to incorporate the latest research findings. The insights obtained from this thesis, combined with existing literature, may contribute to the development of successful interventions aimed at reducing stigma and ultimately promoting health. In addition, future research could explore strategies to close the intention-behavior gap and assess the influence of social support on mitigating the impact of stigma.

On the other hand, digital interventions should be explored in consideration of the aforementioned influence from the internet and social media. For instance, Smith et al. (2023) developed a digital intervention by advertising on social media. It is a single session consisting of self-reflection, psychoeducation, and exercises to counter negative thoughts was presented online to promote body neutrality, with positive feedback from participants. Furthermore, the literature indicated digital health tools, such as mobile applications, were effective for weight loss (Ufholz & Werner, 2023). Research shows that people who utilize applications to record and monitor their meals, physical activity, and weight generally achieve greater weight loss than those who do not (Ufholz & Werner, 2023). In addition, it has been found that a web-based weight loss program is effective and can provide personalized feedback (Beleigoli et al., 2020). However, a study of a 12-week online weight loss program indicated that individuals experiencing high levels of weight stigma were more likely to drop out (Schram et al., 2024). Olson et al. (2021) discussed the situation of commercial applications for weight loss and

weight-related behaviors, which may contain stigmatizing language that could have adverse effects. These findings showed that weight stigma is still a significant issue that must be tackled in the digital era, and research on managing weight and weight stigma online is currently insufficient.

6.5. Future Direction

Studies on weight stigma in the future could be designed with more extended time frames to observe stigma and weight changes. Objective measurement should also be used, such as measuring weight in research facilities instead of self-reported, using accelerometers to quantify PA levels (Trost & O'Neil, 2014), or using technologies to monitor food choices and detect eating actions (Rantala et al., 2022). On the psychological aspect, additional variables could be investigated to depict a more compressive picture to understand weight stigma. For instance, psychological resilience could be one of the variables that worth investigate in the context of weight stigma. Prior research has shown that greater psychological resilience is associated with reduced self-stigma and enhanced stigma resistance among individuals with mental health conditions (Post et al., 2021). Similarly, resilience has been found to mediate the relationship between stigma and social avoidance in infertility patients (Zhao et al., 2022). Therefore, resilience may serve a preventive role by mitigating the development of self-stigma and its subsequent issues, and fostering stigma resistance, which merits further investigation in the context of weight stigma.

6.6. Conclusion

Throughout this thesis, the studies conducted consistently highlighted the adverse effects of weight stigma, especially, WRSS on weight management. Using the proposed models, perceived behavioral control was the major variable that suffered from WRSS, and the diminished perceived behavioral control might hinder one's engagement in weight management behaviors such as PA and avoiding inappropriate eating behaviors. Furthermore,

112

while people who were overweight showed significantly greater reduce in perceived behavioral control due to WRSS, attention should also be given to the fact that the significant relationship also exist in people who are non-overweight. Moreover, temporal associations between WRSS, perceived behavioral control, and psychological distress have been found. However, the study in this thesis was unable to offer further support regarding the potential feedback loop between weight stigma and weight change. Findings from this thesis suggest that additional research is still required to understand whether weight stigma could be affected by weight gain.

APPENDICES

Appendix A. The Ethical Approval Documents



To From	Lin Chung-Ying (Department of Rehabilitation Sciences) Man Wai Kwong, Chair, Departmental Research Committee				

Application for Ethical Review for Teaching/Research Involving Human Subjects

I write to inform you that approval has been given to your application for human subjects ethics review of the following project for a period from 30-Dec-2017 to 30-Nov-2020:

Project Title:	Understanding the Factors that Contribute to Obesity in Young Adults
Department:	Department of Rehabilitation Sciences
Principal Investigator:	Lin Chung-Ying
Project Start Date:	30-Dec-2017
Reference Number:	HSEARS20171212002

You will be held responsible for the ethical approval granted for the project and the ethical conduct of the personnel involved in the project. In the case of the Co-PI, if any, has also obtained ethical approval for the project, the Co-PI will also assume the responsibility in respect of the ethical approval (in relation to the areas of expertise of respective Co-PI in accordance with the stipulations given by the approving authority).

You are responsible for informing the Human Subjects Ethics Sub-committee in advance of any changes in the proposal or procedures which may affect the validity of this ethical approval.

Man Wai Kwong

Chair

Departmental Research Committee



То	Siu Man Hong Andrew (Department of Rehabilitation Sciences) Yee Kay Yan Benjamin, Delegate, Departmental Research Committee					
From						
Email	benjamin.yee@	Date	23-Nov-2020			

Application for Ethical Review for Teaching/Research Involving Human Subjects

I write to inform you that approval has been given to your application for human subjects ethics review of the following project for a period from 01-Dec-2020 to 30-Nov-2022:

Project Title:	Modeling the effect of weight stigma on weight management behaviors and psychological distress among young adults: A prospective study
Department:	Department of Rehabilitation Sciences
Principal Investigator:	Siu Man Hong Andrew
Project Start Date:	01-Dec-2020
Reference Number:	HSEARS20201120002

You will be held responsible for the ethical approval granted for the project and the ethical conduct of the personnel involved in the project. In case the Co-PI, if any, has also obtained ethical approval for the project, the Co-PI will also assume the responsibility in respect of the ethical approval (in relation to the areas of expertise of respective Co-PI in accordance with the stipulations given by the approving authority).

You are responsible for informing the Human Subjects Ethics Sub-committee in advance of any changes in the proposal or procedures which may affect the validity of this ethical approval.

Yee Kay Yan Benjamin

Delegate

Departmental Research Committee (on behalf of Human Subjects Ethics Sub-Committee)

Appendix B. Chinese version of the Weight Bias Internalization Scale (WBIS)

以下是一些句子形容你對自己的感受。如果你非常同意該句子請選 5 ,如果你同意句子便選 4, 對句子沒有特別感受請選 3,不同意便選 2,非常不同意的話請你選 1。

			句子		
1	我的體重讓我覺得自己與其他人一樣能幹。				
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
2	因為我的體重,我比別人欠缺吸引力。				
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
3	我會因別人的想法	云而對我的體重感到	到不安。		
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
4	我希望能大幅改變	趁自己的體重。			
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
5	每當我想到自己的	的體重時,我會感到	创心情不好。		
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
6	我討厭我的體重。				
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
7	我主要用體重去判	的斷我作為一個人的	勺價值。		
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
8	因為我的體重,我不認為我值得擁有真正美滿的社交生活。				
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
9	我能接受現在的體重。				
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
10	因為我的體重,我不能感受到真正的自我。				
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意
11	因為我的體重,我	え不認為會有吸引ス	力的人想和我交朋	友。	
	1 非常不同意	2 不同意	3 中立	4 同意	5 非常同意

Appendix C. Chinese version of Perceived Weight Stigma Scale (PWSS)

以下是一些句子形容你與他人的相處情況。如果該句子描述的情況曾發生請回答 「是」,如果從未發生請回答「否」。你曾否**因自己的體重**而有以下的經歷和感受?

	句子			
1	人們似乎認為你比不上他們。	是	/	否
2	人們似乎認為你不聰明。	是	/	否
3	人們似乎害怕你。	是	/	否
4	相比他人,你受到較不禮貌的對待。.	是	/	凶
5	相比他人,你受到較少的尊重。	是	/	民
6	在商店或餐廳時受到較差的服務。	是	/	否
7	人們似乎認為你不誠實。	是	/	凶
8	別人用令你不開心的說法去稱呼你。	是	/	否
9	別人令你感到害怕或麻煩。	是	/	否
10	你在社交場合不受別人喜愛(例如:學校)。	是	/	否

Appendix D. Theory of Planned Behavior measures for physical activity in Chinese

Attitude

- 1. 我認為每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘是... 不愉快 愉快
- 2. 我認為每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘是... 不好的-好的
- 3. 我認為每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘是... 有害 有益
- 4. 我認為每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘是... 愚蠢 明智
- 5. 我認為每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘是...不正確-正確
- 6. 我認為每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘是... 不享受 享受
- 7. 我認為每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘是... 不令人滿足的 令人滿足的
- 8. 我認為每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘是... 沒有用處 有用處

Subjective norm

- 1. 對我重要的人會鼓勵我每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘
- 2. 在社會的壓力下我必須每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘
- 3. 我被期望每週運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘

Perceived behavioral control

如果你需要在下週開始運動三天,每次最少三十分鐘…… 1.你認為你有自我控制能力。

- 2. 你認為成功與否完全取決於自己。
- 3. 你認為你有很大的信心。
- 4. 你在很大程度上認為自己有能力做到。

Behavioral intention

- 1. 我計劃由現在開始每星期運動三次,每次最少三十分鐘
- 2. 我會嘗試由現在開始每星期運動三次,每次最少三十分鐘
- 3. 我有意由現在開始每星期運動三次,每次最少三十分鐘

Appendix E. Theory of Planned Behavior measures for avoiding eating behaviors in Chinese.

Attitude

- 1. 我認為避免 飲食失調 是... 不愉快 愉快
- 2. 我認為避免 飲食失調 是... 不好的 好的
- 3. 我認為避免 飲食失調 是... 有害 有益
- 4. 我認為避免 飲食失調 是... 愚蠢 明智
- 5. 我認為避免 飲食失調 是... 不正確 正確
- 6. 我認為避免 飲食失調 是... 不享受 享受
- 7. 我認為避免 飲食失調 是... 不令人滿足的 令人滿足的
- 8. 我認為避免 飲食失調 是... 沒有用處 有用處

Subjective norm

- 1. 對我重要的人會鼓勵我避免飲食失調
- 3. 在社會的壓力下我必須避免飲食失調
- 5. 我被期望每天避免飲食失調

Perceived behavioral control

如果你需要在下週避免飲食失調......

- 1. 你認為你有自我控制能力。
- 2. 你認為成功與否完全取決於自己。
- 3. 你認為你有很大的信心。
- 4. 你在很大程度上認為自己有能力做到。

Behavioral intention

- 1. 我計畫由現在開始避免飲食失調
- 2. 我會嘗試由現在開始避免飲食失調
- 3. 我有意由現在開始避免飲食失調

REFERENCES

- Adam, T. C., & Epel, E. S. (2007). Stress, eating and the reward system. *Physiology* & *Behavior*, *91*(4), 449–458. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.04.011
- Ahorsu, D. K., Lin, C., Imani, V., Griffiths, M. D., Su, J., Latner, J. D., Marshall, R. D., & Pakpour, A. H. (2020). A prospective study on the link between weight-related self-stigma and binge eating: Role of food addiction and psychological distress. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 53(3), 442–450. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23219
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The Theory of Planned Behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T
- Ajzen, I. (2015). The Theory of Planned Behaviour is alive and well, and not ready to retire: A commentary on Sniehotta, Presseau, and Araújo-Soares. *Health Psychology Review*, 9(2), 131–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2014.883474
- Alimoradi, Z., Golboni, F., Griffiths, M. D., Broström, A., Lin, C.-Y., & Pakpour, A. H. (2020).
 Weight-related stigma and psychological distress: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Clinical Nutrition*, 39(7), 2001–2013. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2019.10.016
- Araiza, A. M., & Wellman, J. D. (2017). Weight stigma predicts inhibitory control and food selection in response to the salience of weight discrimination. *Appetite*, *114*, 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2017.04.009
- Beleigoli, A., Andrade, A. Q., Diniz, M. D. F., & Ribeiro, A. L. (2020). Personalized Web-Based Weight Loss Behavior Change Program With and Without Dietitian Online Coaching for Adults With Overweight and Obesity: Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 22(11), e17494. https://doi.org/10.2196/17494
- Bellisle, F., & Dalix, A.-M. (2001). Cognitive restraint can be offset by distraction, leading to increased meal intake in women. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 74(2), 197–200. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/74.2.197

- Beville, J. M., Umstattd Meyer, M. R., Usdan, S. L., Turner, L. W., Jackson, J. C., & Lian, B.
 E. (2014). Gender differences in college leisure time physical activity: Application of the Theory of Planned Behavior and integrated behavioral model. *Journal of American College Health*, 62(3), 173–184. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2013.872648
- Bollen, K. A. (1989). Structural equations with latent variables. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118619179
- Bos, A. E. R., Pryor, J. B., Reeder, G. D., & Stutterheim, S. E. (2013). Stigma: Advances in theory and research. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, 35(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1080/01973533.2012.746147
- Browne, M. W., & Cudeck, R. (1992). Alternative ways of assessing model fit. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 21(2), 230–258. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124192021002005
- Bryant, E. J., Caudwell, P., Hopkins, M. E., King, N. A., & Blundell, J. E. (2012). Psychomarkers of weight loss. The roles of TFEQ Disinhibition and Restraint in exerciseinduced weight management. *Appetite*, 58(1), 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2011.09.006
- Bryant, E. J., Kiezerbrink, K., King, N. A., & Blundell, J. E. (2010). Interaction between Disinhibition and restraint: Implications for body weight and eating disturbance. *Eating* and Weight Disorders, 15(1–2), e43–e51. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03325279
- Bryant, E. J., Rehman, J., Pepper, L. B., & Walters, E. R. (2019). Obesity and Eating Disturbance: The Role of TFEQ Restraint and Disinhibition. *Current Obesity Reports*, 8(4), 363–372. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13679-019-00365-x
- Callahan, D. (2013a). Children, Stigma, and Obesity. JAMA Pediatrics, 167(9), 791. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.2814
- Callahan, D. (2013b). Obesity: Chasing an elusive epidemic. *Hastings Center Report*, 43(1), 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1002/hast.114
- Carels, R. A., Wott, C. B., Young, K. M., Gumble, A., Koball, A., & Oehlhof, M. W. (2010). Implicit, explicit, and internalized weight bias and psychosocial maladjustment among

treatment-seeking adults. *Eating Behaviors*, 11(3), 180–185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eatbeh.2010.03.002

- Carr, D., & Friedman, M. A. (2005). Is Obesity Stigmatizing? Body Weight, Perceived Discrimination, and Psychological Well-Being in the United States. *Journal of Health* and Social Behavior, 46(3), 244–259. https://doi.org/10.1177/002214650504600303
- Carslake, D., Jeffreys, M., & Davey Smith, G. (2016). Being overweight in early adulthood is associated with increased mortality in middle age. *Scientific Reports*, *6*(1), 36046. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep36046
- Census and Statistics Department. (2023). *Educational Characteristics of Hong Kong Population*. https://www.census2021.gov.hk/doc/pub/21C_Articles_Educational.pdf
- Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. (2017). *Report of Population Health* Survey 2014/2015.

https://www.chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/dh_hps_2014_15_full_report_eng.pdf

- Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. (2023a, January 12). *Physical Activity*. https://www.chp.gov.hk/en/healthtopics/content/25/8804.html
- Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. (2023b, April 26). *Obesity*. https://www.chp.gov.hk/en/healthtopics/content/25/8802.html
- Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health & Department of Community Medicine, University of Hong Kong. (2005). *Population Health Survey 2003/2004*. https://www.chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/report_on_population_health_survey_2003_2004_e n.pdf
- Cerino, E. S., Charles, S. T., Mogle, J., Rush, J., Piazza, J. R., Klepacz, L. M., Lachman, M. E., & Almeida, D. M. (2024). Perceived control across the adult lifespan: Longitudinal changes in global control and daily stressor control. *Developmental Psychology*, 60(1), 45–58. https://doi.org/10.1037/dev0001618
- Chan, C. Y., & Chiu, C. Y. (2022). Disordered eating behaviors and psychological health during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 27(1), 249–256. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2021.1883687

- Chan, K., Prendergast, G., & Ng, Y.-L. (2016). Using an expanded Theory of Planned Behavior to predict adolescents' intention to engage in healthy eating. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 28(1), 16–27. https://doi.org/10.1080/08961530.2015.1089088
- Chen, I.-H., Huang, P.-C., Lin, Y.-C., Gan, W. Y., Fan, C.-W., Yang, W.-C., Tung, S. E. H., Poon, W. C., Griffiths, M. D., & Lin, C.-Y. (2022). The Yale Food Addiction Scale 2.0 and the modified Yale Food Addiction Scale 2.0 in Taiwan: Factor structure and concurrent validity. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, 1014447. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1014447
- Chen, M., Yin, W., Sung-Chan, P., Wang, Z., & Shi, J. (2022). The Interactive Role of Family Functioning among BMI Status, Physical Activity, and High-Fat Food in Adolescents: Evidence from Shanghai, China. *Nutrients*, *14*(19), 4053. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu14194053
- Chen, M.-F. (2017). Modeling an extended theory of planned behavior model to predict intention to take precautions to avoid consuming food with additives. *Food Quality and Preference*, 58, 24–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodqual.2017.01.002
- Cheng, M. Y., Wang, S.-M., Lam, Y. Y., Luk, H. T., Man, Y. C., & Lin, C.-Y. (2018). The relationships between weight bias, perceived weight stigma, eating behavior, and psychological distress among undergraduate students in Hong Kong. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 1. https://doi.org/10.1097/NMD.00000000000869
- Chew, H. S. J., & Lopez, V. (2021). Global Impact of COVID-19 on Weight and Weight-Related Behaviors in the Adult Population: A Scoping Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(4), 1876. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18041876
- Conner, M., & Armitage, C. J. (1998). Extending the Theory of Planned Behavior: A Review and Avenues for Further Research. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28(15), 1429–1464. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1998.tb01685.x

- Conner, M., & Norman, P. (2022). Understanding the intention-behavior gap: The role of intention strength. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 13, 923464. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2022.923464
- Corrigan, P. W., Larson, J. E., & Rüsch, N. (2009). Self-stigma and the "why try" effect: Impact on life goals and evidence-based practices. *World Psychiatry*, 8(2), 75–81. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2051-5545.2009.tb00218.x
- Corrigan, P. W., & Rao, D. (2012). On the self-stigma of mental illness: Stages, disclosure, and strategies for change. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 57(8), 464–469. https://doi.org/10.1177/070674371205700804
- Craig, C. L., Marshall, A. L., Sjöström, M., Bauman, A. E., Booth, M. L., Ainsworth, B. E., Pratt, M., Ekelund, U., Yngve, A., Sallis, J. F., & Oja, P. (2003). International Physical Activity Questionnaire: 12-Country Reliability and Validity: *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, 35(8), 1381–1395. https://doi.org/10.1249/01.MSS.0000078924.61453.FB
- D'Adamo, L., Shonrock, A. T., Monocello, L., Goldberg, J., Yaeger, L. H., Pearl, R. L., & Wilfley, D. E. (2024). Psychological interventions for internalized weight stigma: A systematic scoping review of feasibility, acceptability, and preliminary efficacy. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 12(1), 197. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-024-01132-7
- Dawson, L., Mullan, B., & Sainsbury, K. (2015). Using the theory of planned behaviour to measure motivation for recovery in anorexia nervosa. *Appetite*, 84, 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.10.028
- de Lauzon, B., Romon, M., Deschamps, V., Lafay, L., Borys, J.-M., Karlsson, J., Ducimetière,
 P., Charles, M. A., & Fleurbaix Laventie Ville Sante (FLVS) Study Group. (2004). The
 Three-Factor Eating Questionnaire-R18 is able to distinguish among different eating
 patterns in a general population. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 134(9), 2372–2380.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/134.9.2372
- Deforche, B. I., De Bourdeaudhuij, I. M., & Tanghe, A. P. (2006). Attitude toward physical activity in normal-weight, overweight and obese adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *38*(5), 560–568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2005.01.015
- Duckworth, A. L., Kim, B., & Tsukayama, E. (2013). Life Stress Impairs Self-Control in Early Adolescence. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00608
- Dunn, K. I., Mohr, P., Wilson, C. J., & Wittert, G. A. (2011). Determinants of fast-food consumption. An application of the Theory of Planned Behaviour. *Appetite*, 57(2), 349– 357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2011.06.004
- Durso, L. E., & Latner, J. D. (2008). Understanding self-directed stigma: Development of the Weight Bias Internalization Scale. Obesity, 16, S80–S86. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.448
- Emlet, C. A., Brennan, D. J., Brennenstuhl, S., Rueda, S., Hart, T. A., & Rourke, S. B. (2015).
 The impact of HIV-related stigma on older and younger adults living with HIV disease:
 Does age matter? *AIDS Care*, 27(4), 520–528.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2014.978734
- Faith, M. S., Leone, M. A., Ayers, T. S., Heo, M., & Pietrobelli, A. (2002). Weight criticism during physical activity, coping skills, and reported physical activity in children. *Pediatrics*, 110(2), e23–e23. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.110.2.e23
- Fan, C.-W., Chang, Y.-L., Huang, P.-C., Fung, X. C. C., Chen, J.-K., Bevan, N., O'Brien, K. S., Yeh, Y.-C., Chen, H.-P., Chen, I.-H., Lin, I.-C., Griffiths, M. D., & Lin, C.-Y. (2023). The tendency to avoid physical activity and sport scale (TAPAS): Rasch analysis with differential item functioning testing among a Chinese sample. *BMC Psychology*, *11*(1), 369. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-023-01377-y
- Fan, C.-W., Chen, I.-H., Ko, N.-Y., Yen, C.-F., Lin, C.-Y., Griffiths, M. D., & Pakpour, A. H. (2021). Extended theory of planned behavior in explaining the intention to COVID-19 vaccination uptake among mainland Chinese university students: An online survey study. *Human Vaccines & Immunotherapeutics*, *17*(10), 3413–3420. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2021.1933687

- Fernández, I., Canet, O., & Giné-Garriga, M. (2017). Assessment of physical activity levels, fitness and perceived barriers to physical activity practice in adolescents: Crosssectional study. *European Journal of Pediatrics*, 176(1), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-016-2809-4
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (2011). *Predicting and Changing Behavior* (0 ed.). Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203838020
- Frederick, D. A., Saguy, A. C., Sandhu, G., & Mann, T. (2016). Effects of competing news media frames of weight on antifat stigma, beliefs about weight and support for obesityrelated public policies. *International Journal of Obesity*, 40(3), 543–549. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2015.195
- Freizinger, M., Jhe, G. B., Dahlberg, S. E., Pluhar, E., Raffoul, A., Slater, W., & Shrier, L. A. (2022). Binge-eating behaviors in adolescents and young adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 10(1), 125. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-022-00650-6
- Fung, X. C. C., Pakpour, A. H., Wu, Y.-K., Fan, C.-W., Lin, C.-Y., & Tsang, H. W. H. (2020). Psychosocial variables related to weight-related self-stigma in physical activity among young adults across weight status. *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 17(1), 64. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17010064
- Fung, X. C. C., Siu, A. M. H., Potenza, M. N., O'Brien, K. S., Latner, J. D., Chen, C.-Y., Chen,
 I.-H., & Lin, C.-Y. (2021). Problematic use of internet-related activities and perceived weight stigma in schoolchildren: A longitudinal study across different epidemic periods of COVID-19 in China. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12, 675839. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.675839
- Fung, X. C. C., Siu, A. M. H., Lin, C.-Y., Ko, P.-J., Lin, I.-C., Chen, J.-S., & Lau, B. W. M. (2024). Weight stigma and eating behaviors in young adults across weight status. American Journal of Health Behavior, 48(3), 628–640. https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.48.3.6

- Gardner, R. E., & Hausenblas, H. A. (2004). Understanding exercise and diet motivation in overweight women enrolled in a weight-loss program: A prospective study using the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 34(7), 1353–1370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2004.tb02010.x
- Goffman, E. (1963). Stigma: Notes on the management of spoiled identity. Prentice-Hall.
- Gray, W. N., Janicke, D. M., Ingerski, L. M., & Silverstein, J. H. (2008). The impact of peer victimization, parent distress and child depression on barrier formation and physical activity in overweight youth. *Journal of Developmental & Behavioral Pediatrics*, 29(1), 26–33. https://doi.org/10.1097/DBP.0b013e31815dda74
- Guillaumie, L., Godin, G., & Vezina-Im, L.-A. (2010). Psychosocial determinants of fruit and vegetable intake in adult population: A systematic review. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 7(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-7-12
- Guthold, R., Stevens, G. A., Riley, L. M., & Bull, F. C. (2018). Worldwide trends in insufficient physical activity from 2001 to 2016: A pooled analysis of 358 population-based surveys with 1.9 million participants. *The Lancet Global Health*, 6(10), e1077–e1086. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(18)30357-7
- Halali, F., Lapveteläinen, A., Karhunen, L., & Kantanen, T. (2020). Eating behavior tendencies among Finnish adults in relation to previous weight loss attempts. *Appetite*, 150, 104650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2020.104650
- Hatzenbuehler, M. L., Keyes, K. M., & Hasin, D. S. (2009). Associations Between Perceived Weight Discrimination and the Prevalence of Psychiatric Disorders in the General Population. *Obesity*, 17(11), 2033–2039. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2009.131
- Herazo-Beltrán, Y., Pinillos, Y., Vidarte, J., Crissien, E., Suarez, D., & García, R. (2017). Predictors of perceived barriers to physical activity in the general adult population: A cross-sectional study. *Brazilian Journal of Physical Therapy*, 21(1), 44–50. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjpt.2016.04.003

- Himmelstein, M. S., Incollingo Belsky, A. C., & Tomiyama, A. J. (2015). The weight of stigma: Cortisol reactivity to manipulated weight stigma. *Obesity*, 23(2), 368–374. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20959
- Himmelstein, M. S., Puhl, R. M., & Quinn, D. M. (2018). Weight stigma and health: The mediating role of coping responses. *Health Psychology*, 37(2), 139–147. https://doi.org/10.1037/hea0000575
- Holland, G., & Tiggemann, M. (2016). A systematic review of the impact of the use of social networking sites on body image and disordered eating outcomes. *Body Image*, 17, 100– 110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2016.02.008
- Hong Kong Institute of Asia-Pacific Studies at CUHK. (2016, January 15). Survey findings on attitudes towards physical exercises in Hong Kong. http://www.cpr.cuhk.edu.hk/en/press_detail.php?id=2166&t=survey-findings-on-attitudes-towards-physical-exercises-in-hong-kong-released-by-hong-kong-institute-of-asia-pacific-studies-at-cuhk
- Hong Kong Obesity Society. (2022, June 20). A survey revealed that nearly 40% of adults gained 10% of their body weight during the pandemic, and treatment for obesity patients was hindered, leading to weight rebound [in Chinese]. https://www.hkobesity.org/media/detail?id=139
- Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1998). Fit indices in covariance structure modeling: Sensitivity to underparameterized model misspecification. *Psychological Methods*, 3(4), 424–453. https://doi.org/10.1037/1082-989X.3.4.424
- Hu, L., & Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis:
 Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 6(1), 1–55. https://doi.org/10.1080/10705519909540118
- Huang, P.-C., Lee, C.-H., Griffiths, M. D., O'Brien, K. S., Lin, Y.-C., Gan, W. Y., Poon, W.
 C., Hung, C.-H., Lee, K.-H., & Lin, C.-Y. (2022). Sequentially mediated effects of weight-related self-stigma and psychological distress in the association between perceived weight stigma and food addiction among Taiwanese university students: A

cross-sectional study. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 10(1), 177. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-022-00701-y

- Hung, M. S. Y., Ng, W. W. M., & Choi, E. K. Y. (2024). Physical Activity, Sedentary Behavior, and Body Image among Young Adults in Hong Kong: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Healthcare*, 12(18), 1825. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare12181825
- Imamura, F., Micha, R., Khatibzadeh, S., Fahimi, S., Shi, P., Powles, J., & Mozaffarian, D. (2015). Dietary quality among men and women in 187 countries in 1990 and 2010: A systematic assessment. *The Lancet Global Health*, 3(3), e132–e142. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70381-X
- Inauen, J., Shrout, P. E., Bolger, N., Stadler, G., & Scholz, U. (2016). Mind the Gap? An Intensive Longitudinal Study of Between-Person and Within-Person Intention-Behavior Relations. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 50(4), 516–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12160-016-9776-x
- International Physical Activity Questionnaire. (2005, November). Guidelines for Data Processing and Analysis of the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) – Short and Long Forms. https://sites.google.com/site/theipaq/scoring-protocol
- Jiang, L., Yan, Y., Jin, Z.-S., Hu, M.-L., Wang, L., Song, Y., Li, N.-N., Su, J., Wu, D.-X., & Xiao, T. (2020). The Depression Anxiety Stress Scale-21 in Chinese hospital workers: Reliability, latent structure, and measurement invariance across genders. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11, 247. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.00247
- Kamolthip, R., Fung, X. C. C., Lin, C.-Y., Latner, J. D., & O'Brien, K. S. (2021). Relationships among physical activity, health-related quality of life, and weight stigma in children in Hong Kong. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 45(5), 828–842. https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.45.5.3
- Kamolthip, R., Saffari, M., Fung, X. C. C., O'Brien, K. S., Chang, Y.-L., Lin, Y.-C., Lin, C.-Y., Chen, J.-S., & Latner, J. D. (2022). The mediation effect of perceived weight stigma in association between weight status and eating disturbances among university students:

Is there any gender difference? *Journal of Eating Disorders*, 10(1), 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-022-00552-7

- Kane, J. L., Hyde, M. K., & Hamilton, K. (2015). Exploring female university students' beliefs about binge eating. *International Journal of Health Promotion and Education*, 53(3), 118–127. https://doi.org/10.1080/14635240.2014.965842
- Kbaier, D., Kane, A., McJury, M., & Kenny, I. (2024). Prevalence of Health Misinformation on Social Media—Challenges and Mitigation Before, During, and Beyond the COVID-19 Pandemic: Scoping Literature Review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 26, e38786. https://doi.org/10.2196/38786
- Kenny, D. A., Kaniskan, B., & McCoach, D. B. (2015). The performance of RMSEA in models with small degrees of freedom. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 44(3), 486–507. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124114543236
- Kenny, D. A., & McCoach, D. B. (2003). Effect of the number of variables on measures of fit in structural equation modeling. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal*, 10(3), 333–351. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15328007SEM1003_1
- Khonach, T., & Kurz, A. (2024). Challenges of #bodypositivity: Social media and hashtag activism. *Fat Studies*, *13*(2), 239–259. https://doi.org/10.1080/21604851.2024.2328405
- Koh, Y. S., Asharani, P. V., Devi, F., Roystonn, K., Wang, P., Vaingankar, J. A., Abdin, E., Sum, C. F., Lee, E. S., Müller-Riemenschneider, F., Chong, S. A., & Subramaniam, M. (2022). A cross-sectional study on the perceived barriers to physical activity and their associations with domain-specific physical activity and sedentary behaviour. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 1051. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13431-2
- Konttinen, H., Männistö, S., Sarlio-Lähteenkorva, S., Silventoinen, K., & Haukkala, A. (2010).
 Emotional eating, depressive symptoms and self-reported food consumption. A population-based study. *Appetite*, 54(3), 473–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2010.01.014

- Kothe, E. J., Mullan, B. A., & Butow, P. (2012). Promoting fruit and vegetable consumption.
 Testing an intervention based on the theory of planned behaviour. *Appetite*, 58(3), 997–1004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2012.02.012
- Krendl, A. C., & Wolford, G. (2013). Cognitive decline and older adults' perception of stigma controllability. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 68(3), 333–336. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbs070
- LaRose, J. G., Leahey, T. M., Hill, J. O., & Wing, R. R. (2013). Differences in motivations and weight loss behaviors in young adults and older adults in the national weight control registry: Young Adults. *Obesity*, 21(3), 449–453. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20053
- Lash, D. N., Smith, J. E., & Rinehart, J. K. (2016). Can the Theory of Planned Behavior predict dietary intention and future dieting in an ethnically diverse sample of overweight and obese veterans attending medical clinics? *Appetite*, 99, 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.01.013
- Latimer, A. E., & Martin Ginis, K. A. (2005). The Theory of Planned Behavior in prediction of leisure time physical activity among individuals with spinal cord injury. *Rehabilitation Psychology*, 50(4), 389–396. https://doi.org/10.1037/0090-5550.50.4.389
- Lee, H., Ebesu Hubbard, A. S., O'Riordan, C. K., & Kim, M.-S. (2006). Incorporating culture into the theory of planned behavior: Predicting smoking cessation intentions among college students. *Asian Journal of Communication*, 16(3), 315–332. https://doi.org/10.1080/01292980600857880
- Lee, K. M., Hunger, J. M., & Tomiyama, A. J. (2021). Weight stigma and health behaviors: Evidence from the Eating in America Study. *International Journal of Obesity*, 45(7), 1499–1509. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-021-00814-5
- Lee, K. M., Wang, C., Du, H., Hunger, J., & Tomiyama, A. J. (2024). Weight stigma as a stressor: A preliminary multi-wave, longitudinal study testing the biobehavioral pathways of the Cyclic Obesity/Weight-Based Stigma (COBWEBS) model. *Appetite*, 107573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2024.107573

- Leske, S., Strodl, E., & Hou, X.-Y. (2017). Predictors of dieting and non-dieting approaches among adults living in Australia. BMC Public Health, 17(1), 214. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4131-0
- Lin, C.-Y., Imani, V., Griffiths, M. D., & Pakpour, A. H. (2021). Validity of the Yale Food Addiction Scale for Children (YFAS-C): Classical test theory and item response theory of the Persian YFAS-C. *Eating and Weight Disorders - Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 26(5), 1457–1466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-020-00956-x
- Lin, C.-Y., Oveisi, S., Burri, A., & Pakpour, A. H. (2017). Theory of Planned Behavior including self-stigma and perceived barriers explain help-seeking behavior for sexual problems in Iranian women suffering from epilepsy. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 68, 123– 128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2017.01.010
- Lin, C.-Y., Strong, C., Latner, J. D., Lin, Y.-C., Tsai, M.-C., & Cheung, P. (2020). Mediated effects of eating disturbances in the association of perceived weight stigma and emotional distress. *Eating and Weight Disorders - Studies on Anorexia, Bulimia and Obesity*, 25(2), 509–518. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40519-019-00641-8
- Lin, C.-Y., Tsai, M.-C., Liu, C.-H., Lin, Y.-C., Hsieh, Y.-P., & Strong, C. (2019). Psychological pathway from obesity-related stigma to anxiety via internalized stigma and self-esteem among adolescents in Taiwan. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(22), 4410. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16224410
- Lin, C.-Y., Updegraff, J. A., & Pakpour, A. H. (2016). The relationship between the Theory of Planned Behavior and medication adherence in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy & Behavior*, 61, 231–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yebeh.2016.05.030
- Lin, Y.-C., Fung, X. C. C., Tsai, M.-C., Strong, C., Hsieh, Y.-P., & Lin, C.-Y. (2019). Insufficient physical activity and overweight: Does caregiver screen-viewing matter? *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 28(1), 286–297. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1247-5
- Lin, Y.-C., Lin, C.-Y., Saffari, M., Tsai, M.-C., Chang, Y.-H., Strong, C., Chen, J.-K., Hsieh, Y.-P., Yang, Y.-N., & Latner, J. D. (2023). Weight stigma is associated with body mass

index among college students in Taiwan: The mediated role of internalized weight stigma. *BMC Psychology*, *11*(1), 365. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40359-023-01414-w

- Little, R. J. A. (1988). A Test of Missing Completely at Random for Multivariate Data with Missing Values. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 83(404), 1198–1202. https://doi.org/10.1080/01621459.1988.10478722
- Liu, W., Chen, J.-S., Gan, W. Y., Poon, W. C., Tung, S. E. H., Lee, L. J., Xu, P., Chen, I.-H., Griffiths, M. D., & Lin, C.-Y. (2022). Associations of problematic internet use, weightrelated self-stigma, and nomophobia with physical activity: Findings from Mainland China, Taiwan, and Malaysia. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(19), Article 19. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph191912135
- Lombardi, A., Califano, G., Caracciolo, F., Del Giudice, T., & Cembalo, L. (2024). Ecopackaging in organic foods: Rational decisions or emotional influences? Organic Agriculture, 14(2), 125–142. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13165-023-00442-5
- Louis, W. R., Chan, M. K.-H., & Greenbaum, S. (2009). Stress and the Theory of Planned Behavior: Understanding Healthy and Unhealthy Eating Intentions. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 39(2), 472–493. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2008.00447.x
- Macfarlane, D. J., Lee, C. C. Y., Ho, E. Y. K., Chan, K. L., & Chan, D. T. S. (2007). Reliability and validity of the Chinese version of IPAQ (short, last 7 days). *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, 10(1), 45–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsams.2006.05.003
- Major, B., Eliezer, D., & Rieck, H. (2012). The psychological weight of weight stigma. Social Psychological and Personality Science, 3(6), 651–658.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550611434400
- Major, B., Rathbone, J. A., Blodorn, A., & Hunger, J. M. (2020). The Countervailing Effects of Weight Stigma on Weight-Loss Motivation and Perceived Capacity for Weight Control. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 014616722090318. https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167220903184
- Major, B., Tomiyama, A. J., & Hunger, J. M. (2018). The negative and bidirectional effects of weight stigma on health. In B. Major, J. F. Dovidio, & B. G. Link (Eds.), *The Oxford*

handbook of stigma, discrimination, and health (pp. 499–519). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190243470.013.27

- Malloy, J. A., Kazenbroot-Phillips, H., & Roy, R. (2024). Associations Between Body Image, Eating Behaviors, and Diet Quality Among Young Women in New Zealand: The Role of Social Media. *Nutrients*, 16(20), 3517. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu16203517
- Masalu, J. R., & Åstrøm, A. N. (2001). Predicting Intended and Self-perceived Sugar Restriction among Tanzanian Students using the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Journal* of Health Psychology, 6(4), 435–445. https://doi.org/10.1177/135910530100600406
- Masterson, T. D., Brand, J., Lowe, M. R., Metcalf, S. A., Eisenberg, I. W., Emond, J. A., Gilbert-Diamond, D., & Marsch, L. A. (2019). Relationships among dietary cognitive restraint, food preferences, and reaction times. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 2256. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02256
- McCormack, J. C., & Peng, M. (2024). Impacts of COVID-19 on Food Choices and Eating Behavior among New Zealand University Students. *Foods*, 13(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/foods13060889
- Meadows, A., & Higgs, S. (2019). Internalised Weight Stigma Moderates the Impact of a Stigmatising Prime on Eating in the Absence of Hunger in Higher- but Not Lower-Weight Individuals. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 1022. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01022
- Mensah, D. O., & Tuomainen, H. (2024). Eating alone or together: Exploring university students' eating patterns before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Food and Foodways*. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/07409710.2024.2333119
- Mensinger, J. L., & Meadows, A. (2017). Internalized weight stigma mediates and moderates physical activity outcomes during a healthy living program for women with high body mass index. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 30, 64–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2017.01.010
- Monds, L. A., MacCann, C., Mullan, B. A., Wong, C., Todd, J., & Roberts, R. D. (2016). Can personality close the intention-behavior gap for healthy eating? An examination with

the HEXACO personality traits. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 21(7), 845–855. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2015.1112416

- Mouchacca, J., Abbott, G. R., & Ball, K. (2013). Associations between psychological stress, eating, physical activity, sedentary behaviours and body weight among women: A longitudinal study. *BMC Public Health*, 13(1), 828. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-828
- Mullan, B., Allom, V., Brogan, A., Kothe, E., & Todd, J. (2014). Self-regulation and the intention behaviour gap. Exploring dietary behaviours in university students. *Appetite*, 73, 7–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2013.10.010
- Mustillo, S. A., Hendrix, K. L., & Schafer, M. H. (2012). Trajectories of body mass and selfconcept in black and white girls: The lingering effects of stigma. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 53(1), 2–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022146511419205
- Nejad, L. M., Wertheim, E. H., & Greenwood, K. M. (2004). Predicting Dieting Behavior by Using, Modifying, and Extending the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 34(10), 2099–2131. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2004.tb02692.x
- Neumark-Sztainer, D., Levine, M. P., Paxton, S. J., Smolak, L., Piran, N., & Wertheim, E. H. (2006). Prevention of Body Dissatisfaction and Disordered Eating: What Next? *Eating Disorders*, 14(4), 265–285. https://doi.org/10.1080/10640260600796184
- Ng, M., Fleming, T., Robinson, M., Thomson, B., Graetz, N., Margono, C., Mullany, E. C., Biryukov, S., Abbafati, C., Abera, S. F., Abraham, J. P., Abu-Rmeileh, N. M. E., Achoki, T., AlBuhairan, F. S., Alemu, Z. A., Alfonso, R., Ali, M. K., Ali, R., Guzman, N. A., ... Gakidou, E. (2014). Global, regional, and national prevalence of overweight and obesity in children and adults during 1980–2013: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. *The Lancet, 384*(9945), 766–781. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60460-8
- O'Brien, K. S., Latner, J. D., Puhl, R. M., Vartanian, L. R., Giles, C., Griva, K., & Carter, A. (2016). The relationship between weight stigma and eating behavior is explained by

weight bias internalization and psychological distress. *Appetite*, *102*, 70–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.02.032

- Olson, K. L., Goldstein, S. P., Lillis, J., & Panza, E. (2021). Weight stigma is overlooked in commercial-grade mobile applications for weight loss and weight-related behaviors. *Obesity Science & Practice*, 7(2), 244–248. https://doi.org/10.1002/osp4.457
- Pakpour, A. H., Tsai, M.-C., Lin, Y.-C., Strong, C., Latner, J. D., Fung, X. C. C., Lin, C.-Y., & Tsang, H. W. H. (2019). Psychometric properties and measurement invariance of the Weight Self-Stigma Questionnaire and Weight Bias Internalization Scale in children and adolescents. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, *19*(2), 150–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijchp.2019.03.001
- Pearl, R. L., Bach, C., & Wadden, T. A. (2023). Development of a cognitive-behavioral intervention for internalized weight stigma. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy*, 53(2), 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10879-022-09543-w
- Pearl, R. L., Himmelstein, M. S., Puhl, R. M., Wadden, T. A., Wojtanowski, A. C., & Foster, G. D. (2019). Weight bias internalization in a commercial weight management sample:
 Prevalence and correlates. *Obesity Science & Practice*, 5(4), 342–353. https://doi.org/10.1002/osp4.354
- Pearl, R. L., & Puhl, R. M. (2014). Measuring internalized weight attitudes across body weight categories: Validation of the Modified Weight Bias Internalization Scale. *Body Image*, *11*(1), 89–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bodyim.2013.09.005
- Pearl, R. L., & Puhl, R. M. (2018). Weight bias internalization and health: A systematic review. Obesity Reviews, 19(8), 1141–1163. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.12701
- Pearl, R. L., Puhl, R. M., Himmelstein, M. S., Pinto, A. M., & Foster, G. D. (2020). Weight stigma and weight-related health: Associations of self-report measures among adults in weight management. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 54(11), 904–914. https://doi.org/10.1093/abm/kaaa026

- Pearl, R. L., Wadden, T. A., & Jakicic, J. M. (2021). Is weight stigma associated with physical activity? A systematic review. *Obesity*, 29(12), 1994–2012. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.23274
- Pickett, L. L., Ginsburg, H. J., Mendez, R. V., Lim, D. E., Blankenship, K. R., Foster, L. E., Lewis, D. H., Ramon, S. W., Saltis, B. M., & Sheffield, S. B. (2012). Ajzen's Theory of Planned Behavior as it Relates to Eating Disorders and Body Satisfaction. *North American Journal of Psychology*, 14(2), 339–354.
- Plotnikoff, R. C., Lubans, D. R., Costigan, S. A., Trinh, L., Spence, J. C., Downs, S., & McCargar, L. (2011). A test of the Theory of Planned Behavior to explain physical activity in a large population sample of adolescents from Alberta, Canada. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 49(5), 547–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.03.006
- Plows, S. E., Smith, F. D., Smith, J. R., Chapman, C. M., La Macchia, S. T., & Louis, W. R. (2017). Healthy eating: A beneficial role for perceived norm conflict? *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 47(6), 295–304. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12430
- Post, F., Buchta, M., Kemmler, G., Pardeller, S., Frajo-Apor, B., & Hofer, A. (2021). Resilience Predicts Self-Stigma and Stigma Resistance in Stabilized Patients With Bipolar I Disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2021.678807
- Preacher, K. J., & Coffman, D. L. (2006, May). *Computing power and minimum sample size* for RMSEA. http://quantpsy.org/rmsea/rmsea.htm
- Pryor, J. B., & Reeder, G. D. (2011). HIV-related stigma. In J. C. Hall, B. J. Hall, C. J. Cockerell, & M. McKeon (Eds.), *HIV/AIDS in the post-HAART era: Manifestations, treatment, and epidemiology* (pp. 790–806). PMPH-USA.
- Puhl, R. M., & Heuer, C. A. (2009). The stigma of obesity: A review and update. *Obesity*, 17(5), 941–964. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2008.636
- Puhl, R. M., Lessard, L. M., Himmelstein, M. S., & Foster, G. D. (2021). The roles of experienced and internalized weight stigma in healthcare experiences: Perspectives of adults engaged in weight management across six countries. *PLOS ONE*, 16(6), e0251566. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0251566

- Puhl, R. M., Moss-Racusin, C. A., Schwartz, M. B., & Brownell, K. D. (2007). Weight stigmatization and bias reduction: Perspectives of overweight and obese adults. *Health Education Research*, 23(2), 347–358. https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cym052
- Puhl, R. M., Telke, S., Larson, N., Eisenberg, M. E., & Neumark-Stzainer, D. (2020). Experiences of weight stigma and links with self-compassion among a populationbased sample of young adults from diverse ethnic/racial and socio-economic backgrounds. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 134, 110134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.110134
- Rantala, E., Balatsas-Lekkas, A., Sozer, N., & Pennanen, K. (2022). Overview of objective measurement technologies for nutrition research, food-related consumer and marketing research. *Trends in Food Science & Technology*, *125*, 100–113. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tifs.2022.05.006
- Rech, C., Camargo, E., Almeida, M., Bronoski, R., Okuno, N., & Reis, R. (2016). Barriers for physical activity in overweight adults. *Revista Brasileira de Atividade Física & Saúde*, 21(3). https://doi.org/10.12820/rbafs.v.21n3p272-279
- Reichenberger, J., Smyth, J. M., Kuppens, P., & Blechert, J. (2019). "I will fast ... tomorrow": Intentions to restrict eating and actual restriction in daily life and their person-level predictors. *Appetite*, 140, 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2019.04.019
- Reilly, J. J., Methven, E., McDowell, Z. C., Hacking, B., Alexander, D., Stewart, L., & Kelnar,
 C. J. H. (2003). Health consequences of obesity. *Archives of Disease in Childhood*, 88(9), 748–752. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.88.9.748
- Rosseel, Y. (2012). lavaan: An R package for structural equation modeling. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 48(2). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v048.i02
- Saffari, M., Fan, C.-W., Chang, Y.-L., Huang, P.-C., Tung, S. E. H., Poon, W. C., Lin, C.-C., Yang, W.-C., Lin, C.-Y., & Potenza, M. N. (2022). Yale Food Addiction Scale 2.0 (YFAS 2.0) and modified YFAS 2.0 (mYFAS 2.0): Rasch analysis and differential item functioning. *Journal of Eating Disorders*, *10*(1), 185. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40337-022-00708-5

- Salvy, S.-J., Howard, M., Read, M., & Mele, E. (2009). The presence of friends increases food intake in youth. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 90(2), 282–287. https://doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.2009.27658
- Schram, S. J., Olson, K. L., Panza, E., & Lillis, J. (2024). The impact of weight self-stigma on weight-loss treatment engagement and outcome. *Obesity Science & Practice*, 10(6), e70015. https://doi.org/10.1002/osp4.70015
- Schvey, N. A., Puhl, R. M., & Brownell, K. D. (2011). The impact of weight stigma on caloric consumption. *Obesity*, 19(10), 1957–1962. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2011.204
- Schvey, N. A., Puhl, R. M., & Brownell, K. D. (2014). The stress of stigma: Exploring the effect of weight stigma on cortisol reactivity. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 76(2), 156–162. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.000000000000031
- Scott, E. J., Eves, F. F., Hoppé, R., & French, D. P. (2010). Dancing to a different tune: The predictive utility of the theory of planned behaviour when the behaviour is constrained. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, 11(3), 250–257. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychsport.2009.09.007
- Sheffield, J. K., Tse, K. H., & Sofronoff, K. (2005). A comparison of body-image dissatisfaction and eating disturbance among Australian and Hong Kong women. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 13(2), 112–124. https://doi.org/10.1002/erv.641
- Sheynblyum, M., Wadden, T. A., Latner, J. D., & Pearl, R. L. (2024). Longitudinal associations of internalized weight stigma with physical activity and weight loss. *Obesity Science & Practice*, 10(4), e773. https://doi.org/10.1002/osp4.773
- Smith, A. C., Ahuvia, I., Ito, S., & Schleider, J. L. (2023). Project Body Neutrality: Piloting a digital single-session intervention for adolescent body image and depression. *International Journal of Eating Disorders*, 56(8), 1554–1569. https://doi.org/10.1002/eat.23976
- Stewart, T. M. (2018). Why Thinking We're Fat Won't Help Us Improve Our Health: Finding the Middle Ground: Commentary. Obesity, 26(7), 1115–1116. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22241

- Suarez-Lledo, V., & Alvarez-Galvez, J. (2021). Prevalence of Health Misinformation on Social Media: Systematic Review. *Journal of Medical Internet Research*, 23(1), e17187. https://doi.org/10.2196/17187
- Syaifussalam, M. L., Intansari, F., Hanifah, R., Larasati, B. S., Wigati, M., & Wilantika, R. (2024). Reflections of Self: How Social Media Shapes Teen Body Image. *International Journal of Contemporary Sciences (IJCS)*, 1(12), 932–939. https://doi.org/10.55927/ijcs.v1i12.12041
- Sze, K. Y. P., Lee, E. K. P., Chan, R. H. W., & Kim, J. H. (2021). Prevalence of negative emotional eating and its associated psychosocial factors among urban Chinese undergraduates in Hong Kong: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 583. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10531-3
- The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. (2021, March 21). *Government tightens infection control measures for fitness centres*. https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/202103/12/P2021031200016.htm
- The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. (2022a, February 21). Government announces implementation arrangements for Vaccine Pass. https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/202202/21/P2022022100781.htm
- The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. (2022b, February 23).Governmentfurthertightenssocialdistancingmeasures.https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/202202/23/P2022022300760.htm
- The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. (2022c, April 5). *Government further relaxes social distancing measures*. https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/202205/04/P2022050300895.htm
- The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. (2022d, May 1). Government tightens social distancing measures in view of latest epidemic situation. https://www.info.gov.hk/gia/general/202201/05/P2022010500859.htm

- Tomiyama, A. J. (2014). Weight stigma is stressful. A review of evidence for the Cyclic Obesity/Weight-Based Stigma model. Appetite, 82, 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2014.06.108
- Tomiyama, A. J. (2019). Stress and Obesity. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 70(1). https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010418-102936
- Tomiyama, A. J., Carr, D., Granberg, E. M., Major, B., Robinson, E., Sutin, A. R., & Brewis, A. (2018). How and why weight stigma drives the obesity 'epidemic' and harms health. *BMC Medicine*, *16*(1), 123. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-018-1116-5
- Trost, S. G., & O'Neil, M. (2014). Clinical use of objective measures of physical activity. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 48(3), 178–181. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2013-093173
- Turk, M. W., Yang, K., Hravnak, M., Sereika, S. M., Ewing, L. J., & Burke, L. E. (2009).
 Randomized clinical trials of weight loss maintenance: A review. *The Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, 24(1), 58–80.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/01.JCN.0000317471.58048.32
- Ufholz, K., & Werner, J. (2023). The Efficacy of Mobile Applications for Weight Loss. Current Cardiovascular Risk Reports, 17(4), 83–90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12170-023-00717-2
- Vogel, D. L., Bitman, R. L., Hammer, J. H., & Wade, N. G. (2013). Is stigma internalized? The longitudinal impact of public stigma on self-stigma. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60(2), 311–316. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031889
- Wadden, T. A., Butryn, M. L., & Byrne, K. J. (2004). Efficacy of lifestyle modification for long-term weight control. *Obesity Research*, 12(S12), 151S-162S. https://doi.org/10.1038/oby.2004.282
- Wang, J., Yeoh, E. K., Yung, T. K. C., Wong, M. C. S., Dong, D., Chen, X., Chan, M. K. Y., Wong, E. L. Y., Wu, Y., Guo, Z., Wang, Y., Zhao, S., & Chong, K. C. (2021). Change in eating habits and physical activities before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong: A cross-sectional study via random telephone survey. *Journal of the*

International Society of Sports Nutrition, 18(1), 33. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12970-021-00431-7

- Wong, P. C., Hsieh, Y.-P., Ng, H. H., Kong, S. F., Chan, K. L., Au, T. Y. A., Lin, C.-Y., & Fung, X. C. C. (2019). Investigating the self-stigma and quality of life for overweight/obese children in Hong Kong: A preliminary study. *Child Indicators Research*, 12(3), 1065–1082. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12187-018-9573-0
- Wong, P. W. C., Arat, G., Ambrose, M. R., Qiuyuan, K. X., & Borschel, M. (2019). Evaluation of a mental health course for stigma reduction: A pilot study. *Cogent Psychology*, 6(1), 1595877. https://doi.org/10.1080/23311908.2019.1595877
- Wong, S.-C., Au, A. K.-W., Lo, J. Y.-C., Ho, P.-L., Hung, I. F.-N., To, K. K.-W., Yuen, K.-Y., & Cheng, V. C.-C. (2022). Evolution and Control of COVID-19 Epidemic in Hong Kong. *Viruses*, 14(11), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14112519
- Wood, K. V., & Ogden, J. (2014). Predictors of decreased binge eating following laparoscopic adjustable gastric banding using the Health Action Process Approach model. *Psychology, Health & Medicine, 19*(6), 641–649. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2013.869611
- World Health Organization. (2000). *The Asia–Pacific perspective: Redefining obesity and its treatment*. http://www.wpro.who.int/nutrition/documents/docs/Redefiningobesity.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2011). Global recommendations on physical activity for health 18-64 years old. https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/physical-activityrecommendations-18-64years.pdf
- World Health Organization. (2020a, January 4). *Obesity and overweight*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight
- World Health Organization. (2020b, April 29). *Healthy diet*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/healthy-diet
- Wu, C.-H., Lin, C.-Y., Hsieh, Y.-P., Strong, C., Meshki, C., Lin, Y.-C., & Tsai, M.-C. (2019).Dietary behaviors mediate the association between food insecurity and obesity among

socioeconomically disadvantaged youth. *Appetite*, *132*, 275–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2018.10.013

- Xie, Y. J., Ho, S. C., Su, X., & Liu, Z. (2016). Changes in body weight from young adulthood to middle age and its association with blood pressure and hypertension: A crosssectional study in Hong Kong Chinese women. *Journal of the American Heart Association*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.115.002361
- Zhao, Q., Huangfu, C., Li, J., Liu, H., & Tang, N. (2022). Psychological Resilience as the Mediating Factor Between Stigma and Social Avoidance and Distress of Infertility Patients in China: A Structural Equation Modeling Analysis. *Psychology Research and Behavior Management*, 15, 391–403. https://doi.org/10.2147/PRBM.S354803
- Zigmond, A. S., & Snaith, R. P. (1983). The Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 67(6), 361–370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0447.1983.tb09716.x